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Corporate Introduction
N B

(- A

stablished in 1993, Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited (“Kingdee International” or “Kingdee”) is listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 0268.HK) and headquartered in Shenzhen, China, and has become a leader in the international market and the best
player in China’'s market as a management cloud SaaS vendor. Adhering to the core values of “Acting in all Conscience, with Integrity and Righteousness”,
the Company is committed to helping businesses achieve their growth targets through dedicated services. It strives to provide clients with the most trusted
enterprise service platform.

According to IDC, Kingdee ranks the first in the China’s market of SaaS ERM (Enterprise Resource Management Cloud Service) and maintains the greatest
market share in the fields of SaaS EA (Enterprise Application Software Cloud Services) and Finance Cloud. Meanwhile, Kingdee is the only China-based
player that remains among the world’s top ten High Productivity aPaaS Vendors rated by Gartner for 2021 and ranks the first in this field in China’s market,
and the only China-based vendor that is included in IDC’s Asia/Pacific Manufacturing ERP SaaS MarketScape for 2021, as a Contender. Further, Kingdee is
the only SaaS service vendor recognized as a leader in both industry empowerment value and technology service capability in the CAICT's “Double Curve and
Double Quadrant for Enterprise Digital Transformation Development (2022 Edition)”. Attaching great importance to user privacy and data security, Kingdee
has obtained the “grand slam” of security and privacy certifications, including 1S027001, 1IS027701, Grade Il Protection of Information Security, Cloud
Security Alliance CSA-STAR.

Kingdee’'s major cloud service products have been selected by industry lighthouse customers, including Kingdee Cloud Cosmic (new-generation packageable
enterprise-grade PaaS platform), Kingdee Cloud Constellation (large enterprise SaaS management solution), Kingdee Cloud Galaxy (high-growth enterprise
SaaS management solution), Kingdee Cloud Stellar (small and micro enterprise SaaS management solution). Kingdee has provided management software
and cloud services for more than 7.4 million enterprises, governments and organizations across the world.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LAFEH

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Xu Shao Chun, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Lin Bo, Chief Financial Officer

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Dong Ming Zhu
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang

Ms. Katherine Rong Xin

Mr. Bo Lian Ming

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Mr. Lin Bo

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang (Chairman)
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle

Mr. Bo Lian Ming

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Bo Lian Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Shao Chun

Ms. Katherine Rong Xin

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman)

Ms. Katherine Rong Xin

Mr. Bo Lian Ming

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND STRATEGY COMMITTEE
Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman)

Mr. Lin Bo

Ms. Dong Ming Zhu

Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Xu Shao Chun
Mr. Lin Bo

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building

Central, Hong Kong

PTES
BOBRE  BERERRERNTE
WRSEE - HREMEE

FHITES
EFHRKRL T
Gary Clark Biddlet 4

WIUFRITES
BB RE
Katherine Rong XinZz &=
SEERR LA

HEMEE
MO S

LRME
WX F S

ERERE
BB E(ER)
Gary Clark Biddlet 4
SEERR LA

FERY
SEEAR LA (EE)
mAbERE

Katherine Rong XinZz &=

REERE®
OB RE(ERE)
Katherine Rong XinZz &=
SEER LA

EREGRBEERE
BOBERE(ER)

RS

ERAKLT

RS54

BiE =
L S
PR SEE

4 L]

BERGKBE TS
e Etan
ERITNEIlFas Lt 2 il
EBPIR
AKFREZ+Z

2 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited  Annual Report 2022



CORPORATE INFORMATION
LFEH

LEGAL COUNSEL
Hong Kong:

CFN Lawyers

27/F, Neich Tower

128 Gloucester Road
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Cayman Islands:

Conyers Dill & Pearman
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL BANKS

PRC:

China Merchants Bank

Bank of China

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Bank of Communications

Ping An Bank

China Minsheng Bank

China CITIC Bank

Hong Kong:
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC
Kingdee Software Park

No.2 Kejinan 12 Road

South District

Hi-Tech Industrial Park

Nanshan District

Shenzhen Guangdong Province

The PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
25A, United Centre, 95 Queensway
Admiralty, Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www .kingdee.com
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LFEH

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

17M Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

PUBLIC RELATIONS

Wonderful Sky Financial Group Holdings Limited
9/F, The Center

99 Queen's Road Central, Central,

Hong Kong

MAIN BOARD STOCK CODE
268
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MEwE

Year ended 31 December

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ot Jonbent -3 —E-fF bt S 23 —E-NEF —EN\E
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT NSO AREFTT AREFT
Revenue EEB 4,865,769 4174747 3,396,445 3,325,590 2,808,658
(Loss)/profit attributable to AN FJ4EZS
owners B ANERS (8B,
of the Company & (389,158) (302,330) (335,479) 372,580 412,106
Dividends per share BRERE - - - HKD& & 401,29 HKDA& #4119
(Losses)fearnings per share &% (518) /&7
- basic -ER RMBAR#(11.31)% RMBARM(9.23)5 RMBARM(10.125 RMBARM11525  RMBARM1319%
—(iluted -1 RMBAR#(11.31)% RMBARM(9.23)5 RMBARK(10.125 RMBARM1125  RMBARM1245
(Losses)/earnings Per Share - Basic Return on Equity
BR(ER) 27 -&% BREKRE
RMB %
ARESD Bt
13.19 74

11.52

2018

2019

2021

2022

(9.23)

(10.12) (1131)

2020

T CFFR

2021

THRERRGEERERLF

(5.1)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBHE

Revenue
Exa

RMB'000
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4174147

3,325,590 3,356,445
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2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

(Loss)/profit Attributable to Owners of the Company
FLARRESHRFARK(ER) 27

RMB'000
ARETT

412,106 372 580

2020 2021 2022

2018 2019
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Operating (Loss)/profit
B (FR) 29

RMB'000
ARETT

2020

2021 2022

2018 2019

(415,353) (466,900)

(587,344)

Net Cash Generated from Operating Activities
RETDEENRNSE

RMB000
ARBTT

962,927
905,515

660,563

473,017
374,437

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFERFER

Year ended 31 December

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—e—f T —T-TF “T-hFE “TNF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRE AREBTIT ARBTT AREFTT ARETE
Revenue e 4,865,769 4174147 3,356,445 3,325,590 2,808,658
(Loss)/profit before income tax HBRET1S AT
(&18), /&7 (474,218) (382,145) (382,739) 396,131 448,030
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(E1ER), BH (452,404) (338,355) (341,695) 365,798 409,270
Assets HE
Non-current assets EREEE 7,747,491 6,615,945 4,538,665 4,178,706 4,419,040
Current assets REEE 3,983,946 4471187 6,183,414 4241 447 3,159,513
Total assets BEE 11,731,437 11,087,132 10,722,079 8,420,153 7,578,553
Equity and liabilities EaRAR
Equity attributable to owners of RARE=FAA
the Company (LR 7,265,353 7,596,492 7,789,631 5,986,928 5,466,060
Non-controlling interests DEMEE 142,230 206,647 168,846 158,743 66,607
Total equity B 7,407,583 7,803,139 7,958,477 6,145,671 5,532,667
Non-current liabilities EREAE 558,171 200,310 165,013 276,389 179,319
Current liabilities MEAE 3,765,683 3,083,683 2,598,589 1,998,093 1,866,567
Total liabilities BwafE 4,323,854 3,283,993 2,763,602 2,274,482 2,045,886
Total equity and liabilities BEZREE 11,731,437 11,087,132 10,722,079 8,420,153 7,578,553
TR SRERBRUtEEERAT T



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHRE

Over the past thirty years, Kingdee has gradually developed into
a global leading and China’'s No.1 enterprise management cloud
SaaS company, supporting Chinese enterprises to become world- \
class. Kingdee will be committed to the Philosophy of “Customer- ! _ »
centered, Long-term Adherence to Professionalism; Strivers-
oriented, Long-term Adherence to Pure and Visionary Mind.” ; ™
Kingdee will continue to insist on better product, better ecosystem, :
better implementation, better service and better reputation. Kingdee
will bring digitalization to China enterprises to support their high-
quality development and establish the strong driver of digital
economy.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

Review:

2022 marked the crucial year of Kingdee’s Three-year Strategy, a year of great
significance. Witnessing the repeated COVID-19 pandemic and major changes unfolding
in our world, something unseen in a century, we steadily pursued the goal of “Creating
another Kingdee with cloud subscription model” and have taken major steps: In the large
enterprise market, we made significant breakthroughs in capturing high-end market
with central state-owned enterprises and the world’s top 500 enterprises. In the medium
enterprise market, we enhanced our strength in the integrated solution of R&D, production,
supply chain and sales. In the SME market, we seized the market with integrated finance
and tax products. The Group's cloud service revenue achieved a high-quality growth
of 34.6% to RMB3,714 million, accounting for 76.3% of total revenue. Kingdee Cloud
subscription ARR (annual recurring revenue) amounted to approximately RMB2.14 billion,
representing year-on-year growth of 36.3%. Kingdee Cloud maintained industry leading
dollar retention ratios across major products.

2022 marked the breakthrough year of Kingdee’s domestic substitution
business, a year of remarkable achievements. The State proposed to accelerate building
self-reliance and strength in science and technology, and acted with resolve to make
breakthroughs in core technologies in key fields. Kingdee, as a leader in domestic software
industry, made significant progress in “key areas and stranglehold problems” with the “one
rocket and various satellites” product strategy. Kingdee empowered enterprises to build
world-class capabilities, as the driver to promote technology innovations. Kingdee Cloud
Cosmic and Kingdee Cloud Constellation signed major SOEs and Top 500 enterprises
including Shandong Heavy Industry, Shanxi State-owned Capital Operation, Tongwei,
China Genertec, Nonfemet, China Minmetals Nonferrous Metals, Hunan Nonferrous
Metals, Shaanxi Automobile and Geely Holding, and supported 154 large enterprises
cumulatively to complete domestic substitution.

2022 marked the progressive year of Kingdee winning industry and user
reputation, a year of wide recognitions. Kingdee was the only Chinese vendor ranked
top 10 in Gartner's High Productivity aPaaS for two consecutive years, and ranked No.1
in China market. According to IDC, Kingdee also seized the No.1 place in China's SaaS
ERM (Enterprise Resource Management Cloud), Financial Cloud, EPM Cloud (Enterprise
Performance Management). Kingdee was recognized as the only leading SaaS vendor
in terms of industry value addition and technology service capabilities by the Hyperbola
and Dual Quadrants of Enterprises’ Digital Transformation (2022) published by the China
Academy of Information and Communications Technology (CAICT). IDC MarketScape
recognised Kingdee as a leader of China’'s market of digital plant solutions, also the only
SaaS management cloud vendor in the leader quadrant. Kingdee has been the No.1 vendor
in market share of China growth enterprise application software for eighteen consecutive
years, according to IDC. Furthermore, Kingdee's “Customer-centered” philosophy has been
embraced by the industry and customers. Xu Shaochun WeChat Public Account received
more than 460 letters of recognition while the number of service complaints reduced by
66%. Kingdee made continuous breakthrough in the high-end market and established the
brand of Xinchuang, and endorsed by over 1,000 template growth enterprises. Increasing
number of customers have become Kingdee’s loyal “Changemakers”. Despite of COVID-19
pandemic, the dollar retention ratio of Kingdee Cloud Cosmic and Kingdee Cloud
Constellation continued to exceed 110%, and the dollar retention ratio of Kingdee Cloud
Galaxy maintained at the high level of 97.2% and Kingdee Cloud Stellar reached 77.3%.

2022 REMSEMBHBBZE - 15— - S5
Ao EEERED - EEEARBHAMD RSB
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i EETEEEISE8EEN6%EARE. 14
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(ARR)# B A REE21 4B » RILLIBR36.3% @ EaIHE
BRI o

2022 ) BEKEECERHRBZIE - 5—F  KAE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
E R

Outlook:

2023 will be the conclusion year of Kingdee’s Three-year Strategy. EBC has
become the foundation of enterprises to reshape competitiveness in the digital economy
era. Kingdee will remain focusing on the core strategy of “Platform + Finance & HR & Tax
+ Ecosystem”: Kingdee will continue to breakthrough in the SOE and Top-500 enterprise
market with HR, Finance and Tax products, establishing reputation in high-end enterprise
market. Kingdee will expand the leadership in the field of manufacturing and production,
and create the second wave of growth with Galaxy Ultra in the medium enterprise market.
Kingdee will stay focused on the integrated business, finance and tax solution in the SME
enterprise market, and achieve great results with ecosystem partners.

2023 will be the year of Kingdee’s 30th anniversary and embarking on a new
journey, and the year of extraordinary and witnessing history. When the seas
are in turmoil, heroes are on their mettle. When the winds are high and waves are pressing,
pilar of strength are in the rise. Qver the past thirty years, Kingdee has gradually developed
into a global leading and China’s No.1 enterprise management cloud SaaS company,
supporting Chinese enterprises to become world-class. Kingdee will be committed to the
Philosophy of “Customer-centered, Long-term Adherence to Professionalism; Strivers-
oriented, Long-term Adherence to Pure and Visionary Mind.” Kingdee will continue to
insist on better product, better ecosystem, better implementation, better service and better
reputation. Kingdee will bring digitalization to China enterprises to support their high-
quality development and establish the strong driver of digital economy.

Acknowledgement:

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to extend our sincere gratitude to all
Kingdee customers, shareholders and all investors for your confidence and support.
Meanwhile, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all Kingdee employees for
keeping the heart and the conscience, and for their unwavering innovation and hard work
to promote the high-quality development of Chinese enterprises.

10 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

2023 ' BRRZFHMBMHOMEZE - BCOALE
EFRERRELHEFEZNEL - RSEE
BRENFE+ AT+ AR OB - RBBETISIA
HR - 8175 - WA B 5 A R AR B (R FN50058 7735
BUSHOME  hRAETISEARERLES A
ETEEMRITERE ZHERR ML ETISESE
REEMTH 8L - RIWERTS -

20235 > ERF=TEBHEN—F > EEETFER
MABERN—F - AR TBRAELRE - AR
SE R PIRIEAE o BENFRE - eRBEIHER/EIR
BE - HEE-NELEEEESASAR - BAPEE
EMREAHR R - RPISBERRARTP BT
O REBFEETSR  UEMERL  REBEH
DFOINSHES  BEERFBHNER BN
AR BN - BHFRRE - B0 - AR
FHEPTECESEERR - HARRUFEEDN
SREIEDRE |

B -

HEMAAZRRESE - AERIMET, - BERIA
LRI REEGTRMANGEES S - A - hEH
B 2R RRCHKRFIOMREA - BRETH
BIFrEREN  #BPRCXERSLEHRE -

Annual Report 2022



BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
RIGEIERE RE

1.

Financial Results

In 2022, the Group continued to push forward the cloud subscription transition,
and realized 34.6% year-on-year (yoy) growth in cloud services revenue which
contributed approximately 76.3% of the Group revenue. Annual Recurring Revenue
(ARR) of Kingdee Cloud subscription service reached approximately RMB2.14
billion, an increase of 36.3% yoy. Contract liabilities related to cloud subscription
achieved growth of 38.3% yoy.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded total revenue of
approximately RMB4,865,769,000, representing an increase of approximately
16.6% as compared to the same period in 2021 (2021: RMB4,174,147,000).
Revenue from the ERP and other businesses decreased 18.7% yoy.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, loss attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately RMB389,158,000 (2021: a loss of approximately
RMB302,330,000 attributable to owners of the Company). The loss expansion was
mainly due to the continued investment in the R&D of cloud products particularly
Kingdee Cloud Constellation and HR SaaS, as well as disruptions on part of
marketing and implementation activities due to the continued COVID-19 pandemic.

Basic losses per share attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately RMB11.31 cents. (2021: basic loss per share of approximately
RMB9.23 cents).

Net cash flow from operating activities of the Company was approximately
RMB374,437,000 (2021: net cash flow of approximately RMB660,563,000).

Strategy Review

Kingdee unswervingly implements the “Platform + Finance & HR & Tax +
Ecosystem” strategy, commits to “wholeheartedly serve enterprises and enlighten
every enterprise” as a core mission and “the most trustworthy enterprise service
platform” as a key target. Kingdee pursues to build the Enterprise Business
Capability (hereinafter referred to as "EBC") and packageable business capabilities
for all enterprises.

The Group's key strategic initiatives include:

(1)  Platform: Kingdee Cloud Cosmic PaaS platform is built on the cloud-
native architecture and core technology of Kingdee Dynamic Domain
Model (KDDM). Cosmic has been constantly strengthened on low-code
development, system integration, data analytics, main data management,
process management and RPA (Robotic Process Automation). With its
integrated low-code packageable platform, Cosmic is poised to lay the
technology foundation for enterprise business capabilities, releasing
development capabilities and fast-response capabilities in ever-changing
market demand.

LFIMERR

R F AEERERESITRRBERS
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
REOBERRZE
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(2) Finance & HR & Tax + Ecosystem: Kingdee adopts to the “One
Rocket, Multiple Satellites” product strategy. Based on Kingdee Cloud
Cosmic platform, Kingdee has been building leading edge and constantly
upgrading SaaS applications and solutions. Kingdee also targets to build
an ecosystem in accordance to mutual respect, mutual interest and mutual
development. In addition, Kingdee aims to resolve issues in a new era of
enterprise management, jointly with various partners in consulting, product
ISV, implementation and development, channel and services.

(3) Implementation: Kingdee carries forward the cloud subscription service
transition, with focusing on products and reforming implementation
business and partnership in the age of cloud. Kingdee targets to combine
partner direct implementation as well as remote implementation, and
introduces strategic implementation partners, in order to deliver highly
efficient and high-quality digitalized implementation services.

(4) Customer Success: Kingdee constantly implement “wholeheartedly
serve enterprises” as a core mission. Based on Kingdee customer success
methodologies, Kingdee offers a new-generation of customer lifecycle
experience improvement, and enable customers and their staff to “success,
grow, accomplish”.

Group Business Review

As a global leading and China’s No.1 enterprise management cloud SaaS
company, Kingdee has constantly achieved major breakthroughs in cloud service
field in thirty years of development. Kingdee has been well recognized by renowned
domestic and foreign research institutions, including: 1) the only Chinese vendor
ranked as global top 10 in Gartner’s High Productivity aPaaS platform for two
consecutive years and No.1 in China; 2) the No.1 in IDC 2022 H1 SaaS ERM
(Enterprise Resource Management Cloud), Finance Cloud and EPM (Enterprise
Performance Management Cloud) China market; 3) the only SaaS service vendor
recognized as a leader in both industry empowerment value and technology service
capability in the CAICT’s “Double Curve and Double Quadrant for Enterprise Digital
Transformation Development (2022 Edition)”; 4) the only SaaS management
cloud vendor ranked as the market leader of digital factory solutions in China by
IDC MarketScape; 5) the No.1 vendor in market share of China growth enterprise
application software for eighteen consecutive years, according to IDC.
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Cloud service business

During the reporting period, Kingdee pushed forward to deepen the cloud
subscription transition, and established “One Rocket, Multiple Satellites” product
matrix for different market segments. Cloud services business maintained rapid
growth, with revenue increased to RMB3,714,093,000 from RMB2,758,422,000 for
the same period in 2021, representing an increase of approximately 34.6% yoy and
accounting for approximately 76.3% of the revenue.

Continued breaking through in SOE and Top-500 enterprise market,
winning the high-end market

With five years of building and refining, Kingdee Cloud Cosmic and Constellation’s
domestic substitution solutions have become increasingly mature, being capable
of supporting all-around substitutions as well as a new choice of major Top 500
enterprises. Based on enterprise-grade cloud native architecture, packageable
design and Kingdee’s proprietary dynamic domain models (KDDM), Kingdee Cloud
Cosmic could enable enterprises rapidly building up digital technology capabilities
that contained steady performance, highly reliable and reliance, fast reacting and
self-control. Kingdee Cloud Cosmic always unswervingly developing with self-
built innovation, being adaptable to major Xinchuang systems including CEC,
CETC and Huawei, as well as major Xinchuang vendors including China Telecom
Tianyi Cloud, Huawei Cloud, Ali Cloud, Tencent Cloud, Unicom Cloud, Phytium,
Kunpeng, KylinOS, UnionTech, Dameng and Kingbase. In addition, Cosmic has
launched intelligent technology application on super automation (RPA), operation
forecast and smart analytics scenarios. Cosmic also introduced digital employee
based on deep fusion of RPA, Al and Big Data technologies. Kingdee has applied
over 260 patents cumulatively and won five nation-level awards. Kingdee also
joined the first batch of packageable application promotion center organized by
CAICT.

During the reporting period, Kingdee Cloud Constellation continued to expand
its product coverage and offerings. Constellation HR Cloud released its Core
HR module, offering intelligent, global and packageable applications for China’s
large and mega-size enterprises, pushing forward HR digitalization in China.
Based on the experiences and best practices of central SOEs including China
Merchants Group, China Information Communication Technologies Group,
TravelSky Technology as well as Fortune 500 companies like ITG Holdings and
Sha Steel Group, Constellation Financial Cloud released major product of Treasury
Management with a series of new features and functions, which covered all aspects
of Treasury Management as requested by SASAC. This module can achieve visible,
well-controlled, transferable and efficient treasury management. Constellation EPM
has been successfully implemented in major Top 500 enterprises like Zhejiang
Communications Investment Group, and received the first batch of certifications on
standard financial consolidation reporting and EPM business finance integration
according to CAICT.
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During the reporting period, Kingdee Cloud Cosmic and Kingdee Cloud
Constellation recorded approximately RMB696 million in revenue, an increase
of 80.9% yoy. Dollar retention also exceeded 110%. Cosmic and Constellation
together signed 902 customers during the period, including 478 new customers
and major template customers including Shandong Heavy Industry, China
Genertee, China Minmetals Nonferrous, Nonfemet, Hunan Nonferrous Metals,
Shanxi Automobile, Tongwei, Guangdong Travel Holdings, Shanxi State-owned
Capital Operation and Geely Holding. Kingdee continuously built best practices
around SOE domestic substitution, world-class enterprise management and
digital-governance upgrade. Kingdee has cumulatively supported 154 major large
enterprises to complete domestic substitution.

Strengthened the leading edge of R&D-production-supply chain-sales
integrated solution, solidifying competitive strength in the medium-
size enterprise market

Kingdee Cloud Galaxy continued to expand the leading edge of cloud services
in all fields of finance, research and development, supply chain, production and
sales. Galaxy was strengthened in product innovation and customer best practice
in different industry verticals such as high-tech, manufacturing, life sciences,
food, wholesale and retail, and catering, further enhanced its competitiveness in
the medium-size enterprise market. During the reporting period, Kingdee Cloud
Galaxy extracted and released eight profit-making finance and tax solutions. Galaxy
launched intelligent manufacturing total solution and manufacturing operation
management (MOM) innovative solutions, which have been applied to multiple
major customers. Galaxy was selected into the leader quadrant of IDC’s China
digital factory service providers. Galaxy's intelligent data service introduced
business target analytical platform prebuilt with over 20 analytical models and 70
target analytics, enabling precise business forecast, risk management and insight
analysis. Furthermore, Kingdee Cloud Galaxy Ultra was launched during the
reporting period offering four major packageable capabilities, to satisfy multiple
perspective of growth demand such as application, technology, data and ecosystem
for leading enterprises.

During the reporting period, Kingdee Cloud Galaxy achieved revenue of
approximately RMB1,679 million, an increase of 18.4% yoy. The ARR of Galaxy
cloud subscription service expanded by 31.2% yoy. Dollar retention ratio was
97.2%. Galaxy’s customer base reached 31,000. During the reporting period,
Kingdee Cloud Galaxy signed nearly one thousand enterprises that use special
and sophisticated technologies on national and provincial level. Newly signed
customers include Dong Fang Zhen Xuan, Zhoushan Boeing, Zhengzhou Kaixue
Cold Chain, Changfeng Kewei Photo-Electronic, Zhejiang Yongjin Metal, Rayhoo
Motor Dies, Yamaxi Electronics, Hangzhou Foresee Group, Aotecar New Energy,
etc.
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Built new Saa$ ecosystem around small and micro enterprises,
seizing the market of business-finance-tax integration

Kingdee Cloud Stellar focused on the integration of business, finance and tax and
widely connected with ecosystem partners, to build an open, diverse and mutual
win ecosystem for SME enterprises. The goal was to provide risk resistance,
management system and resource allocation capabilities for SMEs. Kingdee
Cloud Stellar was deeply integrated with enterprise WeCom and Dingtalk in
mobile office collaboration, and interconnected with eight banks, including China
Merchants Bank; Kingdee provided solutions in 15 business areas, including
customer relationship, e-commerce management and project management, and
jointly launched special solutions for eight industries, including food, apparel and
medicine, with ecological partners. Through continuous product innovations and
Saa$S ecological breakthroughs, Kingdee further increased its market share in the
SME cloud service market.

During the reporting period, the SME financial cloud services revenue rapidly
grew by approximately 63.1% yoy. Kingdee Cloud Stellar’s revenue increased by
approximately 358.6% yoy and the dollar retention ratio was 77.3%.

Deepened collaborations with strategic partners, expediting the
expansion of Kingdee ecosystem

During the reporting period, Kingdee continued to develop its ecosystem, by
reaching strategic cooperation with more than ten major partners, including
Deloitte, Ernst & Young, Golden, ShineWing, Hand Enterprise, and JGDT, as well
as further developing the partnership with KPMG, iSoftStone, and ChinaSoft for
the large enterprise market. In addition, Kingdee strengthened the synergy with
major technology companies such as Huawei, Alibaba, Tencent, Intel, and Amazon
AWS, co-building multiple industry vertical solutions. Kingdee also established
strategic partnerships with Huawei Kunpeng, CEC PKS, CETC WE ecosystems.
Kingdee Cloud Cosmic platform has achieved fully adaptive to Xinchuang and
self-controlled innovative technologies, including operating system, database,
middleware and application development. Thanks to Kingdee Cloud Cosmic’s
outstanding performance in Xinchuang and ecosystem initiatives, Kingdee was
awarded the “2022 China Xinchuang Ecosystem Leader Award”.

As of the Reporting Period, more than 1,500 ISV partners have joined Kingdee
gcosystem, among which 120 ISV partners have built product solutions based
on the Kingdee Cloud Cosmic platform, covering 13 major industries including
intelligent manufacturing, transportation and logistics, wholesale and retail,
finance, life science, construction and real estate, public services, education,
modern agriculture and livestock, and government and public utilities, which
connects the business chain of “R&D — production — supply chain — sales —
services” of enterprises.
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Concentrated on leading edge industry verticals, empowering high-
quality digitalized development

During the reporting period, Kingdee continued to focus on its leading edge
industry vertical, to empower high-quality digitalized development across verticals.
In the metallurgical industry, Kingdee signed contracts with new and existing
customers such as Jingye Iron and Steel, China Minmetals Nonferrous Metals and
Yongjin Metal, and provided integrated solutions and services to enterprises in the
metallurgical industry together with partners such as Deloitte. In the construction
and real estate industry, Kingdee jointly with Das Intellitech and Wisdom Builds
More built a new benchmark for the digitalization of new infrastructure, and
reached industry collaboration agreement with several major players, including
Poly Property, Xinxing Asset and Binjiang Investment Development Group. In
the property management industry, Wojia Cloud covered 280 cities nationwide
and signed contracts with customers such as CIGI, China Merchants Property
Management Daojiahui and Yuexiu Services. Kingdee Apusic continued to
strengthen its core competence and actively participated in the formulation of
national technical standards. Kingdee Apusic took a leading role in compiling
and publishing two national standards for cloud computing technology, namely
“Cloud Native Middleware Maturity Model” and “Technical Requirements for Cloud
Computing and Cloud Development in Information Technology”. Kingdee Apusic
was also selected into the fourth batch of national “little giants” that use special
and sophisticated technologies. Kingdee Credit Technology’s “Jingwei Cloud”
enterprise credit cloud service platform was upgraded and launched to provide
more intelligent risk control and digital loan risk control cloud services to partner
banks.

Pushed forward customer lifecycle experience improvement through
“Xu Shaochun WeChat Public Account”

Pioneering with the Xu Shaochun WeChat Public Account in enterprise service
industry, Kingdee established the culture of “wholeheartedly serving enterprise
customers”, throughout the entire customer lifecycle. In 2022, Xu Shaochun
WeChat Public Account received over 460 letters of commendation and service
complaints down by 66% yoy, and continued to optimize the service procedures.
This improvement enabled R&D team receiving direct feedbacks from customers,
further pushing forward product enhancement. Meanwhile, Kingdee customer
success has efficiently supported nationwide business branches and offices to
gstablish own customer success organization, with standard, systematic and digital
tools. Kingdee carried forward innovation and reform in customer success services,
which has significantly improved service response efficiency and customer
satisfaction rate. Kingdee also made effort to position Kingdee Cloud community
as online service platform, enabling users self-service or mutually solve issues.
Going forward, Kingdee would continue to improve customer success system for
gvery customer engagement and customer lifecycle experience.

ERP Business and others
During the reporting period, revenue from the ERP business and others decreased

by approximately 18.7% yoy, from RMB1,415,725,000 in the same period last year
to approximately RMB1,151,676,000.
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Investment Property Business

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had investment properties amounting to
approximately RMB1,734,079,000 in total (31 December 2021: RMB1,538,286,000).
During the reporting period, the Group fully used and leased parts of software
parks of Beijing Kingdee, Shanghai Kingdee and Shenzhen Kingdee. As a result,
the Group generated rental income of approximately RMB70,187,000 during the
current period (2021: RMB72,016,000). The decrease in rental income was due to

the increase in the self-use area of the properties.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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1. Major Financial Information 1.
Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded total revenue of
RMB4,865,769,000, representing a year-on-year growth of 16.6% (2021:
RMB4,174,147,000). Revenue from the Cloud Services increased by 34.6% yoy to
RMB3,714,093,000 (2021: RMB2,758,422,000). Revenue from the ERP business
and others amounted to RMB1,151,676,000 (2021: RMB1,415,725,000), a year-
on-year decrease of 18.7%.

FEMERA
ExE

BE-_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HIFE &%
BER1S 482 258 A R #4,865,769,0000T © AL g
K166%(ZZFT=—F[RH : ARME4,174,147,000
JL) ° REERBWARLLIZERIL6%E AR
#3,714,093,000c (=T =—F R : AR
2,758,422,0007T) » SEERE RS R EAD
R A B AR 151,676,000 (ZF ——F [
8 AR®1,415725,0007T) © B TR&18.7% ©

2022 2021
= —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT AREETTT
Cloud services business ERRIGFE 3,714,093 2,758,422
— Enterprise cloud services —EERG 2,576,130 1,901,575
— Small & micro business finance cloud services — /N TS E AR TS 861,046 527,969
— Industry cloud services —(TEZERB 276,917 328,878
ERP business and others EBREIRFT BB R E M 1,151,676 1,415,725
— Sales of software and hardware products —HERHREHER 286,260 472,212
— Software implementation services —RHE RS 402,391 422,624

— Software solution, consulting, maintenance, upgrade — &R T2 « 243 - B4
and other supporting services T+ R EAth S F5 AR 463,025 520,889
4,865,769 4174147

The above-mentioned increase in revenue from cloud services business was
mainly attributable to the increase of subscription service revenue of Kingdee
Cloud products.
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Gross Profit

The Group recorded gross profit of approximately RMB2,997,633,000 (2021:
RMB2,633,572,000), a year-on-year increase of approximately 13.8%. The gross
profit margin decreased by 1.5 percentage points yoy to approximately 61.6%
(2021: approximately 63.1%). The decrease was mainly due to the year-on-
year increase in implementation labour costs of benchmark projects in the large
enterprise market.

Selling and marketing expenses

During the Reporting Period, selling and marketing expenses totaled approximately
RMB2,026,584,000 (2021: RMB1,741,354,000), representing an increase of
16.4% yoy. Selling and marketing expenses as a percentage of total revenue
decreased from 41.7% in 2021 to 41.6% in 2022.

Administrative expenses

During the Reporting Period, administrative expenses totaled approximately
RMB503,857,000, representing a yoy increase of 8.2% (2021: RMB465,726,000).
Administrative expenses as a percentage of total revenue decreased from 11.2% in
2021 t0 10.4% in 2022.

Research and development expenses

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to focus on “Platform + Financial
& HR & Tax + Ecosystem” strategy, and increased R&D investment in Kingdee
Cloud Cosmic and Kingdee Cloud Constellation. Total research and development
costs were approximately RMB1,458,246,000, representing an increase of 15.7%
yoy (2021: RMB1,260,069,000), of which, the R&D capitalization rate dropped to
33.0% (2021: 33.6%), the capitalized amount was RMB480,508,000, increased
by approximately 13.4% yoy (2021: RMB423,913,000). Amortisation of research
and development costs during the Reporting Period was RMB317,738,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 8.8% yoy (2021: RMB348,388,000).
Research and development expenses recognised in the consolidated income
statement was RMB1,295,476,000, increased by approximately 9.4% yoy (2021:
RMB1,184,544,000). Research and development expenses as a percentage of total
revenue decreased from 28.4% in 2021 to 26.6% in 2022.

Other income and gains - net

During the Reporting Period, other income and gains-net was RMB348,988,000,
representing a decrease of 4.6% yoy (2021: RMB365,831,000).
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Operating loss

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded an operating loss
of approximately RMB587,344,000 (2021: operating loss of approximately
RMB466,900,000), due to the Group pushed forward the cloud subscription
business, and increased the R&D investment in Kingdee Cloud Constellation and
HR SaaS products. Cloud services segment’s operating loss was approximately
RMB561,062,000, representing a decrease of approximately 19.3% yoy (2021:
loss of approximately RMB695,099,000). ERP business and others segment’s
operating loss was approximately RMB80,882,000 (2021: profit of approximately
RMB152,124,000). Investment properties segment’s operating profit declined
approximately 28.2% yoy to approximately RMB54,600,000 (2021: approximately
RMB76,075,000), due to increased self-use floor space.

Finance income - net

During the Reporting Period, the finance income — net amounted to approximately
RMB100,276,000. In the same period of 2021, the finance income — net was
amounted to approximately RMB76,436,000, mainly due to the increase in finance
income during the Reporting Period.

Income tax credit

During the Reporting Period, the income tax credit amounted to approximately
RMB21,814,000 (2021: the income tax credit amounted to approximately
RMB43,790,000).

Loss and losses per share

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the current loss attributable to owners of
the Company was approximately RMB389,158,000 (2021: loss of approximately
RMB302,330,000). Net loss margin attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately 8.0% (2021: net loss margin of approximately 7.2%). Basic losses
per share was approximately RMB11.31 cents (2021 basic losses per share of
approximately RMB9.23 cents).
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Financial assets and derivative instruments at fair value through DAREEHELESHHABENEMNS
profit or loss ERTESMTIA
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s financial assets and derivative HE-Z-_—_F+-A=+—8 ' A£BUQ
instruments at fair value through profit or loss amounted to approximately AREEFAEAEZHTABRENESRHEERIT
RMB997,419,000, representing a decrease of approximately RMB710,274,000 e TELOAAREI 419,000 - MZF
as compared with 31 December 2021, including the non-current portion of ——F+ZA=+—HRP ARET10,274,000
approximately RMB931,164,000 (2021: approximately RMB957,883,000) and TT - BIEIERENEL S 49 AR #E931,164,0007T (=
the current portion of approximately RMB66,255,000 (2021: approximately T —F : #HH AR¥957,883,0007T) KRB EB
RMB749,810,000). #NREEB6,255,000 L (— T - —F  HAREK
749,810,0007T)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss included the following: UAREBEFEEEEZHTABENEMEE
BIELTIER -
2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT ARBFT
Investments designated at fair value through EEARBEZSEABENGE
profit or loss
Wealth management products (i) BETEER() 19,201 703,193
listed equity securities L RREES 47,054 44 472
Unlisted equity investment (i) FE_E T IR & (ii) 931,164 957,883
997,419 1,705,548
Less: non-current portion W IERENE Y (931,164) (957,883)
66,255 747,665
(i) This represented the Group’s investments in various wealth management () BERIEEHEERITNEESEHE
products issued by commercial banks and state-owned financial BETNSEVEEEERNKRE - &
institutions. These products have a term ranging from 2 months to 24 LbE R NEA2E B E24@ A - b1
months. They have an expected annual return rate ranging from 1.50% to K TE B B TR R 1E1.50% £2.85% 2 fH ° /8
2.85%. No single wealth management product investment accounted for BIEEHEREELHEREEEND
over 5% of the Group's total assets. The fair values of these investments Nt BERENAABELSENUZE
were determined based on income approach, details of which refer to Note EMETER) - FFMENZR R 32 -
3.2.
(i) This represented the Group’s investments in various unlisted equity (i) BERRMEENSEIELTRIERE
investments, including Dmall Inc. and other companies in software BEZHBEARAREEHFITENE
industry. (NGO
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Investment in associates

BERR

2022 2021

—E__f B

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AREETFTT

At 1 January »—A—H 393,003 403,032
Additions 0 17,336 -
Dilution gain of an associate IR RER S 15,216 -
Disposals BE (16,812) (18,348)
Share of profits of associates ZEBERENRTMEE 12,850 8,319
At 31 December W+=ZRA=+—H 421,593 393,003

(a) Individually immaterial associates

In the opinion of the directors, none of the associates is material to the
Group. Summarised aggregate financial information of the individually
immaterial associates that are accounted for using the equity method are as

following:

(a) FEXHBERR

AEBEERL  AEEEE RN E
BE - ERBSARENFERBER
BMBERERMT

2022 2021
—EB-_F T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBFT

Aggregate carrying amounts of individually IFERNEEARNREESE
immaterial associates 421,593 393,003

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of: AREBE L) FEARET

Profit for the year FEAF 12,850 8,319
Other comprehensive income HAtbsr e W - -
Total comprehensive income foa—gi k=it 12,850 8,319
(b)  Allthe associates of the Group are unlisted and operate in Mainland China. (h) ARNEEMABMLATHEAIELFTAR

There are no significant contingent liabilities relating to liabilities of the

associates for which the Group is severally liable.
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(c) Unrecognised share of losses of associates

(c) REEREGHELTGR

2022 2021

ot ot 3 ZE—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TTT AREEFIT

At 1 January —A—H 31,960 21,719
Unrecognised share of losses during the year /& AR FERHEE D SR 4,902 10,241
At 31 December +=B=+—H 36,862 31,960

Contract assets

During the Reporting Period, contract assets of the Group were approximately
RMB346,542,000 as at 31 December 2022 and the corresponding contract assets
were approximately RMB322,974,000 as at 31 December 2021.

aRARE

WEHRN RZE_F+=-_A=+—H" ' &
EBNAREEN A ARE346542,0000T © R
T+ - F=+—HWNIEEAREEDNA

AR #322,974,0007T ©

Loans to related parties HFREFER
2022 2021
—E_—F —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR#®TT AREFIT
Loans to an associate RFHELERR
At 1 January »—A—H - -
Loans advanced during the year FREBEHHER - 200,000
Repayments received from related parties RAHE 7B K = (200,000)
At 31 December »+=-A=+—H = -
Loans to third parties BFE=FHER
2022 2021
—E_—F —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFIT
Loans to third parties HBTEZHNER 334,702 332,175
Less: Provision for collective impairment assessment 8 : B ZURE &
of the loans (3,347) (3,322)
Loans to third parties, net of provision BTE=ZFANER—FE 331,355 328,853
Less: non-current portion W IEmENE Y (63,081) (23,470)
Current portion mENER D 268,274 305,383
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The loans to third parties represented loans made under the micro-credit business,
which bear interest from 4.28% to 24.00% (2021: 4.28% to 24.00%) per annum
and are repayable with fixed terms agreed with the customers, and all denominated
in RMB.

The fair values of the loans to third parties approximated their carrying amounts.
The interest accrued was due within 12 months and presented in interest
receivables.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.

The Group performed expected credit loss assessment of loans to third parties
collectively by grouping loans with similar credit risk characteristics. During the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the majority of the loans were in stage 1
and there was no significant change in credit quality for loans for both years.

RTE=ZITWERRNBEEXKELENE
K EREFNRIEL28%524.00% (Z T ——F :
4.28%%1124.00%) 2 fd - 7 BL = 7 E Y B E EA
FAEE - BUAREEHE -

ZETE=ZNEFN A BEEEREEER
T o REFHEA R SEI2EA RS - 3
FIBRIO LR B A o

AEEERAEEERYERFELZONA L
- AR B R R F'EH*%J_L B BFHER
EEMe RTHEERAREETBELM - K
SEBEEARSER HE?*E;@%’JE’JH B ER Y] 4R
HER B BB R OB RSB IT R o

AEEBAHAFEUEARBREBNER

T4 KRYE = FEFET T%EE@EMZ
E=ES HE EHEE_ZT-_—_F+=-A=+—H
M_ZE-_—F+_A=+—HBHWFEHF K%
HERERE—HBE  YREEMFNERER

EEYREEBBREL o
Bank borrowings RITH
2022 2021
=5 ZT—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTT AREEFIT
Non-current JETEN
Bank borrowings- unsecured RHRSRITE R — EIK 400,000 -
Less: current portion of non-current bank borrowings = 2R 1712 2R & 52 HA BT (15,000) -
385,000 -
Current B
Bank borrowings- unsecured SRITIE R — EE 4RI 70,000 -
Current portion of non-current bank borrowings IEMENERERENE D 15,000 -
85,000 -
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At 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank borrowings were repayable as follows:

HM-T-—F+-A=+—H  FAEEHER
EEBEROT :

2022 2021
—=E_——f —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Within 1 year —F AR 85,000 -
Between 1 and 2 years —FEWF 85,000 -
Between 2 and 5 years MEZ=RHF 300,000 -

470,000 -

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies:

AEBERTEFNEASEATIEERE

fir:

2022 2021
ol Sl - —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETTT

RVB ARE

470,000 -

The Group’s bank borrowings bear average interest rate of 2.82% per annum.

Bank borrowings are at floating rates and the exposure of the Group’s bank
borrowings to interest-rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at the
balance sheet dates are within 1-5 year (2021: the bank borrowings of the Group
amounted to nil).

The carrying amount of the current bank borrowings approximate their fair value, as
the impact of discounting using a current borrowing rate is not significant.

Contract liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s contract liabilities amounted to
approximately RMB2,631,035,000. The corresponding contract liabilities amounted
to approximately RMB2,164,713,000 as at 31 December 2021. The increase in
contract liabilities during the year was mainly due to the growth of the Group’s
cloud subscription service business.

AEEEIRITERE TG ER2.82% °

ERINZEN R KRG E - AEREEREF RS
MERIKONREERBERBANARENEER
HEISFE RN Q01 - AREREHRAD)

EAERNREREEBRIERAEE  BAE
ﬁ%?%mﬂ?%EM%él$@£°

aRAR

RZE-_=—F+=-A=+—8 A£EHNEH
BENAARE?2631,035000C c R-F——
F+ZA=ZT—HNEEARABENAARE
2,164,713,0007T - FNERBEEINEEZLHN
RNEEERTBI ARG S ISIG RETB
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Liquidity, financial and capital resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a total cash and bank deposits of
approximately RMB4,296,103,000 (31 December 2021: RMB3,747,373,000). As at
31 December 2022, the Group held asset management products of RMB19,201,000
(31 December 2021: RMB703,193,000). A substantial part of the Group’s cash,
bank deposits and wealth management products were denominated in RMB and the
RMB-equivalent of the part denominated in foreign currencies were approximately
RMB87,142,000 as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: RMB110,848,000),
which were mainly denominated in US dollar and Hong Kong dollar.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s net current assets amounted to approximately
RMB218,263,000 (31 December 2021: RMB1,387,504,000). As at 31 December
2022, the current ratio of current assets to current liabilities was approximately 1.06.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s borrowings amounted to RMB470,000,000
(31 December 2021: nil).

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to its
borrowings, details of which have been disclosed in Note 22. Borrowings carried
at floating rates exposed the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk whereas those
carried at fixed rates exposed the Group to fair value interest-rate risk.

The Group currently does not use any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk. However, the Group will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2022, bank borrowings of the Group which were bearing at
floating rates amounted to RMB470,000,000 (2021: nil). As at 31 December 2022,
if the interest rates had been 50 basis point higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the years ended 31 December
2022 would have been approximately RMB2,115,000 (2021: nil) higher/lower.
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Foreign exchange risk

The functional currency of the Company and its major subsidiaries is RMB. The
majority of the revenues of the Group are derived from operations in the People’s
Republic of China.

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchange rates between RMB and other currencies
in which the Group conducts business may affect its financial position and results
of operations. The foreign exchange risk faced by the Group mainly comes from
movements in the US dollars/RMB and Hong Kong dollars/RMB exchange rates.

At 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any derivative financial instrument
for which hedging accounting was applied.

At 31 December 2022, if the RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the
HKD with all other variables held constant, loss before tax for the year would have
been lower/higher by approximately RMB3,206,000 (2021: loss before tax for the
year would have been lower/higher by approximately RMB4,556,000), mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of HKD denominated cash at
bank and in hand.

At 31 December 2022, if the RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the
USD with all other variables held constant, loss before tax for the year would have
been lower/higher by approximately RMB1,077,000 (2021: loss before tax for the
year would have been lower/higher by approximately RMB918,000), mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of USD denominated cash at
bank and in hand.

E R E

ARAREEFAAONEEBBARE © &
5 8] B ATORBE 2 AR £ FIE 1048

o

BE 5 R R M FE R L B EIB R AR - &
BT TR A RS S E W TE 7 R A0 I RO
SREHPHIRRMGEERR - KEHEERN
EAEREZREXTHARBMEE AR
BRER -

E-F-_H+-A=1+—R AKEXREAE
EREMEHRROITESRTA -

H-Z-_—F+-_A=1+—H BEARER
B ETHENS M EBEEHER
B AZFEOMBRITERATSIEN TR, £
FARKES 206,000 (—Z = —4 : HIBRFAER
AIESIBA TR,/ EF AR#4,556,000T) + £ 2
REFENEERNBENMHEENE LB -
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ELE A FHES% MATAEMEZERFT
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Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, contractual cash flows of debt
instruments carried at amortised cost, at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)
and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to
customers, including outstanding receivables.

The management manages the credit risk of cash and cash equivalents, pledged
and short-term and long-term bank deposits and wealth management products
(classified as financial assets at FVPL) by transacting with state-owned financial
institutions and reputable commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality
financial institutions in mainland China and Hong Kong.

In relation to trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has two kinds of
distribution channels, one is sales to distributors and the other is sales to end
customers.

For sales to distributors, the Group has assessed the credit quality of the
distributors, taking into account their financial position, past experience and
other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in
accordance with limits set by management. The compliance with credit limits by
distributors is regularly monitored by management.

For sales to end customers, the Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk in trade receivables since the balance of trade receivables is composed of
numerous individual small items and the exposure spreads over a large number of
customers.

The Group's investments in debt instruments, including loans to the third
parties and related parties as well as entrust loans are considered to be low
risk investments. The credit ratings of the investments are monitored for credit
deterioration.

For other receivables, management considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been significant increase in
credit risk on an on-going basis. The directors of the Company believe that there
is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balances of other
receivables.
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Fund and working capital management

Our funds and liquidity management are centrally carried out by our fund
management department. Our fund management department is generally
responsible for overall management and implementation of funds, including
formulating the capital management policy for our Group, guiding, coordinating
and standardizing the fund management of regional companies, making annual
funding plans, reviewing and summarizing annual capital budget, overseeing and
assessing fund management of each regional company. Qur finance departments of
regional companies are committed to implementing the fund management policies
formulated by our headquarters and are responsible for making funding plans and
executing capital operations at subsidiary level. We have also adopted sophisticated
fund management policies and implemented a set of rules and guidelines on fund
management, such as the Group Capital Internal Control Management Measures
((EEE AW NIEEIEPHE)) and Fund Settlement Of Branch Offices
Management Measures ({7 X #1E & S & EEIRHE)), to enhance the
effectiveness and efficiency of fund management, thereby ensuring our financial
security and reducing cost of capital.

To manage our idle cash on hand, we purchase and redeem wealth management
products using them as our “cash pool” from which we could readily access cash
as needed and generate higher yield than bank deposits. The underlying financial
assets of the wealth management products in which we invested primarily consist
of the low- risk wealth management products issued by financial institutions. The
amount of the purchase will be determined based on our surplus funds. Our main
treasury policy on fund management is the Wealth Management Administration
Solution (¢&E £ IBBIE IR HEE)). We consistently comply with our treasury
policy during the procedures of purchasing the wealth management products and
managing the relevant departments, as well as in conducting business, accounting
and filing.

We are committed to safeguarding overall financial security and maintaining a
strong cash position and a healthy debt profile with strong repayment ability. By
adopting a full, reasonable and professional assessment mechanism, preparing
annual and monthly funding plans, the Group has established disciplined fund
management principal, which allows us to efficiently manage market risks.

For budget management, we have established a monthly, quarterly and annual
budget management system, then seek approval from our chief financial officer.
The capital budget plans should be made based on the objective basis of the
Group’s business plans, project schedules, and contractual payment terms to
ensure that the plan accurately matches the actual business needs.
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Major properties

The following table sets forth the details of the major properties held by the Group as

of 31 December 2022:

EEMR

TRERTAEBHEE T _—_F+ -4
—t+—BIFEETEYENFS

Property name Location Existing use Lease term  Total Fair value
o £ ik RERE HEHR  EFERE
RMB000
ARET
Beijing Kingdee Software Park No. 4 Fuxing Street, Mapo Town, Shunyi District, Beijing City, Offices Long-term 675,090
the PRC
b &SRB E F B b TR T IE 2 [ S 3% $R 18 S PO 4 I /NES Ey-t
Shanghai Kingdee Software Park No. 88 Chenhui Road, Zhangjiang High Technology Park, Offices Long-term 376,120
Pudong District, Shanghai City, the PRC
LEeREHE A 8 TR R RO L = e R [ [ R R 685 P /NE ~Ef
Shenzhen Kingdee Software Park No. 2, No.12 Technology Road South, High Technology Park, Offices Long-term 481410
(Phase 1) Nanshan District, Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province, the PRC
Y& EFE (—HR) R B B R B R Y T LU R R 1285 255 P /NES E3-t
Shenzhen Kingdee Cloud Building ~ No. 2, No.12 Technology Road South, High Technology Park, Offices Long-term 127,659
(Phase 2) Nanshan District, Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province, the PRC
Y& SR E (ZHR) H B BB AR Y T e LU R B B 128K 255 WAE KHA
Shenzhen W1-B Level 4, Building W1, High-tech Industrial Village, No. 1 Offices Long-term 73,800
Technology Road South, Nanshan District, Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
FIIWA-B H B R ER BRI T R LU R — B = T EE WA b /NE R Hf
& 2V [E
1,734,079
Contingencies BRREIR
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have material contingent liabilities, RZBEZZF+A=+—08 FEEWEL

guarantees or litigations or claims of material importance, pending or threatened
against any member of the Group (2021 Nil).

Gearing ratio

For details regarding the gearing ratio, please refer to Note 3.3 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Employee and Remuneration Policy

During the reporting period, total number of employees in the Group reached
12,036. The Group maintained committed to the core philosophy of “Customer-
centered, Long-term Adherence to Professionalism”, continuously encouraged
product innovation and quality construction, and launched the three-pillar
construction of “Organization, Talents and Culture”. The Group insisted on the
philosophy of “Strivers-oriented, Long-term Adherence to Visionary Mind” and
continued to bring in leading cloud transformation talents and outstanding fresh
graduates, encouraged managers and key personnel staffs to take up rotations,
cultivated management and creative talents and stimulated the vitality of the
organization. The Group provides various training courses on professional skills,
leadership, etc. to the employees, and has also adopted certain shares schemes
to provide incentives and reward the contribution of the relevant employees.
For further details, please refer to the Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report and the sections headed “Share Option Schemes” and “Share
Award Scheme” in this annual report.

The Group’s remuneration policy is primarily based on the duties, performance,
outstanding contribution and length of service of each employee with reference
to prevailing market conditions; and in evaluating the amount of remuneration
payable to Directors and senior management, the factors to be considered
by the remuneration committee of the Company include the salaries paid by
similar companies, tenure of Directors and senior management, commitment,
responsibilities and individual performance (as the case may be), etc.

Regarding remuneration payable to members of senior management (which include
two directors, namely Mr. XU Shao Chun and Mr. LIN Bo, and another individual)
by band: (i) details of remuneration of the two directors are set out in note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements; and (ii) the other individual’s emolument
(including but not limited to salaries and share-based compensation) falls under
the band of HKD10,000,001 — HKD10,500,000.

Social Responsibility

The Group carried out social responsibilities through proactive contribution to
enterprises and colleges and universities in fighting with COVID-19 pandemic.
During the reporting period, Kingdee timely activated cloud-based teaching
service for colleges and universities, delivering lectures to their staff on the topic
of Financial Big Data Analytics Course, Management Accounting Comprehensive
Training Course and Human Resources Digital Management Course. The
Group jointed with partners to launch a series of training courses of Enterprise
Environment Financial Digital Practical Teaching for helping nearly 3,000 school
teachers improve their teaching practices. The Group successfully concluded the
Sixth Innovation Cup of University Student Competition, and launched the China
Software Cup of Developer Competition, Internet+Innovation and Entrepreneurial
Enterprises Track. Over 600 colleges and universities participated in the
competition, and around 20,000 students achieved skill enhancement from the
competition. More than 500 digital talents were recruited by Kingdee’s ecosystem
partners. Meanwhile, Kingdee is very committed to advancing basic education in
areas where education resources are scarce, supporting welfare undertakings and
implementing various measures to support students in different places including
Sichuan, Hunan and Jiangsu to realize their dreams.
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The Group provided digital management trainings to CEO and CIO and senior
executives through Kingdee Digital Lectures. During the reporting period, the
Group commenced the online series of courses of CEO Digital Lectures —
Entrepreneur Advanced Seminar and digital transformation workshops with 220
senior management in attendance, fueling the digital transformation of Chinese
enterprises.

The Group continued to support the selection of China Management Model
Excellence Award and the “China Management Model 50+" forum (“China
Management Global Forum”), and joined hands with the management experts,
entrepreneurs and all sectors of society to advance enterprise management.

Outlook

In 2022, witnessing the repeated COVID-19 pandemic and major changes
unfolding in our world, something unseen in a century, we steadily pursued the
goal of “Creating another Kingdee with cloud subscription model” and have taken
major steps. In 2023, we move forward to the conclusion year of Kingdee’s Three-
year Strategy, and we celebrate the thirtieth anniversary of Kingdee and embark
on a new journey. This year is meant to be extraordinary and witnessing history.
China’'s modernization progress would require modernization in China's enterprise
management. A stronger China would also need a strong management software
company. Qver the past thirty years, Kingdee has gradually developed into a
global leading and China’s No.1 enterprise management cloud SaaS company,
supporting Chinese enterprises to become world-class. Kingdee will continue
to focus on the core strategy of “Platform + Finance & HR & Tax + Ecosystem”,
adhere to the Kingdee philosophy of “Customer-centered, Long-term Adherence
to Professionalism; Strivers-oriented, Long-term Adherence to Visionary
Mind". Kingdee will insist on providing better products, better ecosystem, better
implementation, better service and better reputation, in order to push forward
Chinese enterprises pursuing high-quality development and to become a major
force in building digital economy.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFREREHERE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

XU Shao Chun (&2 %F), aged 59, is the founder of the Group, chairman of the Board,
chief executive officer and the Government Special Allowance Expert awarded by the
State Council. Mr. XU graduated from the Southeast University in Computer Science and
obtained a Master of Accounting from the Research Institute for Fiscal Science, Ministry
of Finance (now known as the Chinese Academy of Fiscal Sciences) and an Executive
Master of Business Administration (EMBA) from China Europe International Business
School. Mr. XU is the President of the Shenzhen Accounting Association. He has served
as a member of each of the Ninth and Tenth Central Committee of the China Democratic
National Construction Association, a director of the China Siyuan Foundation for Poverty
Alleviation, the vice president of the China Software Industry Association, and the vice
president of the Shenzhen Private Entrepreneurs Chamber of Commerce, and the vice
president of Shenzhen Young Scientific and Technological Workers Association. By virtue
of his profound understanding of the corporate strategy and operational management, the
forward-looking technological sense and keen insight on the development trends of the
global software industry, Mr. XU had been actively promoting the objective of “Enable the
Chinese management model to rise in the world”, and is committed to leading the Group
to become the world's leading service provider of management and IT integrated solutions.
Owing to his outstanding achievements in the implementation of this undertaking, Mr.
XU was the subject of numerous awards. He has been awarded the “World Indigenous
Entrepreneur Award of the United Nations”, “China Outstanding Youth Science and
Technology Innovation Award”, “10 Outstanding Youths of China's Software”, “10
Outstanding Entrepreneur Award”, “Outstanding Leader of China’s Information Industry”,
“30 Effective People who Contributed to the Success of Shenzhen’s 3 Decades of Reform
and Opening”, “Meritorious Shenzhen Business Leaders who Contributed to the Success
of Shenzhen’s 4 Decades of Reform and Opening” and “Shenzhen Science and Technology
Innovation Mayor’s Award”. Mr. XU was an independent non-executive director of
Zero2IPO Holdings Inc. (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1945) from
December 2020 to 6 June 2022.

LIN Bo (#F%), aged 49, has been an executive Director since 2016. Mr. LIN obtained
a bachelor’s degree of Computer Science from the Xiamen University. He is currently the
chief financial officer of the Company. After joining the Company in 1997, Mr. LIN has
served as the general manager of the Company in the Fujian Province Region, the general
manager of the Operation Management Department and the director of the Strategic
Development Department of the Group. Mr. LIN has extensive experiences in strategic
planning, marketing management and financial management. Mr. LIN has been awarded
the “Top 10 CFO in China of the year 2018
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Non-executive Directors

DONG Ming Zhu (EBAEk), aged 68, has been a non-executive Director since 2012,
Ms. DONG obtained a Master's Degree in Business Administration from the Zhongnan
University of Economics and Law. She is now the chairman of the board and president of
Gree Electric Appliances, Inc. of Zhuhai (stock code: SZ000651), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Ms. DONG had been awarded the “National May Day Labor
Prize”, and had been elected as a member of each of the 10th, 11th, 12th and 13th National
People’s Congress, a member of the Central Committee of the China National Democratic
Construction Association, and a member of the 10th, 11th and 12th Executive Committee
of All-China Women'’s Federation. Ms. DONG has solid experience in marketing and the
management of household appliances, and the Regional Sales Model that she developed
has been commended as an “Excellent Achievement of Modernizing Enterprises’
Management of Guangdong Province”. Ms. DONG has been dedicated to creating local
Chinese brands and was granted the “Innovation Award of CCTV's China’s Economic
Figures of the Year 2010” and “CCTV's China's Economic Figures of the Year 2013”.

Gary Clark Biddle (A EH#&), aged 71, was an independent non-executive Director
since 2004, and has been re-designated as a non-executive Director since 31 December
2021. Mr. Biddle is the Professor of Financial Accounting at the University of Melbourne
and visiting professor at Columbia University, University of Hong Kong (“HKU") and
London Business School. Mr. Biddle earned his MBA and PhD degrees at University
of Chicago. He previously served as a professor at University of Chicago, University
of Washington, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology (“HKUST") and
HKU, and as a visiting professor at China Europe International Business School (China),
Fudan University (China), University of Glasgow (UK), Institute for Management (IMD)
(Switzerland) and Skolkovo Business School (Russia). Regarding academic leadership,
Mr. Biddle served as the Dean and Chair Professor at HKU, and as the Academic Dean,
Department Head, Council member, Court member, Senate member and Chair Professor
at HKUST. Professionally, he is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (AICPA), Australian Institute of Company Directors, CPA Australia and Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Mr. Biddle is a member of the
American Accounting Association Executive Board, and as a Vice-President and Invited
President-Elect Candidate, and a member of each of the Accounting Hall of Fame Selection
Committee, Financial Reporting Review Panel of the Financial Reporting Council of Hong
Kong, HKICPA Council, Accreditation and Financial Reporting Standards Committees of
HKICPA, and Hong Kong Institute of Directors Training Committee; and as the President
and co-founding Council Member of the Hong Kong Academic Accounting Association.
Mr. Biddle is a leading expert in financial and management accounting, value creation,
economic forecasting, corporate governance and performance metrics. Mr. Biddle is
currently an independent non-executive director of Shui On Land Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 272).
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang (P ###), aged 57, has been an independent non-executive
Director since 31 December 2021. Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang obtained a bachelor's degree in
computer science from Wuhan University in 1986 and a master's degree in accounting
from the Chinese Academy of Fiscal Sciences of the Ministry of Finance in 1989. In
addition, Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang obtained the certificates of each of Chinese Certified Public
Accountant and Chinese Certified Asset Appraiser. Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang is a Senior Partner
of Dahua Certified Public Accountants (Special General Partnership), and served as a
Partner of BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified Public Accountants LLP from September
2011 to December 2019. Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang is also a member of each of Expert Group
and Review Committee of Shenzhen Municipal Government Guidance Fund, Shenzhen
Municipal Government Stable Fund and Shenzhen Angel FOF. Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang is
currently an independent director of each of Shenzhen Fangzhi Science & Technology Co.,
Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300235), Suntak
Technology Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code:
002815), Shenzhen Institute of Building Research Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300675) and Shen Zhen Kaifa Technology Co., Ltd.
(a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 000021). In addition, Mr.
Zhou Jun Xiang was an independent director of ShenZhen YUTO Packaging Technology
Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002831) from
May 2013 to June 2020, and an independent director of Cedar Development Co., Ltd. (a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002485) from September
2019 to June 2021.

Katherine Rong Xin, aged 59, has been an independent non-executive Director since
31 December 2021. Ms. Katherine Rong Xin received a master’s degree in applied
linguistics from the Graduate University of Chinese Academy of Sciences (FP B} £2
BraftFtAERT) in July 1986, and a master's degree in business administration (MBA)
from the California State University in June 1991. She obtained a doctor's degree in
business administration from the University of California in June 1995. Ms. Katherine
Rong Xin has been a professor of management since September 2001 at the China Europe
International Business School (1 BXEIFR TR 2F). She served as an assistant
professor of management at the University of Southern California from September 1995
to August 1999. She served as an associate professor of management at The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology from September 1999 to August 2001, and as
a professor of management in the Faculty of IMD, Lausanne, Switzerland from August
2006 to December 2009. Ms. Katherine Rong Xin was awarded the Chinese Most Cited
Researchers by Elsevier, a global provider of scientific, technical, and medical information,
for seven consecutive years from 2014 to 2020. Ms. Katherine Rong Xin is currently an
independent director of Contemporary Amperex Technology Co., Ltd. (a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300750), and an independent non-executive
director of each of Fosun Tourism Group (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1992), EuroEyes International Eye Clinic Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1846) and Landsea Green Life
Service Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1965).
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Bo Lian Ming (5&:EH8), aged 59, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 30 December 2022. Mr. Bo obtained a PhD. in Management from Xi'an Jiaotong
University in 2006. Mr. Bo served as a chief accountant of Shenzhen Airlines Co., Limited
from 1993 to 2000; successively served as vice president, president and executive director
of TCL Technology Group Corporation, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 000100), from 2000 to 2018 (including as executive director from 29 October
2007 to 2 March 2018); successively served as executive director, chief executive officer
and the chairman of the board of TCL Electronics Holdings Limited (formerly named as
TCL Multimedia Technology Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 01070), from 2010 to 2018. He was the general manager
and director of Appotronics Corporation Limited, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 688007), from 2018 to 2022 (including as director from 18 July
2018 to 11 March 2022). Mr. Bo is currently a representative of the Shenzhen Municipal
People's Congress, a professor of the National School of Development of Peking
University, a distinguished professor of management practice of the HSBC Business
School of Peking University, and a member of the Federation of Shenzhen Commerce, and
was awarded the seventh "Shenzhen Businessman of the Year 2015 (F & RZE A #7)".

COMPANY SECRETARY

SIU Man Ho, Simon (/&3 %), aged 49 who joined the Company in 2019 and
is a practicing solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong. He obtained a Bachelor of
Laws degree from The University of Hong Kong in 1996 and is a partner of a law firm,
namely Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum. Mr. SIU is also a China Appointed Attesting Officer
appointed by the Ministry of Justice of the PRC. His areas of practice include corporate
finance, capital markets, securities, mergers and acquisitions, joint ventures and general
commercial matters. He also actively participates in charitable and social services in Hong
Kong. He was previously appointed as the director of Hong Kong Pok Oi Hospital. He is
currently acting as the legal adviser for United Hearts Youth Foundation, VQ Foundation
and Hong Kong Tagkwondo Association as well as the school manager of The Association
of Directors & Former Directors of Pok Oi Hospital Leung Sing Tak College. He is also the
member of the Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in
Yangjiang City of Guangdong Province, the PRC. Mr. SIU is currently an independent non-
executive director of each of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (stock code: 897),
Litu Holdings Limited (stock code: 1008), Shuang Yun Holdings Limited (stock code:
1706) and HKE Holdings Limited (stock code: 1726), which are all companies listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

XU Shao Chun (#2>%), chief executive officer of the Company — see the paragraph
under “Executive Directors” above.

LIN Bo (#Fi), chief financial officer of the Company — see the paragraph under
“Executive Directors” above.

Zhang Yong (E58), aged 48, is the president of Kingdee China. Mr. ZHANG graduated
from China Europe International Business School. After joining the Company in 1995,
Mr. Zhang has served as General Manager of Shanghai Branch and General Manager of
East China Region successively. Mr. ZHANG has played vital roles in the marketing and
marketing management, etc. Therefore, he has rich experience in marketing and team
management. Mr. ZHANG is one of the "Second Session IT Youth Top Ten New Talent in
Shanghai ", one of the "Fifth Session Top Ten Qutstanding Youth in Putuo District ", and
one of the "2008 Shanghai Information Service Industry Leaders". Also, he was once a
member of the Standing Committee of the 12th CPPCC in Putuo District, Shanghai, and
vice president of Shanghai Informatization Youth Talent Association.

EREEAR

HOB EFEHTE -FRHLXMTEE K-

Wik BRMBE B2 TEE K-

BE 85 ©RTEAEH - EAREEENPEEE
IHERSR - B NAAAFMAREE  EXEk
BREFE LB RRBERE ERRBALE - ERRH
SMITHE RS TIEEEEERTE  BEENMHT
HEERERLR  EAERIFE_EEBTEF+TK
#FEtl [FREERETAGEEE] (20085 L&
EERBITEEEAY GELEMHERRET
ERHEZ - EBEREBEFATHERIER -

CTOCFFH SEEMEB4EEERAT 37



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EFEEHE

The Directors are pleased to present to the shareholders their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022.

Principal Activities and Geographical Analysis of Operations

Shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
0268) and the Company is headquartered in Shenzhen, PRC. Adhering to the core values
of “acting in all conscience, with integrity and righteousness”, the Company is committed
to “helping businesses achieve their growth targets and let the sun shine on every
company” through dedicated services. It strives to become “the most trusted corporate
service platform”. Through persistent efforts to explore China’s Cloud enterprise services
market, Kingdee has retained the largest share in the enterprise application software sector
for fast-growing enterprises for 18 consecutive years, and has grasped the biggest share
in the enterprise-grade SaaS ERM (as known as Cloud ERP) and financial Cloud services
industry for the fifth consecutive year.

Many cloud service products of Kingdee have won the favour of benchmark enterprises,
which included Kingdee Cloud Cosmic (new-generation PaaS platform for enterprises),
Kingdee Cloud Constellation (SaaS solution for large-sized enterprises), Kingdee Cloud-
Galaxy (SaaS solution for medium-sized enterprises) and Kingdee Cloud Stellar (SaaS
solution for micro and small enterprises). Kingdee has provided digital management
solutions for more than 7.4 million enterprises, governments and other organizations
around the world.

The revenue and loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2022 were approximately RMB4,865,769,000 and RMB389,158,000,
respectively. Of such revenue, approximately 23.7% was derived from the sales of the ERP
business and approximately 76.3% was derived from the Cloud services business. For
details, please refer to the consolidated income statement set out on page 91.
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Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of the Group’s
performance during the financial year ended 31 December 2022 as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies
Ordinance”), including (i) a discussion of the principal business risks and uncertainties
facing the Group; (ii) an indication of likely future developments of the Group’s business;
(iii) key financial performance indicators of the development, performance and position
of the Group's business; and (iv) a discussion on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance and the Group’s compliance with the laws and regulations having
significant impact on the Group’s business are provided in the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” section, on pages 18 to 32 of this annual report, Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements and the 2022 Environmental, Social and Governance Report published
by online at the same time of this annual report.

Results and Final Dividend

The performance for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out in the consolidated
income statement on page 91.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy that, in recommending or declaring
dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working
capital requirements and future business growth. In deciding whether to propose a
dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account the
Group’s financial results and cash flow, its shareholders’ interests, general business
conditions and strategies, current and future operations, liquidity and capital requirements,
taxation considerations, statutory and regulatory restrictions, and any other factors the
Board may deem relevant.

The recommendation of the payment of dividend is subject to the determination of the
Board, and any declaration of final dividend for the year will be subject to the approval
of the shareholders of the Company. The payment of dividend is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and any other applicable
laws, rule and regulations, and the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”).

The Board does not recommend the declaration and payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Closure of Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 12 May 2023 to
Thursday, 18 May 2023 (both days inclusive), during which periods no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to be qualified to attend, participate in and vote at the AGM to
be held on Thursday, 18 May 2023, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, 11 May 2023.
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Bank Borrowings

Details of bank borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 22 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Reserves

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had distributable reserves to its shareholders
amounting to RMB5,027,537,000 (2021: RMB5,013,833,000). Details of movements in the
reserves of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 94 of the annual report.

Five-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on page 7 of this annual report.

Fixed Assets

Details of movements in the fixed assets of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Interests of the Directors in Contracts

Save as disclosed under the heading “Continuing Connected Transactions” and “Related
Party Transactions” in this annual report, no Director or an entity connected with a Director
has or had a material direct or indirect interest in any transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to the Group’s business for the year ended 31 December 2022 in which the
Group was a party.

Please also refer to Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements for other details.
Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions regarding pre-emptive rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands
or the Articles of Association, which would oblige the Company to issue new shares to its
existing shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholdings.

Major properties

Details of the principal properties held for investment purposes are set out on page 30 of
this annual report.

Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to its shareholders by
reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.

40 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

SITHERK

RARRZZBZZF+ZA=+—HFEZRITER
BN A MM B wAM T2

foti 0

RZFEZZF+ZA=+—H  ARRIMAHEE
IR S A K AR 85,027 5370000 (ZZ = —4F ¢
# AR ¥5,013,833,0007T) - ARBERBE=T ==
T A=+ —BIEFEZREEDHNEUENEH
EREEEK -

AFEEREE

AEERETEVRFECREREERRABIHE
BRAFRETR o

BE®E

RRARRBE_E-_—_F+_A=1+—HILFEZE
EEERY 2 FHBHNM MR -

EFEZENER
BAFRFEMER SR MEHTR5] 2 HE
REE-T-—&F+- A=+ BILFENEAFHS
M EEREEMESEARBIERA T2 2
%5 ZHREBEOT  HERGEARZLH
Bt -

HAh S 2 A OB R A M40 «
BEMRE

e B EAEENA R BRI RS MECEERN
T ABSRAR RHRIE R0 o fl R A R
BITHRRLD «

EBMX

FERERSNERYEFBIHNAFRFIR -

Rllis %

ARABTHBEERNAR AR RRREFELR
BIRAD A Z A BUOR R ©

Annual Report 2022



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EFEERE

Share Capital and Options

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
8,390,000 ordinary shares of the Company with an aggregate nominal value
of HK$209,750 were issued during the year as a result of the exercise of share
options. The Company had received HK$28,217,960 in total for such issue. Details
about the issue of shares are also set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements and the section headed “Share Option Schemes” in this annual report.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

Purchase

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company through its trustee
purchased 6,586,000 shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange for an
aggregate consideration of approximately HK$100,297,074 pursuant to the share
award scheme as adopted by the Company on 4 December 2015 (the “Share Award
Scheme”).

Repurchase of Shares

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company had repurchased the
following shares on the Stock Exchange:
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Of these 6,171,800 Shares, 4,640,800 Shares were cancelled on 28 February 2022
and 1,531,000 Shares were cancelled on 15 November 2022.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries, had
repurchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed securities.

Share Option Schemes

The share option schemes were adopted by the Company to encourage and reward the
contribution of eligible persons to the Company. Eligible persons include employees,
directors, partners, consultants, suppliers and customers of the Group.

Pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting on 11 July 2005 (the “2005 Scheme”) and the adjustment made due to the bonus
issue and the refreshment on the scheme limit in 2011, an aggregate of 529,501,600
share options were granted, of which 321,583,193 share options were exercised and
204,194,907 share options lapsed since its adoption. Thus, 3,723,500 share options
remained outstanding as at 31 December 2022.

At the annual general meeting of the Company convened on 8 May 2015, the Company
terminated the 2005 Scheme and adopted a new share option scheme (the “2015
Scheme”) with a validity period of ten years. The remaining life of the 2015 Scheme was
around 2 years as at the date of this report. As at 31 December 2022, 8,304,000 share
options remained outstanding. According to the scheme mandate limit of the 2015 Scheme
(being 259,264,096 share options), less the 40,000,000 share options granted by the
Company and plus 9,145,000 lapsed share options since the adoption, the Company may
further grant 228,409,096 share options as of 31 December 2022 (as of 1 January 2022:
228,059,096). Hence, the number of shares available for issue under the 2015 Scheme is
236,713,096, representing approximately 6.81% of the total number of issued shares of
the Company as at the date of this report.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon the exercise of the share options granted
under the 2015 Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company (including
exercised and outstanding share options) to each eligible participant in any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of grant.
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The grant of any share option to a substantial shareholder of the Company or an
independent non-executive Director, or to any of their respective associates, in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of grant and with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the shares of the Company as at the date of grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, is subject to the issue of a circular by
the Company and the approval of the shareholders of the Company in advance at a general
meeting. The grantee, his associates and all core connected persons of the Company must
abstain from voting at such general meeting.

A non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee upon
acceptance of a share option. The validity period of a share option may not end later than
ten (10) years from the date of grant. The terms of the 2015 Scheme do not specify the
period within which the share option may be exercised by the grantee or the vesting period,
but specify that the Board may, at their absolute discretion, fix the period within which a
share option may be exercised, the vesting period, any performance targets that must be
achieved and any other conditions that must be fulfilled before the share options can be
exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determined by the Board, but may not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a trading day; (ii)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of the Company.
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Details of the movements of the share options pursuant to the 2005 Scheme and the 2015 ~ HZE T -_—F+_-_A=+—HI1t BRE_TZTHF

Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows: BRREREI N T — A FBRET SN EEFIB T
E

Exercise Exercise  Options held ~ Options granted ~ Options exercised Options lapsed  Options held

period price per  at 31 December during the during the during the  at 31 December

Date of grant (Notg2) share (HKD) 2021 reporting period  reporting period  reporting period 2022

gk RZI--f RIBZZ

T8 fTlRER T2A=+-0 BEMAEE SEOATE SEOAXY +SASH-R

Name or category of participants RENSHERR BHAH (W&E2) (87) <HBRESE ®WEERE ORBENE SBRERE CWEERE

Oriental Tao Limited (notg 1) Orenlal Tao Limied P351) 23042014 23041201470 266 2500000 - 2,500,000 - 0
2/04204

120612015 1205201570 48 2500000 - 2,500,000 - 0
T1/05/2025

Sub-total it 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 - -

LinBo Uibid 120612015 1205201570 4§ 300000 - - - 300,000
11/05/2025

Sub-total It 300,000 - - - 300,000

The fve highes! pad individuals BEHREMAAL 12/5/2015 1205201570 48 200000 - - - 200,000
11/05/2025

Sub-total It 200,000 - - - 200,000

Other employees AtEs 232013 203201310 134 475,000 - 1,150,000 2162500 1442500
21/03/2023

23042004 2304201470 266 4397000 - 916,000 1,200,000 2,281,000
2200402004

120512015 1205201570 48 9478,000 - 1,324,000 350000 7,804,000
11/05/2025

Other employees in aggregate RAtEREH 18630000 - 3,390,000 3712500 1152750

TOTAL ait 24,130,000 - 8,300,000 312500 12,027,500
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Notes:

(1) Mr. Xu Shao Chun, an executive Director, the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company, holds 100% interests in Easy Key Holdings Limited,
which in turn holds 100% interests in Oriental Tao Limited.

(2) The vesting period of the share options granted was four years and the vesting schedule
was 25% after 12 months, 24 months, 36 months and 48 months from the date of grant,
respectively, and all of the options had been vested.

(3) The weighted average closing price prior to exercise of share options by each of Oriental
Tao Limited and the other employees was approximately HK$16.72 and HK$16.91,
respectively.

(4) During the year ended 31 December 2022, no share option was cancelled.

For further details, please refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
Share Award Scheme

The Share Award Scheme was adopted by the Company on 4 December 2015 to provide
incentives and reward the contributions of certain employees and Directors of the Group.
The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing
from the adoption date. The remaining life of the Share Award Scheme as at the date of
this report is approximately 3 years. The Board may, from time to time, in its absolute
discretion select the participants, including (i) employees (whether full-time or part-time
and including any executive director), consultants or advisers of or to the Group (subject
to compliance with the latest Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules), and (ii) any non-executive
directors (including independent non-executive directors) of the Group, after taking into
various factors as they deem appropriate and determine the number of award shares to be
awarded to each of the selected participants.

The awarded shares will comprise Shares subscribed for or purchased by the trustee out of
cash arranged by the Company out of the Company’s funds to the trustee and be held on
trust for the selected participants until such Shares are vested with the selected participants
in accordance with the provisions of the Share Award Scheme.

The terms of the Share Award Scheme do not specify (i) any period for an award to be
vested; (i) any amount required to be paid on acceptance of an award nor the payment
period; and any basis of determining the purchase price (if any) of award shares. A selected
participant shall be entitled to receive the award shares held by the trustee appointed by
the Company for the purpose of the Share Award Scheme in accordance with the vesting
schedule upon satisfaction of the vesting criteria and conditions specified by the Board in
the offer of the grant of the relevant award shares.
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The Board shall not make any further award of awarded shares which will result in the
number of the Shares awarded by the Board under the Share Award Scheme exceeding 3%
of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time (104,258,528 shares as at the
date of this report). For the avoidance of doubt, the 3% limit provided above shall exclude
any Shares which have been vested. The maximum number of Shares which may be
awarded to a selected participant under the Share Award Scheme in any twelve (12)-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

For details of the Share Award Scheme, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 18 December 2015.

The number of award shares available for grant under the Share Award Scheme at
the beginning of the reporting period was 81,169,407 and at the end of the reporting
period was 71,895,003. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company had
granted 7,407,500 award shares pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, with details of the
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movements of the award shares during the year ended 31 December 2022 as follows: =+ —HBIEFENEBROEBFBNT
Closing price of Number of Award
Number of Award Granted the Shares Shares not
Shares not yet during immediately Vestedduring ~ Lapsed during yet vested
vestedasat31  the reporting  before the date the reporting the reporting asat 3t
Date of grant December 2021 period of grant period period  December 2022
AZEC-F S
+ZB=t-B RERHA +ZR=1-A
AEBENER B RFHREL
Name or the categories of the grantee REHSHERR RHAN KRBE SEOARL Bk BENARE  BEOAKY  RERGHE
Directors =
Xu Shao Chun "oE 442018 500,000 - - 500,000 - -
1952019 600,000 - - 300,000 - 300,000
26/8/2020 225,000 - - 75,000 - 150,000
20/5/2001 200,000 - - 50,000 - 150,000
28/3/2022 150,000 16.74 - 150,000
Sub-total ihit 1,525,000 150,000 925,000 - 750,000
LinBo & 44018 300,000 - - 300,000 - -
/52019 400,000 - - 200000 - 200000
26/8/2020 167500 - - 62500 - 125000
20/5/2001 150000 - - 37500 - 12500
20312022 - 150000 1674 - - 150000
Sub-total it 1,037,500 150,000 600,000 - 587,500
The five highest paid individuals BEMERNIAATL 9212018 162500 - - 162500 - -
9019 175,000 - - 87,500 - 87500
1931200 225,000 - - 75,000 - 150,000

46 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Annual Report 2022



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EFEERE

Closing price of Number of Award
Number of Award Granted the Shares Shares not
Shares not yet during immediately Vested during Lapsed during yet vested
vestedasat 31 the reporting  before the date the reporting the reporting asatdt
Date of grant December 2021 period of grant period period  December 2022
RIBZ-% - ke
+ZB=t-B RiEHA +ZR=1-A
REBENER iR RFHREL
Name or the categories of the grantee REHSHERR RHA% KRBE SEHAEL B BEUARE  BEOASN  RERGHE
13041201 810,000 - - 202500 - 607,500
21312022 - 450,000 16.38 - - 450,000
Sub-total it 1,372,500 450,000 521,500 - 1,205,000
Others in aggregate ARt 9202018 6417500 - - 5425750 991750 -
91019 8314000 - - 3,741,500 415,500 4167000
1931200 7320250 - - 2328500 111,000 4880750
1m0 163725 - - 4707 7500 109,10
1342021 5,216,000 - - 1304750 2.1% 3839125
6/12/201 960,000 - - 240,000 - 720,000
21312022 - 6,457 500 16.38 - - 6,457 500
%8/11/2022 - 200,000 1252 - - 200000
Sub-total b-tiE] 28,301,475 6,657,500 13,121,575 1,957,875 20,363,525
Total EL 32,326,475 7,407,500 15,180,075 1,557,875 22,996,025
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Notes:

(1) The vesting period of the award shares is four (4) years and the vesting schedule is
30 April of each of the first year, the second year, the third year and the fourth year
following the year of the date of grant.

(2) No consideration is required to be paid for the acceptance or vesting of the award
shares.

(3) For the award shares granted in 2022, the Company used the market price of the
Company’s shares at the respective grant date as the basis for fair value measurement
and had incorporated the expected dividends into the measurement of fair value. Further
details of determining the fair value of the award shares are set out in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(4) The weighted average closing price of the Shares was approximately HK$16.32
immediately before the date all on 30 April 2022 of the vesting of the award shares onto
each of Mr. Xu Shao Chun, Mr. Lin Bo, the five highest paid individuals and others
during the reporting period.

(5) Performance targets for each grant include the Company’s financial performance
indicators and the individual performance indicators of the selected participants.

(6) During the year ended 31 December 2022, no award share was cancelled.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the number of Shares that may be issued in
respect of options and awards granted under all share schemes of the Company, including
the 2005 Scheme, 2015 Scheme and the Share Award Scheme, divided by the weighted
average number of Shares of the relevant class in issue for the year ended 31 December
2022 is approximately 0.59%.

Since 1 January 2023, unless separately approved by the shareholders in general meeting
(with the relevant eligible participant and such eligible participant’s close associates
(with the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules) (or such eligible participant’s
associates if such eligible participant is a connected person of the Company) abstaining
from voting), no eligible participant shall be granted a share option or award if such grant
will result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of all share
options and awards granted (excluding any lapsed share options and awards) to such
eligible participant in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
would in aggregate exceed 1% of the total number of issued shares of the Company.

For further details, please refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Equity-linked agreement

The Company completed the placing of 133,280,000 new Shares (the “Placing Shares”,
each a “Placing Share”) at the price of HK$17.82 per Placing Share (the “Placing”) under
general mandate on 28 August 2020. The aggregate nominal value of the Placing Shares is
HK$3,332,000. The closing price per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date
of signing of the Placing Agreement was HK$18.32. The Directors considered the reasons
for the Placing were that it would raise capital for the Company to maintain the cash flow
position of the Group, enhance the capital base of the Company and prepare for any future
potential investments, including to support the Company’s cloud transformation. The
gross and net proceeds raised from the Placing were approximately HK$2,375.1 million
and were approximately HK$2,353.0 million, respectively. On this basis, the net price per
Placing Share was approximately HK$17.65. The intended and actual use of proceeds from
the Placing up to 31 December 2022 are set out as follows:

B 48 4 R 135 %%

“EoTHENAZTNR  ARERERIERE - A
BH17.8278 7T 5T R T 133,280,0008% A% 1 #Y i & ([BL &
Befn]) o BLE R HO % & H B /R3,332,0008 T - BL &
MEREBEE A - AR BB SR ERES1832
AT BEFERRETEENREREEH/ARRE
KECAERAKERSRNNR - BRARRWER
Hif - RREMBAREEREFEER(BEXHAR
AIMEXRHEL) - RENBRENR2375.15EE
7T EREEAMFRE (R EMES REMHERRK
ARAXRBEZERRIKR2IB0BERT - Bt
HE - BREERNDIFELORITGLET BHE-T
ToFE+T A=t AMEENREERRZRNOT

Proceeds Expected
Proceeds utilised Unutilised timeline for
Proceeds utilised during up to 31 funds as at utilising
from the the reporting December 31 December unutilised
Placing period 2022 2022  funds (Note)
gBE BE
ol St =5
+=A +=A K{E R
HwEMR =+—H =+—H SERY
BERN BER WkEAN EHEBER
[T &= &8 H&H &% (P &)
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BETT B¥ETT BETT BT
Research and development (50.0%) i3 & % 1,176,850 103,674 1,176,850 0 -
Future potential investments RIBIESE (30.0%) 706,110 23,790 649,333 56,777  December 2023
(30.0%) 2023512 A
Working capital and general HEEE R —RAA 470,740 0 470,740 0 -

corporate purposes (20.0%) F3#%(20.0%)

Note:  The expected timeline for utilising the unutilised funds is based on the best estimation
of the future market conditions made by the Group. It may be subject to change based on

the current and future development of market conditions.

There was no equity-linked agreement being entered into during the financial year ended
31 December 2022 or subsisting at the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

Hret © @A EHE £ AR 2R BB AR AT
SRR RENGES - ATEEEIRIE 2 FIFIAR K T4 1%
Ay R 2L

APBREFEEAN S - —_F+-_A=+—HHKRFE
KRB - 8 ER T AR REARRT e o
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Directors

The composition of the Board during the financial year ended 31 December 2022 and up to
the date of this report is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lin Bo (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Dong Ming Zhu
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Chia Yung (resigned on 30 December 2022)
Mr. Bo Lian Ming (appointed on 30 December 2022)
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang

Ms. Katherine Rong Xin

According to the Articles of Assaciation, each Director shall retire by rotation at least once
every three years and all the retiring Directors are eligible for re-election at the AGM in that
year. At the AGM, three Directors, namely Mr. Xu Shao Chun, Ms. Dong Ming Zhu and Mr.
Zhou Jun Xiang shall retire by rotation and be eligible for re-election. Additionally, Mr. Bo
Lian Ming, who was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 30 December
2022, shall hold office only until the AGM and shall also be eligible for re-election at the
AGM.

None of the Directors who shall retire and be proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not terminable within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

The Company received a written confirmation from each independent non-executive
Director of his or her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests or Short Positions
in the Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ”)), which will be
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or which will be required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO
to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which will be required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Long positions/short positions in shares/underlying shares of the

Company

FOFRE HE ARRARZER

Name of Directors

EEER

Number of shares/
underlying shares
(where
(appropriate) Capacity
Bxn,#0m
BRIAEE (NiEA) #IME

Percentage of
total number of
issued shares
(approximate)
HERTERE
bol=p244

Xu Shao Chun

‘EHS
&
it

682,198,624(L) Interests of controlled corporation (Note 1)

PR A B2 ek (P RE )

750,000(L) Beneficiary of a trust (Note 2)
HisscINGEY)
20,501,057(L) Beneficial owner
ERBEAA

Aggregate:

703,449,681

20.25%

LinBo

1,522,573(L) Beneficial owner
EREAA
587,500(L) Beneficiary of a trust (Note 3)
2t A (H7E3)

Aggregate:

2,110,073

0.06%

Gary Clark Biddle

Gary Clark Biddle

1,230,000(L) Beneficial owner
EREAA

0.04%

Dong Ming Zhu

EHR

neficial owner

400,000(L) Be
ERBEAA

0.01%

T CFFR
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Notes:

The percentage of the total number of issued shares was calculated by the number of the
aforesaid interests or short positions divided by the total number of issued Shares as at 31
December 2022 of 3,474,399,271.

1. 0f the 682,198,624 shares, 386,312,000 shares were held through Oriental Tao Limited
and 295,886,624 shares were held through Billion Tao Limited. Easy Key Holdings
Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Xu Shao Chun, which wholly owns Oriental Tao Limited
and Billion Tao Limited. Therefore, Mr. Xu Shao Chun is deemed to be interested in
those 682,198,624 Shares.

2. The 750,000 shares are the awarded shares granted to Mr. Xu Shao Chun and held by
the trustee to the Share Award Scheme — Bank of Communications Trustee Limited.
Details of the awarded shares are set out in the section headed “Share Award Scheme” of
this annual report.

3. The 587,500 shares are the awarded shares granted to Mr. Lin Bo and held by the trustee
to the Share Award Scheme — Bank of Communications Trustee Limited. Details of the
awarded shares are set out in the section headed “Share Award Scheme” of this annual
report.

4, (L) denotes long position.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company had any interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFQ), which will be required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or which will
be required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which will be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ Rights to acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Schemes” above, none of the
Directors or their respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) was granted
by the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, any rights or options to acquire shares or
debentures in the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests
and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures

As at 31 December 2022, as far as the Directors were aware, the following persons (other
than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had interests and short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO and are required to be recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Interests in shares/underlying shares of the Company AT, G RZES
Percentage of
Number of shares/ total number of
underlying shares issued shares
(where appropriate) Capacity (approximate)
B&{n +HRR HERTRE
Name BRER B8 B (@A) k=331 #Es
Easy Key Holdings Limited Easy Key Holdings Limited 682,198,624 (L) Interest of controlled corporation 19.64%
(Note 1) (=) REZERA Rz
Oriental Tao Limited (Note 1) Oriental Tao Limited (Fff 5%1) 386,312,000 (L) Beneficial owner 1.11%
EmEaA
Billion Tao Limited (Note 1) Billion Tao Limited (Fff 5£1) 295,886,624 (L) Beneficial owner 8.51%
EmEE A
JPMorgan Chase & Co. JPMorgan Chase & Co. 29,163,991 (L) Interest of controlled corporation
(Note 2) (F¥3E2) 7,784,650 (S) RIERA Rz Em
225,465,000 (L) Investment manager
1,299,000 (S) wEKE
126,465,198(L)/(P) Approved lending agent
ZEBHREA
889,000 (L) Person having a security interest in shares
AR BRFEDHIA
Sub-total: BE: 381,983,189 (L) 10.99%
9,083,650 (S) 0.26%
126,465,198 (P) 3.63%
The Capital Group Companies, The Capital Group Companies, 196,367,779 (L) Interest of controlled corporation 5.65%
Inc. (Note 3) Inc. (Fff3E3) PR AR s
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Notes:

The percentage of the total issued shares was calculated by the number of the aforesaid interests
or short positions divided by the total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2022 of
3,474,399,271.

1. 0f the 682,198,624 shares, (i) 386,312,000 shares were held by Oriental Tao Limited;

and (ii) 295,886,624 shares were held through Billion Tao Limited, each a company
wholly owned by Easy Key Holdings Limited.

2. According to the disclosure of interest form filed by JPMorgan Chase & Co. on 6
December 2022:

(a) JPMoargan Chase & Co. was deemed to be interested in the shares of the

Wi

FHE AR AR B HITERANE D L TR R ATl A S sk
AENEBSRBRUARATNR-_E-_—_F+-_A=+—80%
OB TR 8RB 3,474,399,271FfT 51 & -

1. 7£682,198,624 3% A% {7+ + (1)386,312,0000% f% 15 H
Oriental Tao Limited (FaEasy Key Holding Limited & & # &)
FEA - (ii) 295,886,624/% i 7 HBillion Tao Limited (3 Easy
Key Holdings Limited2 & B) 4 -

2. BIE—ZF = =% += F7<BmJIPMorgan Chase & Co.{2
RHERS PR

(@  JPMorgan Chase & Cot & 1ER N T~ AR 19 G 12

Company as follows: an

Direct interest Number of

Name of controlled corporation Name of controlling person % interest (Y/N) shares

EZRZEBHERR BRREATHRESER 2HES %% HEERR T 38 S 4E]

China International Fund Management Co., Ltd. JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT (UK) LIMITED 49 Y 2,935,000(L)
=

JPMorgan Asset Management (Taiwan) Limited JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc. 100 Y 1,844,000(L)
=

J.P. Morgan SE J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited 100 Y 4,000(L)
=

J.P. MORGAN MARKETS LIMITED J.P. MORGAN FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS LIMITED 100 Y 8,000(L)
=

J.P. Morgan Securities LLC J.P. Morgan Broker-Dealer Holdings Inc. 100 Y 270,575(L)

270,575(S)
=

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. — LONDON BRANCH  JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association 100 Y 126,465,198(L)
=

JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT (UK) LIMITED JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT INTERNATIONAL 100 Y 6,745,000(L)

LIMITED 1,299,000(S)
=

J.P. Morgan Investment Management Inc. JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. 100 Y 98,479,000(L)
=

JPMorgan Asset Management (Japan) Limited JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc. 100 Y 5,015,000(L)
=

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association JPMorgan Chase & Co. 100 Y 7,026,000(L)
=

JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia Pacific) Limited JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc. 99.99 Y 103,418,000(L)
=
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Direct interest Number of
Name of controlled corporation Name of controlling person % interest (Y/N) shares
ZRZEHERE BREATHRERSEE 2HES%EY% HEESRE T ;378 S 4c|
J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES PLC J.P. MORGAN CAPITAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 100 Y 29,773,416(L)
7,514,075(S)
=
JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT (UK) LIMITED JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT INTERNATIONAL 100 N 2,935,000(L)
LIMITED
o
JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT INTERNATIONAL ~ JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. 100 N 9,680,000(L)
LIMITED 1,299,000(S)
5
JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. JPMorgan Chase Holdings LLC 100 N 218,436,000(L)
1,299,000(S)
=
JPMorgan Chase Holdings LLC JPMorgan Chase & Co. 100 N 218,714,575(L)
1,569,575(S)
o
JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc. JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. 100 N 110,277,000(L)
=
J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association 100 N 29,777,416(L)
7,514,075(S)
=
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association JPMorgan Chase & Co. 100 N 156,242,614(L)
7,514,075(S)
=
J.P. MORGAN FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS LIMITED Bear Stearns Irish Holdings LLC 100 N 8,000(L)
=
Bear Stearns Irish Holdings LLC JPMorgan Chase Holdings LLC 100 N 8,000(L)
o
J.P. Morgan Broker-Dealer Holdings Inc. JPMorgan Chase Holdings LLC 100 N 270,575(L)
270,575(S)
=
J.P. MORGAN CAPITAL HOLDINGS LIMITED J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited 100 N 29,773,416(L)
7,514,075(S)
=

T CFFR
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and (b) details of JPMorgan Chase & Co.’s derivatives interests are as follows:
. Listed derivatives — Cash settled: 238,000 (S)

° Unlisted derivatives — Cash settled: 5,290,000 (L) and 8,575,075 (S)

BAK (b) JPMorgan Chase & Co. 2 T4 RiEZRLAT :

. BT A AR — PAZR 2 22 42238,000 (S)

e 3E E T4 — PAZR € 22 45,290,000

(LA }28,575,075 (S)

3. According to the disclosure of interest form filed by The Capital Group Companies, Inc., 3. WE-_Z-_—_F+=-H=HThe Capital Group
on 3 December 2022, The Capital Group Companies, Inc. was deemed to be interested in Companies, Inc. I Bz XA HEH + The Capital Group
the shares of the Company as follows: Companies, Inc. 4 & 1ERZ AR D EE = - 00T ¢

Direct interest

Name of controlled corporation Name of controlling person % interest (Y/N) Number of shares
BEERR

BREENHEE BREATHRERSEE REESE% (&) ;378 o 4c|

Capital Research and Management Company  The Capital Group Companies, Inc. 100 Y 184,572,779
=

Capital Research and Management Company  The Capital Group Companies, Inc. 100 N 11,795,000
=

Capital Group International, Inc. Capital Research and Management Company 100 N 11,795,000
o

Capital International Sarl Capital Group International, Inc. 100 Y 1,170,000
=

Capital International, Inc. Capital Group International, Inc. 100 Y 10,625,000
=

4. (L) denotes long position, (S) denotes short position and (P) denotes lending pool. 4. (LDETIFE - (EFTAE  URP)ERREE

Public Float NPRBRE

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under
the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period and as at the latest practicable date prior to
the issue of this annual report.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement and Product Promotion
Cooperation Framework Agreement between Kingdee China and
Shenzhen CloudHub

On 31 December 2021, Kingdee China (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and
Shenzhen CloudHub Network Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen CloudHub”), which to the best of
the Directors” knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
is owned as to 9.1286% by the Group through Shenzhen Hongjin Investment Company
Limited and 66.0142% by Diechuang Holdings Limited* (a company owned as to 99%
by Mr. Xu Shao Chun), entered into: (a) the 2022 Strategic Cooperation Framework
Agreement: Shenzhen CloudHub appoints Kingdee China as a distributor for Kingdee
China to purchase its products and services (including but not limited to the PrivateCloud
Products, CloudHub’s Intelligent Collaboration Cloud* (3£ 2 K% 4E1# R ), Bao
Biao Xiu Xiu* (¥R 75), Ecosystem* (4 8&F), CloudHub’s CRM, various Light
App* (E*FE ), data products and other products of CloudHub, etc.) from Shenzhen
CloudHub and further distribution in the PRC (including Hong Kong) (the “Cloud-Hub
Distributorship”). The pricing for the transactions under the CloudHub Distributorship
is determined by reference to the market prices offered to any independent third party
by Shenzhen CloudHub for the distribution of similar products and provision of similar
services. The annual cap for the year ended 31 December 2022 approved by the Board was
RMB100,000,000 and the actual transaction amount was approximately RMB62,832,783;
and (b) the 2022 Product Promotion Cooperation Framework Agreement: Kingdee China
agrees to use its channels and networks to promote the Public Cloud Products of Shenzhen
CloudHub in consideration for a promotion fee payable by Shenzhen CloudHub to Kingdee
China. The annual cap for the year ended 31 December 2022 approved by the Board was
RMB6,000,000 and the actual transaction amount was approximately RMB974,523. The
terms of the two agreements were both one year from 1 January 2022.

As both the 2022 Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement and the 2022 Product
Promotion Cooperation Framework Agreement expired on 31 December 2022 and the
transactions contemplated thereunder shall continue to be entered into on a recurring
basis, on 30 December 2022, Kingdee China and Shenzhen CloudHub entered into
the 2023 strategic cooperation framework agreement and the 2023 product promotion
cooperation framework agreement, pursuant to which the parties agreed to continue the
existing cooperation as disclosed above with each other for a term of one year commencing
from 1 January 2023. The annual caps for the year ending 31 December 2023 approved
by the Board are (a) RMB100,000,000 under the 2023 strategic cooperation framework
agreement; and (b) RMBG6,000,000 under the 2023 product promotion cooperation
framework agreement.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 2 January 2019, 31 December
2019, 2 January 2020, 4 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and 30 December 2022,
respectively, for further details.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) considered that the terms of the above transactions and their
respective annual caps discussed above have been entered into (i) according to the
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and shareholders of the Company as a whole, (i) on normal commercial terms,
and (iii) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the Company’s auditor
to perform certain agreed-upon procedures in respect of the continuing connected
transactions set out above on a sample basis. The auditor has reported their factual
findings on the selected samples based on the agreed procedures to the Board and has
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions set out above have complied with the
requirements under Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in respect of the abovementioned connected transactions. Save as disclosed above,
during the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no other connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions of the Company which are subject to any of the
reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual course of business of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Save as otherwise disclosed in “Continuing Connected Transactions” above, the related
party transactions set out in Note 38 to the financial statements did not fall under the
definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Competing Interests

None of the Directors or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had an
interest in a business, which competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

Management Contracts

No management contracts, othe than the employment contracts, concerning the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the
Reporting Period.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The percentages of sales and purchases for the Reporting Period attributable to the Group’s
major customers and suppliers, respectively, are as follows:
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Sales

- the largest customer 0.61%
- the five largest customers in aggregate 2.49%
Purchases

- the largest supplier 13.19%
- the five largest suppliers in aggregate 43.18%

At no time during the Reporting Period had the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the major customers or
suppliers set out above.

Indemnity of Directors

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to any applicable laws and regulations,
every Director (i.e. the directors from time to time of the Company) shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in
which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. During the year ended
31 December 2022, there was appropriate directors’ and senior officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and senior officers of the Group.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this report, the Group has
complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in the places where the Group operates
in all material respects.

Environmental, Social and Governance

Details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance as well as the Group’s
relationships with its stakeholders during the Reporting Period will be included in the 2022
Environmental, Social and Governance Report published by the Company at the same date
of this report.

Retirement Scheme

Details of the retirement scheme operated by the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out in Note 29 to the financial statements.

Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as the external auditor of the Company for
the year of 2022, and there has been no change in the Company’s auditor in any of the
preceding three years. A resolution for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as
the Company’s auditor will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.
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Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere thanks to all our management
and staff for their dedication during the Reporting Period. Also, | would like to thank our
shareholders for their continuous support.

By order of the Board

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
Chairman

Xu Shao Chun

Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China, 15 March 2023.

This report, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Group consistently promotes good corporate governance, pursuing the five principles
of ensuring the rights and interests of shareholders, abiding by the directives of the
Board and management, promoting full disclosure and transparency, ensuring the equal
treatment of stakeholders, and strengthening internal controls and supervision. The
Company endeavors to enhance its enterprise value, so as to ensure the Company's long-
term and stable development and safeguard the interests of its shareholders. The details of
the corporate governance practices of the Company are set out below.

The Company has applied and complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout
the financial year ended 31 December 2022 except for code provision C.2.1. For details
and reasons for the deviation, please refer to the section headed “Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer”.

Board of Directors
l. The responsibilities of the Board

The Board is the core of corporate governance of the Company. Its major
responsibilities are as follows:

(1) to convene general meetings, report to shareholders and implement the
resolutions of general meetings;

(2)  to review and approve the mid- and long-term strategic plans and
management strategies of the Group;

(3)  to review and approve critical investment and acquisition projects, the
issuance and repurchase of securities, and other plans for financings,
amalgamation, compensation, recruitment and dismissals;

(4)  to review and approve the Group’s budget plans, profit distribution plans
and loss remedy plans;

(5)  to propose amendments to the Articles of Association, and changes in
authorized share capital;

(6)  to approve Directors’ remuneration plans as recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)

and authorized by shareholders;

(7)  to listen to the working report of the Chief Executive Officer and to review
the work of the Chief Executive Officer; and

(8)  toreview and approve incentive schemes of the Company.
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The Board shall empower the senior management of the Company to implement
the decisions of the Board and all members of the senior management of the Group
shall be appointed by the Board. In entrusting management and administrative
functions to the senior management, the Board provides clear instructions
regarding the powers delegated to them, and prior approval of the Board is
required before the senior management makes any key decisions and commitments
on behalf of the Group. The senior management and the Company Secretary will
report to the Board on updates on legal and regulatory developments, business
and market changes and the strategic development of the Group to facilitate the
performance of the Board’s duties. The Board has maintained effective supervision
over the Group’s strategic plans and key policies, management and assessment
of risks, and effective controls over business operations. The members of the
Board and senior management have fully committed to their roles, ensured that the
Group’s development strategies are in line with the changes in the economy and
market, and acted in good faith with a view to furthering the shareholders’ long-
term interests.

Composition of the Board

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report were as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lin Bo (Chief Financial Officer)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Dong Ming Zhu
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Chia Yung (resigned on 30 December 2022)
Mr. Bo Lian Ming (appointed on 30 December 2022)

Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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Throughout the Reporting Period, the number of independent non-executive
Directors exceeded one-third of the Board. The Directors have professional
backgrounds in finance, technology and management, respectively. They
have extensive experience and independent views in their respective areas of
expertise so that they can provide professional advice in respect of the long-term
development of the Company. There are also established mechanisms for the
Directors to seek independent professional advice for them to discharge their duties
and responsibilities, and to ensure independent views and input are available to
the Board and the Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of such
mechanisms annually. The biographies of the Directors are set out in the “Directors
and Senior Management” section on pages 33 to 37 of this annual report.

The term of appointment of each of the Directors (including non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors) is two years. According to the
Articles of Association, each Director shall retire by rotation at least once every
three years and all the retiring Directors are eligible for re-election at the AGM in
that year. At the AGM, three Directors, namely Mr. Xu Shao Chun, Ms. Dong Ming
Zhu and Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang shall retire by rotation and be eligible for re-glection.
Additionally, Mr. Bo Lian Ming, who was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 30 December 2022, shall hold office only until the AGM and
shall also be eligible for re-election at the AGM.

None of the Directors who shall retire and be proposed for re-election has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

As at the date of this annual report, to the best knowledge of the Board and save as
disclosed in this report, there is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship between the members of the Board, the chairman and the chief
executive.
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Board Meetings/General Meeting

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company convened 6 Board megtings
and one AGM. The following table shows the details of the Directors’ attendance:

(Z) ESgglR BREXE

RZBE__F+_A=1T—HILFE £LQ
/\DﬁT/\//\i?;g;% /Aﬁxiﬂiji
g AWEZ HEFEHINET

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HEER, FRRE
Board Meetings AGM

Directors EE EEgER BEBEXE
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) ~ #R A HLEL(EES T FEFR

BREBITE) 6/6 1
Mr. Lin Bo (Chief Financial Officer) WREE(EEMBE) 6/6 1
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Ms. Dang Ming Zhu EE Seann 6/6 0/1
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark BiddlesE 4= 6/6 171
Independent non-executive Directors BIERITES
Mr. Liu Chia Yung (resigned on 30 December 2022) BIREFER T _=F+=A4

=-+HEHE) 5/6 17
Mr. Bo Lian Ming (appointed on 30 December 2022) SBEREER-ZZE__F1+=A

—THEZT) 1/6 0/1
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang EErESRE 6/6 1
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong XinZZ = 6/6 171

Directors were given sufficient notice of Board meetings in accordance with the
Listing Rules and the Articles of Association. Directors were consulted in advance
regarding the agenda of Board meetings. Notices of regular Board meetings were
given to all Directors at least 14 days in advance of the meetings. For all other
Board meetings, reasonable notices were given. The agenda and other relevant,
complete and reliable accompanying materials were sent to the Directors at least
three days before each meeting. Each Director is aware of his/her obligation to
allocate adequate time to deal with the Company’s affairs.

At the meetings of the Board held during the year ended 31 December 2022, the
matters dealt with by the Directors include but are not limited to the following:
formulating the overall development strategy of the Company, considering
and approving the Company’s 2021 annual report and the 2022 interim report,
approving the grant of award shares, approving the continuing connected
transactions and discussing other major matters. The secretary of the Board has
recorded the proceedings of each Board meeting by keeping detailed minutes,
including all decisions made by the Board together with concerns raised and
dissenting views expressed (if any) by the Directors. All minutes are kept by the
secretariat of the Board and any relevant files including the agenda, documents and
minutes are open for any Directors’ inspection.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

RRFHRR EHARRIEA ﬂ%ﬁﬁia?%%%ﬂ%
REZHNEETSERBE - EFTT2HRNFRTR
AAASESTNER - EEQEAE %LDF9F§
HBTATHRXEMAES  MAMEESEH —
RNAEREANE LB - SHEEREMEE - %
BRASZENRGA-RAIBEXERES  SUE
SHHEHAD T RN EEIEARAER

RIB-Z—F+-_A=+—-RLFEARNESS
o BRFZRBANTUTES - 815 - SIEER
AEEHREE  FHMMMAE—T - —FFRE-F
T EhERE  HUERBRMO IR T - HERER
BERXHNHEMBEREIER ERXGWERSZEESS;
RIS HRE - NS BREE - BRESSE
B2 —tIRE - UREBRREZBIRERZE LR
HERWNA)  ERFRLHBHEESNERRT - 6
ERHAREHERE HER  SRREREMBEREX

= o

=]

Annual Report 2022



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELIRSE

Continuous professional development of Directors

To fully comply with the requirements of the Code on the continuous professional
development of Directors, the Company has provided all Directors with documents
and information aiming at developing and refreshing their professional knowledge
and skills, together with other information (including monthly updates) on the
development of the business, operations, activities and corporate governance of
the Company from time to time to assist them to fulfill their responsibilities. Each
of the Directors has been provided with a comprehensive induction when they were
first appointed to ensure that they are fully aware of the business and operations
of the Group, and the responsibilities and obligations of Directors under the
Listing Rules and other rules and regulations. The Company has organized regular
trainings for Directors regarding their roles, functions and duties to assist them
in understanding their responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other related
laws and regulations through real case studies; and to ensure the Directors are
timely and completely informed of the operations of the Company. Pursuant to
the requirements of the Code, all Directors should provide their training records
to the Company. According to the training records provided by the Directors, the
trainings attended by them during the Reporting Period are summarized as follows:

(m) EEZB/EEXRRR

(1)

REATABMNBSEERRRIATE - AAF
EREEHPIHRRARFMEERENEE
BHREEFEEXZEZEEMH - RABAX
SEXBRELCNAERE ARREXED
REFEEREHER 2EAME - UBBHEE
BITHRE - AARMEESFONEBERER
ERFESE2E ARSI - URRRSERAE
BEBMEE  RESHBLETRUREES
FARENEEIRBEBRARNEERE - A2
AMEMNARTIESRAEN LT ARESEY
AR BERBEZE  BREERMEE
EFEEM EMRASRELEEARTNES
EERNBE  IRHHARRBEEELRES
EEAE o RIBFAIZ 2R AEEEARNER
ARRMIRER B 2Rk - IRBESIEMH
o8k EERHERERZHEISREE T

Training on Corporate
Governance, Regulatory
Developments and other

Relevant Topics
LEEL EERER
Director ¢ H fth 48 FR £ RE I
Executive Directors BITESE
Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) A& E(EF ST EREFHITE) v/
Mr. Lin Bo (Chief Financial Officer) WREE(EFEMBE) 4
Non-executive Directors FRITES
Ms. Dong Ming Zhu Ell e v
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddlet 4 v
Independent non-executive Directors BIUFRTES
Mr. Liu Chia Yung (resigned on 30 December 2022) BIREFRER_ZE_F+=4 v/
=+HEHE)
Mr. Bo Lian Ming (appointed on 30 December 2022) SEEREER-ZZE__F1+=A v/
—THEZM
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang BEREEE v
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong XinZz = v

When Directors are asked to express their views on the Company’s connected
transactions (if any), incentive schemes, internal controls, etc., the Company
retains auditors, financial advisers and/or lawyers and other relevant independent
professionals to provide independent professional advice to assist the Directors in
fulfilling their responsibilities.
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(3)  With regard to insurance coverage in respect of possible legal actions against the
Directors when performing their duties, the Board had entered into a “Liability
Insurance Contract of Directors, Supervisors and Officers” with Huatai Property &
Casualty Insurance Co. Ltd..

Board Committees

The Board has set up four specialized committees, namely the audit committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the nomination committee and the corporate governance
and strategy committee to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The
compositions of these committees are set out below. The meeting procedures of the
committees follow the statutory procedures and the respective Terms of Reference and
Modus Operandi.

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2022, the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
comprised two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang
(Chairman) and Mr. Bo Lian Ming, and one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Gary Clark
Biddle.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are as follows:

(1) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor, approving the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors, considering any questions of resignation
or dismissal of the auditors, reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s
independence, the objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee shall discuss with the
external auditor the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before
the audit commences, and act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company'’s relations with the auditor;

(2)  developing and implementing policies on engaging an external auditor to supply
non-audit services, and identifying and making recommendations on any matters
where action or improvement is needed;

(3)  meeting with the Company’s auditors at least twice a year to review and monitor
the completeness of the Company’s financial statements and annual reports and
accounts, half-year reports and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports,
continuing connected transactions announcements and/or circulars, and reviewing
significant financial reporting judgements contained in them;

(4)  reviewing the management letter to the management issued by the auditor, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about the accounting
records, financial accounts or systems of control and management’s response, and
ensuring that the Board responds promptly to the matters raised by the external
auditor in the management letter;
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(10)

considering any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in the reports and accounts;

reviewing the Company’s financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems, the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices, and
discussing the risk management and internal control systems with management to
ensure that management has performed its duty to have effective systems;

considering major investigation findings on risk management and internal control
matters;

performing the internal audit function by ensuring co-ordination between the
internal and external auditors, and by ensuring that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to
review and monitor its effectiveness;

reporting to the Board on the matters in the provisions of the Code; and
reviewing arrangements employees of the Company can use, in confidence, to

raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control
or other matters.

Please refer to the Terms of Reference and Modus Operandi of the Audit Committee
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company for further details on
the roles and functions of the Audit Committee.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee held three
meetings, at which the Audit Committee:

(1)

reviewed the Company’s annual financial report and internal control report for the
year 2021, and submitted them to the Board for approval;

discussed the Company’s internal control and risk management systems and
reviewed the Company’s interim financial report of 2022, and submitted it to the
Board for approval;

communicated with the auditor regarding the 2022 annual audit work and audit
plans; and

reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and internal audit function, including financial, operational
and compliance controls, with the senior management and the auditors of the
Company.
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Details of attendance at the Audit Committee meetings during the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out below:

BHE—

T HF+ A+ HEEERKEZESRSE

HEFFIRESIT -

2022 Attendance/

Number of Meetings

e

Audit Committee Members BEMRA HEFERRE

Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang (chairman) BE S (ER) 3/3

Mr. Liu Chia Yung (resigned on 30 December 2022) BREXER_ZE=-__F+=A 3/3

=+ HB&T

Mr. Bo Lian Ming (appointed on 30 December 2022) BEREERZE_F+=A 0/0
= THEZT

Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddlet 4 3/3

The Audit Committee, having reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems, was satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the
Company’s internal audit function.

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee comprised two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Bo Lian Ming (appointed as chairman on 30 December
2022) and Ms. Katherine Rong Xin, and one executive Director, namely Mr. Xu Shao Chun.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(1) making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policies, structures and
packages revolving around remuneration, long-term incentives and performance
management of the Directors and senior management and on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing such policies and structures,
and the principles and criteria for remuneration and long-term incentive models,
implementing such policies and reviewing the same periodically;

(2)  as authorized by the Board, drawing up proposals for and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of Directors, and the salary of
individual executive Directors and senior management (i.e. the model disclosed in
code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code was adopted);

(3)  reviewing and assessing the annual performance of Directors and senior
management, and reviewing and approving their remuneration, by reference to the
corporate goals and objectives set up by the Board;

(4)  drawing up and reviewing proposals for remuneration and making
recommendations to the Board on the adjustment of such remuneration from
time to time, by reference to the Company’s development strategies and goals as
approved by the Board and the operating strategies as adjusted by the Board from
time to time;
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(5)  considering salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitments and the
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

(6)  reviewing and ensuring that the appointment and termination terms for the
Directors and senior management are fair;

(7)  reviewing and approving compensation arrangements (if any) relating to any loss
or termination of office or appointment, or dismissal or removal for misconduct
in respect of executive Directors and senior management to ensure that they
are consistent with their contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

(8)  ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration, and that the remuneration of a non-executive Director who
is a member of the Remuneration Committee shall be determined by the other
members of the Remuneration Committee; and

(9)  reviewing and approving incentive schemes of the Company.

Please refer to the Terms of Reference and Modus Operandi of the Remuneration
Committee published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company for further
details on the principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee held two
meetings to review the performance, and remuneration policy and package of Directors and
senior management, discuss the grant of awarded shares pursuant to the Company’s share
award scheme, and submit proposals to the Board.
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Details of attendance at the Remuneration Committee meetings during the year ended 31 = 3
December 2022 are set out below: HEEEERS AT -
2022 Attendance/
Number of Meetings
—E-F
Remuneration Committee Members 24=F:£4 HEFERRE
Mr. Liu Chia Yung (Chairman) (resigned on 30 December 2022) BIRFEFLEER) RZZF 2/2
+ZA=1+AHET
Mr. Xu Shao Chun "mAOFLE 2/2
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong XinZZ &= 2/2
Mr. Bo Lian Ming (appointed as chairman on 30 December 2022) BEPALER-_ZE-__F+=8 0/0
=T+ HEZRAERE)
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Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2022, the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) comprised one executive Director, namely Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman),
and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Kathering Rong Xin and Mr. Bo
Lian Ming.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity palicy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) since
August 2013. The policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board which
will include and make good use of the differences in skills, backgrounds and industry
experience, gender, knowledge and other qualities of the members of the Board. These
differences will be considered in determining the optimum composition of the Board and
all Board appointments will be based on merit, having due regard to the overall effective
functioning of the Board as a whole. The Company believes that diversity can strengthen
the performance of the Board, promote effective decision-making and better corporate
governance and monitoring. The Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation
of this policy and reports to the Board on the achievement of the measurable objectives for
achieving diversity under this policy. All Board appointments are made on a merit basis
with due regard to the benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diversity considerations, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills
and knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made based on the merits and contributions
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. At present, two of the seven members
of the Board are women, which improves the gender diversity of the Board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy this year and was
satisfied that the diversity of the Board was optimal.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had 12,036 full-time employees, of
which 7,789 were male and 4,247 were female. The gender ratio in the workforce (including
senior management) was approximately 1 female to 1.83 male. The Company is aiming
to achieve a more balanced gender ratio in the workforce and is conscious of maintaining
a Board made up with INEDs as the majority, together with an appropriate level of female
members on the Board. While conscious efforts are being taken by the Company to fulfil
its pledges, all Board appointments will be made on a merit basis and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

The Board will continue to take opportunities to increase the proportion of female members
over time as and when suitable candidates are identified and the Nomination Committee
and the Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy on an annual basis to ensure its continued effectiveness. The Group will also ensure
that there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid- to senior-level and engage more
resources in career development and training female staff with the aim of promoting them
to the senior management or directorship of the Company; and will continue to apply the
principle of appointments based on merits with reference to the Board Diversity Policy as a
whole.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven Directors, which includes
two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. Details of the current members of the Board are set out as follows:

ARERER  EFEALRES  BEMEBANTE
T MEFNTEE  —BERTEFT -EFE
RERBRFBNT

Gender Male Female

TR 5 =z

5 2

Nationality American Chinese

EEE E e thE

2 5

Age group 50-59 60-69 70-79
FEe

5 1 1

Length of service of independent non-executive Directors 5 years or below 6-10 years Over 10 years

BIABITEERBER <5% 6-10%F KR10E

3 0 0

Nomination Policy

The nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) was adopted by the Company on 16
March 2012.

The Company embraces high transparency in the Board member selection process. The
Nomination Policy aims to ensure the Board maintains a balance of skills, experience and
a diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. The
Nomination Committee has been delegated the responsibility of identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships. The Board is ultimately
responsible for the selection and appointment of new Directors.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(1) formulating a nomination policy for the identification, selection and nomination of
candidates for the role of Director for the Board’s consideration and implementing
and reviewing the Nomination Policy;

(2)  formulating, reviewing and updating, as appropriate, the Board Diversity Policy for
the Board's approval having due regard to the requirements of the Listing Rules,
reviewing and updating the objectives that the Board has set for implementing such
policy, and monitoring the progress made;

(3)  reviewing the structure, size, composition and the balance of skills, knowledge,
experience, length of service and diversity (including as to gender and ethnicity)
of the Board and other factors which may be relevant to its effectiveness at least
annually;
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identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Directors, and selecting or
making recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships, having due regard to the Board Diversity Policy and composition
profile requirements and ensuring that such individuals will be considered on
merit and against objective criteria and have the time and ability to contribute to the
Board;

making recommendations to the Board with regard to its composition profile
including, where appropriate, preparing a description of the capabilities required
for any particular appointment and on any proposed changes to the Board to
implement the Company’s corporate objectives and strategy;

assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors including
any conflict which a Director may have with the interests of the Group and
reviewing the independent non-executive Directors’ annual confirmations on
their independence; and making disclosures of its review results in the corporate
governance report in the annual report of the Company;

reviewing annually the time commitment required from a Director (especially
independent non-executive Directors) to perform his or her responsibilities;

giving full consideration and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors
and reviewing such plan periodically;

developing the procedures for the performance evaluation of the Board and the
committees of the Board, evaluating the performance of the Nomination Committee
following such procedure and reviewing these terms of reference to ensure that the
Nomination Committee is operating at its maximum effectiveness;

recommending candidates to the Board to fill vacancies or new positions on the
committees of the Board as necessary or desirable; and

reviewing the feedback in relation to the role and effectiveness of the committees
of the Board arising from the evaluation of the Board and/or any committees of the
Board and making recommendations of any changes.

Please refer to the Terms of Reference and Modus Operandi of the Nomination Committee
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company for further details on
the roles and functions of the Nomination Committee.
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During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee held
two meetings, during which the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size,
composition and the balance of skills, knowledge, experience, length of service and
diversity of the Board, as well as the time commitment required from a Director (especially
independent non-executive Directors) to perform his or her responsibilities, and disclosed
the policy adopted for the nomination of Directors, including the nomination procedures
and the process, and made recommendations to the Board on the nomination of Mr.
Bo Lian Ming as an independent non-executive Director. The criteria of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship adopted by the Nomination Committee include
considerations of the qualifications and skills of such candidates, coupled with the goals
and development strategy of the Company.

Details of attendance at the Nomination Committee meetings during the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out below:
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HEREEETaT

Year 2022 Attendance/
Number of Meetings
Nomination Committee Members 34=F £ HEFERRE
Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman) BRAOBFTLE(ERE) 2/2
Mr. Liu Chia Yung (resigned on 30 December 2022) BREXER_E-__F+=A 1/2
=+ HEHD)
Mr. Bo Lian Ming (appointed on 30 December 2022) BEPALER_ZE-__F+=4 0/0
—+HEZRD
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong XinZZ = 22
Corporate Governance and Strategy Committee CEEIREREZAY

As at 31 December 2022, the corporate governance and strategy committee of the
Company (the “Strategy Committee”) comprised two executive Directors, namely Mr. Xu
Shao Chun (Chairman) and Mr. Lin Bo, one non-executive Director, namely Ms. Dong
Ming Zhu, and one independent non-executive Director, namely Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang.

The main responsibilities of the Strategy Committee set out in the rules of the Board are as

follows:

(1) considering and formulating the mid- and long-term strategies of the Company;

(2)  assessing the effects of the implementation of the Company’s strategies;

(3)  making recommendations on critical issues prescribed in the Articles of Association
and other issues requiring approval from the Board, including those related to

investments, financings, etc.; and

(4)  performing the duties in relation to the compliance with code provision A.2.1 of the
Code.

During the year under review, the Strategy Committee had reviewed and performed the
corporate governance duties as mentioned in (1)-(4) above.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Xu Shao Chun assumed the roles of both the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company which deviated from code provision C.2.1 of
the Code which specifies that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The Board considers that
Mr. Xu Shao Chun, as one of the main founders of the Group, has abundant knowledge of
the IT industry and unique strategic perspectives. The Board beligves that he can lead the
Group to formulate effective strategies and react promptly to market changes. His continual
service in both roles is beneficial to the stable and healthy development of the Company.
However, the Board will review and make appropriate changes when necessary in order to
enhance the level of corporate governance.

Adoption of Code of Conduct Regarding Director’s
Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Code of Conduct”) regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the
Model Code. The Company, having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, confirms
that the Directors have complied with the Code of Conduct and the Madel Code throughout
the accounting period covered by this annual report. The Code of Conduct and the Model
Code are also applicable to other specified senior management of the Company.

The details relating to the securities of the Company held by the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Directors” and Chief Executive’s Interests or Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares or Debentures” of the “Report of Directors” on pages 50 to 52 of this
annual report.

Whistleblowing Policy

The whistleblowing policy has been put in place for all employees and those who have
business dealings with the Group (including customers and suppliers) to deal with
concerns related to fraudulent or unethical acts or non-compliances with laws and the
Group’s policies that have or could have significant adverse financial, legal or reputational
impact on the Group. They may raise concerns about the possible improprieties in any
matters related to the Group, in person or in writing to the company secretary of the
Company who shall report to the chairman of the Audit Committee in confidence and
anonymity. The chairman of the Audit Committee shall then determine the appropriate
course of action to pursue, with power to delegate, with respect to the report.

Anti-Corruption Policy

The Group has formulated its own anti-corruption policy to ensure the Directors and
employees within the Group comply with the Hong Kong Prevention of Bribery Ordinance,
the Criminal Law of the PRC, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC and the Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the PRC, where applicable. The policy sets out integrity and
conduct requirements and policies or controls in place which apply to all Directors and
employees of the Group at all levels, and external parties doing business with the Group
and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group (e.g., agents,
consultants and contractors). The policy is reviewed from time to time to ensure that it
remains appropriate.
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Internal Control and Risk Management

1.  Risk Management and Internal Control Governance Framework

The Group has an internal audit function which conducts reviews on the adequacy
and effectiveness of its risk management and internal control systems. The
Board is responsible for reviewing the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems annually and will take necessary and appropriate measures to
maintain such system and control the effect of risk management for the purpose
of safeguarding shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets. The Audit
Committee is responsible for evaluating and monitoring the risk level borne by the
Group, the design and operation effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems, and reporting to the Board. The management has specially
established an internal audit department, which is responsible for supervising
and auditing the Company's risk management and internal control systems and
business operations and using internal audit procedures to conduct independent
assessments to ensure that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal monitoring systems. At the same time,
business organization and functional operation departments identify, assess and
handle the risks in their respective departments according to their duties and
carry out risk management procedures and internal control measures within their
respective business and functional operation scopes, and the management reports
to the Board. Such systems are designed for operational management, cannot
completely eliminate the risk of possible failure to achieve business objectives, and
provide only reasonable, but not exclusive, assurance against significant failure

and loss.

The Company has appointed personnel to supervise the Company's continuous
compliance with relevant Chinese laws and regulations. In addition, we continue to
provide training courses to Directors, senior management and relevant employees

to actively identify any problems related to any potential non-compliance.

2.  Risk Management

The Company has been committed to continuously improving the risk management
system, including its structure, process and culture, and ensuring the long-term
growth and sustainable development of the Company's business by improving the

Company's risk management ability.

2.1 Risk Management Procedure

The Company has designed its major risk management criteria, including risk

identification, risk assessment, risk response and risk control and reporting:

° Risk identification: The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control and risk management systems each year and will
urge all business units and functional departments to identify the internal

and external risks that may exist during the course of operation;

° Risk assessment: All business units and functional departments must assess
the possibility of the occurrence of identified risks and the extent of their

impact and screen out major risks;
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° Risk response: The risk responsibility department properly uses risk
avoidance, reduction, sharing or tolerance measures to draw up a risk
response scheme according to identified major risks and the Group’s risk
tolerance, so that the Group can reasonably allocate resources for risk
response and reduce its overall risk level to an acceptable level;

° Risk control and reporting: The Group’s risks are controlled and reported
through the comprehensive use of risk pre-warning indicators, internal
audits and regular risk summary reports.

Internal Control

The Company has designed an internal control system according to the Group's
business management features and has established an internal audit department
that is responsible for internal controls, conducting risk-oriented internal control
gvaluations with respect to daily fund management, financial report management,
purchase and asset management, business operations and the flow of income on
an annual basis and to follow up with the completion of any rectification measures
in respect of internal controls on a regular basis. The management has reviewed
and assessed the effectiveness of the Group’s systems for risk management
and internal control and such review covered financial monitoring, operation
monitoring, compliance control and other major monitoring and risk management
functions. The Board has received a confirmation from the management that the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems were effective and adequate.

Response to Major Risks

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group audited and assessed the
Company’s risk according to the enterprise’s risk management framework and
finalized measures for major risk response and control to prevent or reduce the
possibility of the occurrence of any major risk to the Company.

The Company has steadily developed its operational business in the past year. Due
to the fierce market competition of the industry, the Company’s market competition
in relation to key customers and cloud services may be intensified and customers
may continue to change their preferences and have a higher expectation of cloud
services. The marketing costs of the Company’s cloud services remain high and
the launch of a new business is faced with inherent market risks. At the same time, as
the Company’s brand influence grows, its intellectual property rights are infringed
more frequently and infringers conceal or destroy tort evidence so that it becomes
more difficult for the Company to safeguard its intellectual property rights. At the
same time, with the promulgation of the Data Security Law, Personal Information
Protection Law and relevant administrative regulations, rules and norms, the
state's supervision of Internet platform enterprises has become increasingly strict,
and the Company also faces increasingly strict compliance requirements and
legal liabilities in terms of network security, data and privacy protection, unfair
competition, intellectual property rights and so on.
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In 2022, the spread of the new strain of Coronavirus (2019-nCoV) situation
remained severe in China. The National Health Commission of the PRC had
classified the new strain of the virus as a second-level infectious disease and
declared it will take first-level prevention and control measures. In the face of
these significant risks, the Company took appropriate and reasonable measures
to monitor and prevent such risks, including formulating epidemic prevention
and control mechanisms, issuing early warnings, completely cooperating with the
national and local governments, informing and training employees, disinfecting
workplaces and public areas, collecting employees’ health-related information to
prevent the spread of coronavirus, and strictly complying with national and local
government’s relevant instructions and notices.

During the period of the epidemic, the Company continued to conduct its business
by way of mobile officing, introducing video broadcast training by invited experts,
video/voice conferences, online purchases, platform management and cloud
management and services to reduce the impact of the epidemic on employees’
work, continuing to offer efficient and innovative solutions to help more enterprises
solve mobile officing, management, financial management, personnel management
and industrial transformation problems, rather than being stagnated during the
course of the epidemic striking.

In order to respond to possible operational risks and guarantee the healthy and
sustained development of the operational business, the Company (i) has formed a
cloud service development framework based on mutually synergetic development
by optimizing and adjusting its strategic organization; (ii) has allocated a lot of
resources to research and develop new technologies and enhance product value;
(iii) has encouraged its employees to conduct constant product innovation and
optimize customer experience; (iv) has improved the ecological chain of customer
service; and (v) has committed to creating a very competitive cloud platform. In
order to reduce the marketing risk of new business, the Company has established a
major marketing review procedure to strictly review marketing schemes, reasonably
control promotional costs and budget, conduct internal control over promotional
effect and decrease the operational risk caused by marketing. To strengthen the
protection of its intellectual property rights, the Company has enhanced the entire
staff's consciousness of such protection through legal advocacy and training, has
further reinforced the market monitoring for the protection of intellectual property
rights and has preserved and notarized tort evidence to prevent its intellectual
property rights from being infringed. The Company has set up special departments
and specialist teams, as well as engaged external professional consultants to work
closely with management to keep track of changes in relevant laws and regulations,
and take appropriate actions or measures to ensure the Company is in compliance
with such applicable laws and regulations. The Company has taken practical
measures and invested a lot of resources in many aspects and efforts to ensure
compliance with regulatory requirements.
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3. Inside Information and connected transactions

With respect to the procedure and internal control measures for handling and
disclosing inside information, the Company understands its liabilities under the
Listing Rules and the SFO and the major principle that any inside information must
be announced on a timely basis. The Company has formed comprehensive and
proper procedures for internal processing and the announcement of information
and comprehensive and proper internal control measures according to the
Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information as promulgated by the Securities
and Futures Commission, so as to disclose relevant information to its shareholders
and the regulator in a timely, accurate and appropriate manner.

The Company is committed to strengthening the internal promotion and education
of its internal controls relating to connected transactions and the development of
a proper internal control system. During the Reporting Period, the Company has
further standardized the Group’s Connected Transactions standard management
system for the internal control through pre-transaction reporting, information
disclosure, sustained continuous monitoring of transactions and regular exchange
meetings as well as mutual cooperation of the Company’s departments, improving
the scientificity, standardization and effectiveness of the Company’s management
and operations, and enhanced the Company’s risk prevention ability.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board, after reviewing the
effectiveness of the Company's risk management and internal control systems,
considered that such systems were adequate and effective, and the Company had
complied with the code provisions relating to internal controls under the Code
and had not discovered any material matter that may affect the Group’s financial,
operational and compliance control and risk management functions.

Investor Relations

The Company is committed to maintaining good relations with investors. The Company
has set up a specialized department with staff to attend to investor relations affairs. The
Company actively participates in various investor forums physically or via conference
calls, provides investors with the information necessary for them to form their views on
the Company’s performance and reports investors’ feedback to management in a timely
manner in order to improve operations and the corporate governance of the Company. To
promote transparency, the Company has announced its operational performance results
to shareholders and other stakeholders. These disclosures include: (1) publishing interim
and annual reports; (2) making press releases; (3) meeting regularly with investors; (4)
publishing analysts’ reports on the Company; and (5) conducting market consultations.

The Company firmly believes that increased transparency in the capital market will improve
corporate governance and will be beneficial to the long-term development of the Company.
The Company welcomes suggestions from investors and shareholders in relation to
the development of the Company to the Company’s investor relations team via email or
telephone.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures and Rights for Shareholders to Convene Extraordinary
General Meetings

The shareholders’ rights are set out in the Articles of Association. Pursuant to Article 72 of
the Articles of Association, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary
general meeting. General meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any
two or more members of the Company deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the
registered office, specifying the objects of the meetings and signed by the requisitionists,
provided that such requisitionists hold as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s)
themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights, may
convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) in convening the meeting as a
result of the failure of the Board to convene the meeting shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication policy (the “Shareholders’
Communication Policy”), whereby any inquiry is welcome to be presented to the Board
by shareholders and any proposal relating to the business, strategy and management of
the Company is welcome to be presented at general meeting for review and discussion.
Shareholders’ inquiries and relevant proposals to the Board can be submitted in written
form to the Company Secretary and will be dealt with by the Chief Executive Officer or the
chairman of the relevant board committees or other senior management members. The
Board reviews the Shareholders’” Communication Policy on a regular basis, and upon
its review during the Reporting Period based on the communications received from the
shareholders of the Company, determined the implementation and effectiveness of such
policy was satisfactory.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Send Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders of the Company may send written enquiries to the Company for the attention
of the Company Secretary and the detailed information is stated below:

Address: 25A, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2845 9292
Email: simonsiu@sfks.com.hk

Putting forward Proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders of the Company shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary at its principal place of business in Hong Kong at 25A, United Centre,
95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of the
shareholder of the Company, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she intends to put
forward at a shareholders’ meeting of the Company regarding any specified transaction/
business and its supporting documents.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company held the annual general meeting
on 18 May 2022. All shareholders were given at least 21 days’ notice for such annual
general meeting. The chairman of the Board, executive Directors and the auditor attended
such annual general meeting to communicate with shareholders and answer questions
from shareholders.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, all resolutions of the general meetings should be voted on
by poll on the basis that one vote is attached to one share (except where the chairman,
in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or
administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands), and the poll results would be
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.kingdee.com).

Amendments to the Articles of Association

During the Reporting Period, no amendment had been made to the Articles of Association.
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External Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as the external auditor of the Company for the year
of 2022, and there has been no change in the Company’s auditor in any of the preceding
three years. During the year ended 31 December 2022, PricewaterhouseCoopers provided
audit services to the Group, the remuneration paid/payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers was
RMB3,670,000 for audit services, and RMB374,000 for non-audit services, which included
financial due diligence and strategic consultation services for the Group. A resolution for
the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

The Board is responsible for ensuring the appropriate preparation of accounts, and the
accuracy, fairness and comprehensiveness of the financial statements of the Company. The
statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’'s Report” section on pages 82 to 88 of this annual report.

Company Secretary

The Company engages an external service provider to provide company secretary services,
and Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon being the main contact person of the external service provider,
has been appointed as the Company Secretary, and Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon has complied
with the 15 hours training requirement. The Company Secretary may contact Ms. Yi Wei,
the Board secretary of the Company pursuant to code provision F(a) of the Code.

Improving Corporate Governance

The Company will continue to regularly review its corporate governance measures
and practices to ensure that they are on par with the corporate governance standards
of international corporations and in light of the changing regulatory requirements and
investors’ needs. This will also help in the long term to continuously develop the Company
and enhance its corporate value.

Appreciation

The Board would like to express its sincere appreciation to its shareholders, customers,
suppliers and bankers for their continued support to the Group. The Board also wishes to
thank the Group’s management and staff for achieving remarkable progress in the Group’s
business and their dedication and commitment to improving the Group’s management.

On behalf of the Board

KINGDEE INTERNATIONAL SOFTWARE GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Chairman

Xu Shao Chun

Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China, 15 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of Kingdee International Software Group Company

Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 89
to 212, comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

82 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

BRpkiE
BB S
HSRERRARERRQFRE

(R EHSLMA LA EIR A F])

R

BHCFHHAR
SHREBRRTEEERARUATEBERR]) RE
MR R A T i B R E )5S =128 4R
BEB®mE - B2

o RIE_HFHA=t+—BHEAMBEIR
% -

s  HEZAULFENSAMNERX -

i
3
1
m
=
-
i
Sir
op
K
)
==
Bk
it

s HEZRAULFERAHASRERK

s  HAMBHEME  BERIESTERREM
FREEER -

BEfMmER

BMRA - ZEFREMHREDREBE(BERYBHRE
HEADEEMPEHRK T EEER T - —F+—
A=t—BNERaMBIAREREZR FFENR
AUBRAMGEARENE YD EREEB(RRME
f51) B4 BE A E & At

Annual Report 2022



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB ET R

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”").
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

° Recognition of ERP and cloud implementation revenue

o Impairment assessment of goodwill

BEROER

AR RB(EREA D E TR - RAVEZFE
AT AENEECEARS [ X BREREAREVTE
BERAFENRTIRD P IEE— SR -

BPIRE - HPIPESHERTE
WFE]E’\J%EJME?ET/\%W o

BERETEEER

L RTA

REEF S MBEERENEEGRAN(ERE

ST 28T Al (B2 BB M RE)) UA T 78
ME@FA - RMBINERE  YEETEET
Bl LB B AT

BB ER

RRE FHREREBERMAINBERAE - RASYHAHR
CMBRRNEIRRERNFTIR - GLFHELER
PMETEBEAVBRER R AE REITRIEN -
BT EHELFREHEBFNESR -

BPIEERT T RR RS E FEBRT -
. ERP K E &

B A B EERR

o EERBERRHY

CTOCFFH SEEMBAEEERAT 83



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B RHERE
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter ~ ER@BHEE EEHPNAESRERELER
Recognition of ERP and cloud implementation revenue ERPREE MM A BIRERR

Refer to Notes 2.25(b), 4.1(b) and 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue from ERP and cloud implementation
contracts recognised for the year ended 31 December
2022 amounted to approximately RMB1,439,746,000
which represented approximately 29.6% of total
Tevenue.

Revenue of ERP and cloud implementation contracts
is recognised over the period of the contracts by
reference to the progress of work performed, which
is established according to the value of fforts put in
gach task (measured by standard man days for each
task) over total value of efforts of the implementation
project with support by progress reports acknowledged
by the customers. The corresponding implementation
costs are recognised as incurred under cost of sales.

We focus on this area due to the significance of
ERP and cloud implementation revenue to the
consolidated financial statements and the significant
judgments and estimates made by management in
determining the progress of work performed, which
are subject to high degree of estimation uncertainty.
The inherent risk in relation to the recognition of ERP
and cloud implementation revenue is considered
significant due to uncertainty of significant
assumptions used.

We have performed the following procedures to address this key audit
mater:

Understood, evaluated and tested the key controls over revenue
recognition of ERP and cloud implementation contracts and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and other inherent risk factors.

Understood, evaluated and tested the IT general controls and IT
application controls over the system where the information of the ERP
and cloud implementation contracts are recorded and maintained.

Selected ERP and cloud implementation contracts, on a sample basis,
and performed the following audit procedures:

(i) Agreed the key contract information (contract price, payment
terms and list of work tasks with standard man days for each task
ic.) to the relevant contracts;

(i) Agreed the progress of work performed recorded by management
o the position set out in the progress reports acknowledged by
the customers;

(iif) Obtained confirmations from customers in respect of the
progress of work performed and compared such to the progress
reports used by management in estimating the progress of work
performed:; and

(iv) Checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculations of the
progress of work performed and the revenue recognised based on
that.

We found the significant judgments and estimates applied in
determining the progress of work performed were supported by the
evidence we obtained.
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B AR E
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter ~ BRSBEHEE EEHPNAERRRELER
Impairment assessment of goodwill HERETE

Refer to Notes 2.9(a), 2.10, 4.1(d) and 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had fotal cost
of goodwill of RMB258,657,000 which was arisen
from the acquisitions of Shanghai Guanyi Cloud
Computing Software Co., Lid. (*“Guanyi") in 2016
and Beijing Kingdee Yunji Technology Co., Lid.
(“Yunji") in 2021. As at 31 December 2022, an
accumulated impairment of RMB54,068,000 has
been recognised, and no impairment charge was
made during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Management engaged an independent valuer to
assist them in carrying out the goodwill impaiment
assessment. For the purpose of assessing
impairment, the Group considered that each of
Guanyi and Yunji s a separate group of cash-
generated-units (the “CGU") and the goodwill is
allocated to the related CGU. Management assessed
the impairment of goodwill by determining the
recoverable amount of the CGU, representing the
higher of its fair value less cost of disposal and
value-in-use which is calculated using cash flow
forecasts based on the financial budgets approved by
management. The goodwill impairment assessment
involves significant judgments and estimates which
include the adoption of appropriate valuation method
and the use of key assumptions (mainly revenue
growth rate and earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation (‘EBITDA") margin
(uring the forecast period, terminal growth rate and
pre-tax discount rate).

We focus on this area due to that the goodwill
impairment assessment involves significant
judgments and estimates, which are subject to high
(egree of estimation uncertainty. The inherent risk
in relation to the goodwill impairment assessment

We have performed the following procedures to address this key audit
mater:

(i) Understood, evaluated and tested management's key controls in
relation to the goodwill impairment assessment and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the degree
0f estimation uncertainty and other inherent risk factors;

(i) Assessed the appropriateness of the Group's identification of
CGU and allocation of goodwill based on the Group's accounting
policies and our understanding of the Group's business;

(iif) Assessed the competency, capabilities and objectivity of the
external valuer engaged by the Group;

(iv) Obtained the valuation report of goodwill impairment and
engaged our in-house valuation experts to assess the
appropriateness of valuation method adopted by management and
the reasonableness of pre-tax discount rate used by management;

(v) Challenged and assessed the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the assessment with the involvement of our
in-house valuation experts. For revenue growth rate and EBITDA
margin during the forecast period, we compared them with the
historical data and the approved financial budgets with reference
o market statistics and orders secured; for terminal growth rate,
we assessed it with reference to the long-term expected inflation
rate based on our independent research;

(vi

Performed a retrospective review by comparing the prior year's
cash flow forecasts with the current year's results to assess the
reliability and historical accuracy of management's prior year's
cash flow forecasts;

(vil) Evaluated the reasonableness of sensitivity analysis performed by
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit Committee for
the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit
gvidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Wong
Fu Shing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 15 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SHMBRAR

As at 31 December

®+=A=+—AH
2022 2021
—E-= —T—
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
st AR®TT AREFT
Assets gE
Non-current assets EREDEE
Property, plant and equipment TEE « TLRE 6 1,376,694 1,044,880
Right-of-use assets FREEE 7 156,165 208,274
Intangible assets B EE 8 1,192,375 1,037,366
Investment properties KEMYE 9 1,734,079 1,538,286
Investments in associates BB E 10 421,593 393,003
Deferred income tax assets FEFTSHEE 23 38,826 34,627
Financial assets at fair value NAREBEFTEAEY
through profit or loss FFABERNEREE 12 931,164 957,883
Financial assets at fair value through other AR EETE B EZE
comprehensive income FFAEMSRE N EN S REE 4,463 -
Trade and other receivables A BR 3 B EoAth R MR 14 104,051 53,156
Loans to third parties BTFE=FER 14 63,081 23,470
Long-term bank deposits RESRITER 16 1,725,000 1,325,000
7,747,491 6,615,945
Current assets mEEE
Inventories FE 15 44,871 30,418
Trade and other receivables JFEE LB AR e L A R MR 14 293,030 391,966
Loans to third parties BTEZFER 14 268,274 305,383
Contract assets EREE 5 346,542 322,974
Contract obtaining costs & RIESEAR 5 393,871 248,263
Financial assets at fair value through LAnBETEEEES
profit or loss FPABEMERIEE 12 66,255 747,665
Derivative financial instruments PTHEeRT A 13 - 2,145
Pledged bank deposits BERIRTER 16 2,809 5,558
Short-term bank deposits HRIRITIERX 16 625,559 370,000
Cash and cash equivalents B MREEEY 16 1,942,735 2,046,815
3,983,946 4471187
Total assets HEE 11,731,437 11,087,132
Liabilities &f"
Non-current liabilities ERBDAERE
Bank borrowings B 22 385,000 -
Lease liabilities HEaE 7 39,246 54,223
Deferred income tax liabilities FEREFSHAE 23 133,925 146,087
558,171 200,310
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As at 31 December

»+=ZB=+—H
2022 2021
—E__f B
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BosE AR®TT AREFT
Current liabilities mERE
Trade and other payables FES R R H AR 24 899,496 759,248
Contract liabilities ARAE 5 2,631,035 2,164,713
Bank borrowings R 22 85,000 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 7 24,648 25,563
Current income tax liabilities SHMEHRAE 19,004 17,979
Deferred income EIEUTA 25 106,500 116,180
3,765,683 3,083,683
Total liabilities HaeR 4,323,854 3,283,993
Net assets BEE 7,407,583 7,803,139
Equity b =
Equity attributable to owners NFIRBERS
of the Company
Share capital A& A 18 83,537 83,484
Share premium PR A (B 18 5,084,953 5,149,350
Other reserves E AR 19 866,567 744,204
Retained earnings BiFW= 20 1,230,296 1,619,454
7,265,353 7,596,492
Non-controlling interests FFEHINERS 142,230 206,647
Total equity wiER 7,407,583 7,803,139

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with

the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 212 were approved by the Board of

Directors on 15 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf.

Xu Shaochan
wOE

Director
EFE
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
SHRRER

Year ended 31 December
#EF+-A=1+—HILEE

2022 2021
—=_— T —F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
b AR®TT AREFT
Revenue from contracts with customers HEE NS RELERMIA 5,26 4,865,769 4174147
Cost of sales HERA 27 (1,868,136) (1,540,575)
Gross profit E ] 2,997,633 2,633,572
Selling and marketing expenses HEREEER 27 (2,026,584) (1,741,354
Administrative expenses THRE A 27 (503,857) (465,726)
Net impairment losses on financial assets SRIEERARBERERKLZE
and contract assets 27 (92,461) (78,738)
Research and development costs 2% R BB Ak R 27 (1,295,476) (1,184,544)
Fair value (losses)/gains on WEMME DR BEEE)
investment properties (185) s 9 (15,587) 4,059
Other income and gains — net Hi A RIS — 558 28 348,988 365,831
Operating loss EEEE (587,344) (466,900)
Finance income B & ES 107,937 81,530
Finance costs B 7 & (7,661) (5,094)
Finance income — net WU e — F 58 30 100,276 76,436
Share of profits of associates SHEMERENBRNE 10 12,850 8,319
Loss before income tax HFRERATESE (474,218) (382,145)
Income tax credit FriS i s e 31 21,814 43,790
Loss for the year FEEEERE (452,404) (338,355)
Loss attributable to: BIERER :
Owners of the Company RATIHEZBA A (389,158) (302,330)
Non-controlling interests eV e S (63,246) (36,025)
(452,404) (338,355)
Losses per share for loss attributable ZATREEEAEGEIED
to owners of the Company (expressed SREEGCSEBARESH
in RMB cents per share)
— Basic —H K 33 (11.31) (9.23)
— Diluted — 33 (11.31) (9.23)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction

with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
aftEalkRR

Year ended 31 December
8FE+-_A=1+—HLEE

2022 2021
—E__f B
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREETFTT
Loss for the year FEBR (452,404) (338,355)
Other comprehensive income: Htizalka :
ltems that may be reclassified to income or loss: HE gt B2 Em i) E
Currency translation differences INEITHE ERE (8,242) 1,676
Revaluation gains on properties upon transfer from property, 3 RIBF R AR E Y AT
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to investment ZEMAE - NBREIE
properties, net of tax 94,105 -
Other comprehensive income for the year, FERMGSUS » MRRE
net of tax 85,863 1,676
Total comprehensive loss for the year TFEHEGEBE (366,541) (336,679)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: HiFEeBRRER -
Owners of the Company ARARERFEA (303,295) (300,654)
Non-controlling interests JEIE B S (63,246) (36,025)
(366,541) (336,679)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction |3t & G4r & s = @ R SF— BRI o

with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SHEREER

Atributable to owners of the Company

RRARREE AR
Non-
Share Share Other Retained controlling Total
capital premium TBSEIVES eamings Tota nterests equity
E i
e AR(E EfisE el A% R B
Notes RMBI00D RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI00D RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI00D
W ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2021 “EC-E-f-RER 83,331 5052514 732,002 1921784 1789631 168,846 1958477
Loss for the year EREE - - - (302.330) (302330) (36,029) (338,355
Other comprehensive income Rigaka -
Curency tanslaton diferences IEREEE - - 1676 - 1676 - 1676
Total comprehensive oss FeUBR - - 1676 (302330) (300654) (36,025 (336.79)
Transactions with owners RERREANZA
Employess s opton scheme; BIRIAREE -
- Proceeds from shares ssued -EARhmER 18 153 15,046 - - 15,199 - 15,199
Share award plan: Wiy BN E -
~Valug ofemployee sevices received -BIRBEE 18 - 107413 - - 107413 - 107413
- Transter shares o e awardees upon vesting — ~REBEERMEGREZDA 1B - (5629) 080 - (4821) - (4821
~Buy-heck o shares for the purpose of share.—— — AR ID B EIFRERIR D
award plan 19 - - (35,020) - (35820) - (35,820)
Transactions vith non-convrollng nfeesls BRI RSN S % - - %54 - B 4456 30000
Nor-conrollng nteests arsing on busingss—~~ EFEAGEEAI A MER
combintion 3% - - - - - 69,370 69,370
Total transactions with owners, HESRTAURBEADINES
recognised directly in equity HEANEH 183 %8 105% - 10751 7382 181341
Balance at 31 December 2021 “EC-EtIRCT-RER 83,484 5,149,350 144204 1619454 759492 206,647 7803130

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with

the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

EOHEESER
Atiributable to owners of the Company
FLTREREARE
Share Share Other Retained Non-controlling Total
capital premium eserves gamings Total interests equity
i
2 EEER G HEha ait 8 e
Notes RMB’000 RNB'000 RMB'000 RNB'000 RNB'000 RNB'000 RNB'000
B AE®TR ARWTR ARRTR ABRTR ARRTT ARRTT  ARRTR
Balance af 1 January 2022 “ECCE-R-RER 83,484 5,149,350 144,204 1,619,454 1,996,492 206,647 7,803,139
Loss o teyear EEER - - - (et @Sy (B (40
Other comprehensive income Rbizaka
Currency ransaton diferences NEREER - - (8,242) - (8,242) - (8,242)
Revaluaton gains on properties upon ransfer fom 4690% ~ %  REAHI0fERiEE
propety, plantand equipment and right-otuse BEREMEBHERUR ()
asses o investment properties, nef o tax - - 94,105 - 94,105 = 94,105
Total comprehensive loss RAUER = = 85,363 (389,158) (303,295) (63,246) (366,541)
Transactions with owners HESRTANRS
Employees share opton schem; BIRiAMEE -
— Proceeds from shares issued ~BARGMER 18 182 478 - - 24,660 - 24,660
Share award plan: IR REE -
—Value of employee Services received -BIRKEEE 18 - 115,140 - - 115,140 - 115,140
~Transler shares o e awardees upon vesting.~— ~REBBERNEBLEZDA 1B - (117,840) 117,840 - - - -
- Buy-back of shaes for e pupose of share.—— — AR 2B 2B
avdpn 19 - - (61,340) - (81,340) - (61,340)
Buy-Dack of shares forthe pupose ofcancellion AR FEBFTERD 19 - - (86,304) - (86,304) - (86,304)
Cancellation ofshares R 18 (129 (86,175) 86,304 - - - -
Disposal of a subsidiary REFAT = - - - - (4.21) (a.211)
Capital injection flom non-cortoling interests~ JERR IR T B - - - - - 3,100 3,100
Total transactions with owners, RESKTAURBEANSH
recognised directly in equity ETHMRAMEE 5 (64,397) 36,500 - (27,844) (1,17) (29,015)
Balance at 31 December 2022 ZEICETRCT-RER 83,537 5,084,953 866,567 1,230,296 1,265,353 142,230 7,407,583

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with

the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
SHRKRER

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HILLFE

2022 2021
—E-= T —F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=S AR®TTT ARBFIT
Cash flows from operating activities BETHNRERE
Cash generated from operations excluding net cash KEEEMRE(TE/NE
inflow in loans to third parties from the EEEBLTE=FER
micro-credit business KFIRERAN) 34 337,839 642,456
Net cash inflow in loans to third parties NREEEEBRAEZTER
from the micro-credit business KFHSRA 44,019 31,334
Interest paid BEATFE (3,443) (5,998)
Income tax paid BRFER (3,978) (7,229)
Net cash inflow from operating activities EEIHELERAS 374,437 660,563
Cash flows from investing activities BRETHHRERE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BETHE - IRERE (399,420) (322,853)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment and HETHE - TREREMER
right-of-use assets 29,080 1,424
Purchases of intangible assets BEERLAE (488,293) (449,043)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired g FARIMY HAIR S F 5 36 - (50,304)
Pledged bank deposits and short-term and BRI TEA R G AR BRI TTF
long-term bank deposits placed — net HENFE (652,810) (407,209)
Interest received BEUFE 58,441 47,570
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through profitor loss ~ BE B IA R A EBEFT 2285 ABEN
SRMEE (139,010) (1,550,303)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets BENARBEAEEZFHIABEEN
at fair value through profit or loss SERVEEMER 829,459 1,510,976
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through other BENAREEEEESBTAR
comprehensive income foiR A R SRS E (4,463) -
Loans provided to related parties R4 RS T B9 1E R 38(e) - (200,000)
Repayments of loans from related parties fndea)chapthEllinpe 38(e) - 200,000
Proceeds from disposal of associates EEBE QTGN 19,282 15,000
Disposal of a subsidiary, net of cash disposed BEFARMNERSFHE (21,961) -
Investments in an associate HEEENEIRE (17,336) -
Net cash outflow from investing activities BREETHRARHRE (787,031) (1,204,742)
Cash flows from financing activities MEITHNRESTE
Proceeds from issue of shares as a result of exercise of options A& {DTTHERTIS X 18 24,660 15,199
Capital injection from non-controlling interests BRI H R S 35 3,100 30,000
Proceeds from borrowings fERRFTIS K 34(c) 503,000 -
Repayments of borrowings (EEER 34(c) (30,200) (120,000)
Principal elements of lease payments HENRHEEHS 34(c) (32,391) (33,220)
Payments for buy-back of shares XA ARAE [ B A R IR 19 (167,644) (35,820)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities RMEIBEE (FA)BRE 300,525 (143,841)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReME2EEWIRD (112,069) (688,020)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and EXFHEHRERNESETEVNZE
cash equivalents 7,989 (18,796)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FYRERALEED 16 2,046,815 2,753,631
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FEXRASRASEEY 16 1,942,735 2,046,815

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SHMBRRME

96

General information

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands in 1999 as an exempted company with limited
liability. The address of its place of business is Kingdee Software Park, 2 Keji 12th
Road South, Hi-tech Industrial Park, Nanshan District, Shenzhen, Guangdong
Province, the Peaple’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged in the cloud services,
including enterprise cloud services, small & micro business finance cloud services
and industry cloud services; and enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) business,
including development and sales of software products, sales of hardware products,
provision of implementation, software solution consulting, maintenance, upgrade
software and other supporting services.

The Company has its primary listing on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) since 15 February 2001.

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), unless otherwise
stated. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on 15
March 2023.

Summary of significant accounting policies

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The
consolidated financial statements are for the Group consisting of the Company and
its subsidiaries.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited  Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

2.1

(a)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.
622. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and other comprehensive income (“0CI") and investment
properties, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed
in Note 4.

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2022:

° Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use —
Amendments to International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 16

° Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract — Amendments to IAS 37
° Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020, and

° Reference to the Conceptual Framework — Amendments to IFRS 3

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised
in prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future
periods.

2.1

(a)

T CFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2  Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to accounting standards and
interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2022
reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. These standards,
amendments or interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on
the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future

2 EEREHRFERGE ()
21 WEEEGE)
()  FREMRFEMEAKRAIRMIOFER - 5

B R

AT et ERIFER I C 4S54 - 55 LR
MEEr T —F+-A=1T—H&HREH
AT REHIME - 18 B HEBIRAER - &
BEREMVILAE - BT ELIREEE AR
KRB EHEMAIBREORRZ SR TG

98

transactions. BERELSEATE -
Effective for annual
periods beginning on or after
A SRF R
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023

B B B 745 5 ME R ZB T 55%

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Bt @ s RIS 15E (1B R]) R BRR B 75
WEERNERBRE2 (EF])

Amendments to IAS 8

Bl @ s A RI 285 (1B R])

Amendments to IAS 12

BIpR 2 ERIE125% (185])
Amendments to IAS 1
BRE et ERIEIRUER])
Amendments to IFRS 16

B PR B 7 ¥ 5 22 A1 56165 (18 5T)
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

BRR B 7 ¥R 5 HE R FE05% PA KR BB & &t
HERIZE 2855 (IE5])

RiER
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

SEBRANEE

Definition of Accounting Estimates

A ESR

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

08— FEANEENE BERENRLEMEH

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

BESBANRBDAEBIFRBEE

Leases on sale and leaseback

ek

Consolidated Financial Statements and Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures

REERHBENRNEGECECBHEENHE
FFE

—E-=%—H—H
1 January 2023

—E-=F—HF—H

1 January 2023
—E-=%—H—H
1 January 2023

—E-=F—F—H
1 January 2024
—EZNFE—A—H
1 January 2024
—ENFE—-A—H
To be determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

2.2

2.21

2.2.2

2.23

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business
combinations by the Group (refer to Note 2.3).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown
separately in the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of financial position respectively.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not
control or joint control. This is generally the case where the Group holds between
20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting (see Note 2.2.3 below), after initially being
recognised at cost.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of
movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive
income. Dividends received or receivable from associates are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals
or exceeds its interest in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

2.2.3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.2

2.2.3

2.2.4

100

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (Continued)
Equity method (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in
accordance with the policy described in Note 2.11.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in
a loss of control as transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in
ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling
interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve
within equity attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because
of a loss of control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is
remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit
or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is
retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

2.3

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business
combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the:

° fair values of the assets transferred

° liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business

° equity interests issued by the Group

° fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

° consideration transferred

° amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and

° acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired
entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the

business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase.

2.3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.3

2.4

2.5

102 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable
in the future are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange.
The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate
at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier
under comparable terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability
are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying
value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured
to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Concentration test as prescribed by IFRS 3 “Business Combination” has been
applied by the Group to consider whether the set of activities and assets of
subsidiaries acquired are individually businesses. If the fair value of total net
assets acquired substantially equals to the fair value of an identifiable asset
acquired, the transaction would be accounted for as asset acquisition instead of
business acquisition. The consideration is then directly allocated to the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost also
includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive directors of the
Company that makes strategic decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

2.6

(a)

(b)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end
exchange rates are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in
the income statement, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in the income statement on a net basis within “Other gains/
losses — net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as fair
value through other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2  Summary of significant accounting policies 2
(Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued) 2.6

(¢)  Group companies (c)

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the
currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial
position;

(i) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of
the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consoalidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any
net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings
forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences
are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

2.7

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are charged in the consolidated income statement
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their costs to
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

—Buildings 15-50 years

— Computer and related equipment 5 years

— Office equipment 5 years

— Motor vehicles 5 years

— Leasehold improvements the shorter of the lease term or the useful
life

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction, which is stated
at actual construction cost less any impairment loss. Construction in progress is
transferred to property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.11).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the
carrying amount and are recognised within “Other losses/gains — net” in the
income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.8

2.9

(a)

106 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties, principally comprising leasehold land and buildings, are
held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that are not
occupied by the Group. Investment property is initially measured at cost, including
related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After initial
recognition, investment properties are carried at fair value. Changes in fair values
are recorded in the consolidated income statement as part of a valuation gain or
loss in “fair value gains and losses on investment properties”.

For a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to owner-occupied
property, the property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting shall be its fair
value at the date of change in use.

Intangible assets
Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 2.3. Goodwill on acquisitions of
subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity
include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment
testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in
which the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest
level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, being the
operating segments (Note 5).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

2.9

(b)

(c)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)
Research and development expenditure

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Gosts incurred
on development projects (relating to the design and testing of new and improved
software) are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

- it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available
for use;

- management intends to complete the software and use or sell it;
- there is an ability to use or sell the software;

- it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future
economic benefits;

- adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the software are available; and

- the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be
reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised include the software development
employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as
an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense is
not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised
from when the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 9 months to 43 months.

Acquired trademarks, licenses and copyrights

Separately acquired trademarks, licenses and copyrights are shown at historical
cost. Trademarks, licenses and copyrights acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Trademarks, licenses and
copyrights have finite useful lives and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of trademarks, licenses and copyrights over their estimated useful lives of
31010 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.9

(d)

(e)

2.10

108

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)
Computer software for own use

Computer software licenses for own use are capitalised on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of 1 to 6 years.

Acquired customer relationship

Customer relationship acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Customer relationship is carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation, amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of customer relationship over 5 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

2.11

2.11.1

2.11.2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial assets
Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or OCI. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time
of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model
for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date,
the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.1

2.11.3

110

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus,
in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are two measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. The
gain or loss derived from loans to third parties is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in ‘Other income and gains — net’ together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the income statement.

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within
‘Other income and gains — net’ in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

2.11

2.11.3

2.11.4

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the
Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income
when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in ‘Other
gains/losses — net" in the income statement as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further
details.

2.11

2.11.3

2.11.4

T CFFR

EREHBREE ()

EREE (1)
L {¢))
#m LA

AEEARABEYMAERSREETRER
E -MRAEEEEEEESEERENAA
EBEEMNBMER AR MEARE - AIERIE
RZRKER - TEBAAEENENEK
ENERES - BREA - EAKEE K
HUS A MRS - 2 FHRE RN (EREM
WA MG AT AR o

HRUAREEFEREESHABEN TR
BE  HRREBEEFIIRNMERROEMT
5/7BR) (WEA) - HRARRBEFER
HEFF AR MR RENERRE - BRE
BROARERKER) TEEM AL BEE
HEFIIR -

w{E

SR A RA T BAUAL £ [ B B
B AR fE A REOEH TR - AEE5R
AR RS AR HE BT A o LML R AR
REERRBRTREEN -

HREUEFMEREE - AKERABERET
BRERERIEIR A FFMETTE - EVRIER
Bt ERUERBEFEHANERERERX
FFREEA(D) ©

sHEBRtEEERAT 111



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

112

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently re-measured to their fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on
whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature
of the item being hedged and the type of hedge relationship designated. Otherwise,
the change of fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss within ‘Other
gains/losses — net’.

The Group did not apply any hedging accounting during the reporting period.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the
statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or
the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on weighted average basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion
and applicable variable selling expenses.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for software sold or services
performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade receivables
is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is
unconditional unless they contain significant financing components when they are
recognised at fair value. The group holds the trade receivables with the objective
of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. See Note 14 for further
information about the Group’s accounting for trade receivables and note 3.1 for a
description of the Group’s impairment policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.16

217

2.18

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions,
other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months
or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts
are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Share capital and shares held for share award plan

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to
the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s share capital (treasury
shares), for example as the result of a share buy-back or a share-based payment
plan, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s owners
until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, if any, is included in equity
attributable to the Company’s owners.

The consideration paid for the buy-back of the Company’s ordinary shares from the
market for the purpose of the share award plan (Note 21), including any directly
attributable incremental cost, is recorded in “Other reserves” and the amount is
presented as a deduction from total equity.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for products or services that have been
acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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2.19

2.20

114

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any differences between
proceeds (net of transaction cost) and the redemption value is recognised in the
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction
costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will
be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To
the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will
be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of financial position
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or
loss as other income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing

costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

2.2

(a)

(b)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current
period’s taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted
or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and
considers whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on which method provides a better
prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the statement of financial position date and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment property that is measured at fair
value is determined assuming the property will be recovered entirely through sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.2

(b)

116

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts
will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations
where the company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances
relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultangously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In
this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Investment allowances and similar tax incentives

Companies within the Group may be entitled to claim special tax deductions for
investments in qualifying assets or in relation to qualifying expenditure (eg the
Research and Development Tax Incentive regime in China or other investment
allowances). The Group accounts for such allowances as tax credits, which means
that the allowance reduces income tax payable and current tax expense. A deferred
tax asset is recognised for unclaimed tax credits that are carried forward as deferred
tax assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

2.22

(a)

(b)

(c)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefits

The Group provides defined contribution retirement plans based on local laws and
regulations. The plans cover full-time employees and provide for contributions
at certain percentage of salary as determined by the respective local government
authorities. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group
before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment
of termination benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period are discounted to their present value.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to
the statement of financial position date. Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.23

(a)

118

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation
(including share option schemes and share award plans), under which the entity
receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (including
share option and awarded shares) of the Group. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an
expense over the vesting period.

For grant of share options, the total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted, which includes any market
performance conditions (for example, the Company’s share price); but excludes the
impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and includes the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for
example, the requirement for employees to hold shares for a specified period of
time). For grant of award shares, the total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the market price of the Company’s shares at the grant date. The Group
also adopts valuation technique to assess the fair value of other equity instruments
of the Group granted under the share-based compensation plans as appropriate.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number
of shares under options and awarded shares that are expected to vest based on the
non-marketing performance and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services in advance of
the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for the purposes
of recognising the expense during the period between service commencement
period and grant date.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds

received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital and share premium.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

2.23

(b)

2.24

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Share-based payment (Continued)
Share-based payment transactions among group entities

The grant by the Company of its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of
employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair value,
is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity accounts.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will
be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of
the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.25

120

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

The Group derives revenue separately or in combination, from the cloud services,
including enterprise cloud services, small & micro business finance cloud
services and industry cloud services; and enterprise resource planning (“ERP”)
business and other services, including software and hardware products, software
implementation services, software solution consulting, maintenance, upgrade and
other supporting services.

Cloud services mainly include Kingdee Cloud Cosmic, Kingdee Cloud
Constellation, Kingdee Cloud Galaxy, Kingdee Cloud Stellar and other cloud
services, which are sold to the end customers directly. Softwares mainly include
Kingdee EAS, which are sold either through distributors or to the end customers
directly. The Group generates part of the cloud services business revenue through
subscription basis to provide customers with access to cloud services. The Group’s
subscription service arrangements are non-cancellable and do not contain refund-
type provisions.

The Group enters into contracts with end customers that can include combination
of standard software, hardware and services which are accounted for as separate
performance obligations because they are capable of being distinct and generally
there is no significant modification or integration and they are not highly dependent
with each other. The Group sells standard software to distributors and end
customers. Both distributors and end customers are regarded as direct customers
of the Group as distributors can control the software and further resell it or sell
combined with other product and related services to end customers.

The transaction price is the price after discount and is a fixed amount upon signing
the contract. The products cannot be returned unless significant problems found,
which rarely happens. The transaction price in an arrangement is allocated to each
separate performance obligation based on the relative standalone selling prices of
the products or services being provided to the customer.

The Group recognises revenue when control of the promised products or services
is transferred to the customer. The customer obtains control of a product or service
if it has the ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits from that product or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

2.25

(a)

(b)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Sales of standard software and hardware

Standard software is a right to use license because the software has standalone
functionality and the customer can use the software as it is available at a point in
time. Licenses are typically delivered by providing the customer an activation code
with access to download the software. The Group recognises revenue for such
licenses at a point in time when the customer has received licenses or the activation
code and thus has control over the software and the Group has present right to
payment. In case there is an update of the standard software, end customers or
distributors are required to pay additional consideration to buy upgraded version.

Sales of hardware and related products are recognised at a paint in time when the
products are delivered and the end customers have physical possession, that is
control over the hardware and related products.

ERP and cloud implementation contracts

Sometimes, customers will request customisation of ERP and cloud based on
customers’ demands and business operations.

Revenue of ERP and cloud implementation contracts is recognised over the period
of the contracts by reference to the progress of work performed, which is established
according to the value of efforts put in each task (measured by standard man
days for each task) over total value of efforts of the implementation project with
support by progress reports acknowledged by the customers. The corresponding
implementation costs are recognised as incurred under cost of sales.

Variations in implementation work and incentive payments are included in
transaction price to the extent that would have been agreed with the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.25

(c)

(d)

(e)

122

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Cloud and other services

Cloud services, software solution consulting, maintenance, upgrading, training and
other supporting services are provided mainly in the form of fixed-price contracts.
Revenue related to these services are recognised ratably over the service contract
period. The Group provides cloud services directly to end customers or through
its distributors. For cloud services provided through distributors, the Group is
responsible for delivering the services, paying server fees to external cloud server
vendors to ensure the services are accessible and stable, and the Group has
discretion in establishing the prices for these services. The distributors have the
contractual obligation to follow the Group’s pricing guidance and are not primarily
obligated to the customers for the quality or performance of the services. Therefore
the Group is the principal to the end customers and recognises revenue at the
gross amount billed to the end customers.

Contract assets and liabilities

The Group recognises receivables for performance obligations satisfied over
time gradually as the performance obligation is satisfied and the right to
consideration is unconditional. Judgment is required in determining whether a
right to consideration is unconditional and thus qualifies as a receivable. When
the performance obligation satisfied over time while a right to consideration is
conditional, contract asset is recognised. Contract liabilities primarily reflect
invoices due or payments received in advance of revenue recognition. They are
recognised as revenue upon transfer of control to the customers of the promised
license, products and services.

Rebates to distributors

The Group offers rebates to distributors based on the respective purchase volume
of distributors. The rebate is not in the form of cash, but as a coupon to be used
on future purchase order, thus it is regarded as a customer option that provides
material right and be treated as a separate performance obligation. The contract
price allocated to the rebates is recognised as a contract liability which is then
transferred to revenue when the coupons are used or expired after 12 months from
grant date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

2.25

(f)

(9)

(h)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the
transfer of the promised software products to the customer and payment by the
customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of
the transaction prices for the time value of money.

Incremental costs of obtaining customer contract

Incremental costs of obtaining customer contract primarily consisting of sales
commissions are capitalised as an asset. The Group amortises assets recognised
from capitalising costs to obtain a contract on a systematic basis to profit or loss,
consistent with the pattern of revenue recognition to which the asset relates.

Micro-credit business

The Group's micro-credit business revenue derives from interest income. The
Group generates interest income from providing micro-credit loans to borrowers.
Interest income is recognised and accrued based on the effective interest rate
agreed with each borrower over the loan period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.26

(a)

(b)

2.27

124

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners
of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary
shares by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the
year and excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic
garnings per share to take into account:

° the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated
with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

° the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have
been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL calculated using the effective interest
method is recognised in the income statement as realised gains on financial assets
at FVPL within “Other gains/losses — net”.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in profit or loss as part of other income.

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned from financial
assets that are held for cash management purposes, see Note 30 below. Any other
interest income is included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest
rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of
the loss allowance).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

2.28

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the
date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the
Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components
and instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present
value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease
incentives receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise that option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also
included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If
that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2  Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EBEEEHBRIHEE)
(Continued)
2.28 Leases (Continued) 2.28 &\

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual
lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was received;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted
for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which does not have recent
third party financing, and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, eg term, country, currency and
security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the individual lessee
(through recent financing or market data) which has a similar payment praofile to
the lease, then the group entities use that rate as a starting point to determine the
incremental borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments
based on an index or rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they
take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take
effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

2.28

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs, and
o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful
life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life. While the Group revalues its land and buildings that
are presented within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for
the right-of-use buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of office are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less. The Group did not enter any low-value assets lease.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term (Note 9). Initial direct costs
incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease term on the same basis
as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the statement of
financial position based on their nature.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

2.29

2.30

128

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a
reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the
consolidated income statement over the period necessary to match them with the
costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included in
non-current liabilities as deferred government grants and are credited to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of
the related assets.

Dividend distribution
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately

authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the
reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

3.1

(a)
(i)

Financial risk management
Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including
foreign exchange risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

The directors review and agree policies for managing each of these risks and they
are summarised as follows:

Market risk
Foreign exchange risk

The functional currency of the Company and its major subsidiaries is RMB. The
majority of the revenues of the Group are derived from operations in the PRC.

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchange rates between RMB and other currencies
in which the Group conducts business may affect its financial position and results
of operations. The foreign exchange risk facing the Group mainly comes from
movements in the US dollars (“USD”)/RMB and Hong Kong dollars (“HKD")/RMB
exchange rates.

At 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any derivative financial instrument
for which hedging accounting was applied.

At 31 December 2022, if the RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the
HKD with all other variables held constant, loss before tax for the year would have
been lower/higher by approximately RMB3,206,000 (2021: loss before tax for the
year would have been lower/higher by approximately RMB4,556,000), mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of HKD denominated cash at
bank and in hand.

At 31 December 2022, if the RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the
USD with all other variables held constant, loss before tax for the year would have
been lower/higher by approximately RMB1,077,000 (2021: loss before tax for the
year would have been lower/higher by approximately RMB918,000), mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of USD denominated cash at
bank and in hand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

3.1

(a)
(i)

(b)

(i)
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Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to its bank
borrowings, details of which have been disclosed in Note 22. Bank borrowings
carried at floating rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.

The Group currently does not use any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk. However, the Group will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2022, bank borrowings of the Group which were bearing at
floating rates amounted to RMB470,000,000 (2021: nil). As at 31 December 2022,
if the interest rates had been 50 basis point higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the years ended 31 December
2022 would have been approximately RMB2,115,000 (2021: nil) higher/lower.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, contractual cash flows of debt
instruments carried at amortised cost, at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)
and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to
customers, including outstanding receivables.

Risk management

The management manages the credit risk of cash and cash equivalents, pledged
and short-term and long-term bank deposits and wealth management products
(classified as financial assets at FVPL) by transacting with state-owned financial
institutions and reputable commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality
financial institutions in mainland China and Hong Kong.

In relation to trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has two kinds of
distribution channels, one is sales to distributors and the other is sales to end
customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HMERBEHE(E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HMERRERE

(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEEBE(R)

(i) Risk management (Continued) () EREEEE)
For sales to distributors, the Group has assessed the credit quality of the HRHEREHER  AEEFHLEINER
distributors, taking into account their financial position, past experience and mESERAVBMRN - ERELEEREM
other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in A% - RBFTENERARERERENERE
accordance with limits set by management. The compliance with credit limits by E - BEEINRE —E MR TR
distributors is regularly monitored by management. TEEAREARE -
For sales to end customers, the Group has no significant concentration of credit HRHEEATRER  AEKEFRIEFTETER
risk in trade receivables since the balance of trade receivables is composed of DHRREREEES - AEBRERIRFIL
numerous individual small items and the exposure spreads over a large number of EEPFHNEERR
customers.
The Group’s investments in debt instruments, including loans to third parties, are AEBMNEFILAKLE  BEATE=FNE
considered to be low risk investments. The credit ratings of the investments are R THEHBINERREZETER  WHAEA
monitored for credit deterioration. RERIEE - BTHIEEESL ELIEEN

ERFEXE TER -

For other receivables, management considers the probability of default upon HRHEMERFIE  EEEZRVIREREE

initial recognition of asset and whether there has been significant increase in R IREBNOATREM U R EMREERENE

credit risk on an on-going basis. The directors of the Company believe that there MEEEEN T ERRERR -  AREESZRA

is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balances of other AEBEBEMBERFENREERBENFLEEKR

receivables. BN ERARER

(i) Impairment of financial assets (i)  EEEERE

The Group has five types of financial assets that are subject to credit risk SEBERESRMEERATEREABXIER

assessment:

. Cash deposits and wealth management products at banks . RITREGARANEEEERER

. Trade receivables and contract assets ] RS R EREE

. Loans to third parties and other receivables (excluding prepayments), . BT E=ZFERREAEUGR(BRIEN R
18)

e Note receivables, and o EYREE K

. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss . NWRAREBEFEEEZFH T ABENS
BMEE

Cash deposits and wealth management products at banks RITRE REEETEEMD

While cash deposits and wealth management products at banks are also subject BARBITOR S ERFIEY E Rt BB TR

to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was WIS ESRAREE SR - (BREERRE

immaterial. BRITERK °
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3.1

(b)
(i)
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Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and
contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the invoice days. The
contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have substantially the same
risk characteristics as the trade receivables within aging bucket for the same types
of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for
trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract
assets.

The expected loss rates are estimated base on the roll rate approach considering
the invoice days of trade receivables across historical years and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within the period. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group
has identified production price index, broad measure of money supply (M2), and
fixed asset investment price index as the main influencing factors, and accordingly
adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. The
Group would also monitor the counterparties individually and identify specific
counterparties with distinct characteristics for individual impairment assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO B HmRMET

3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021
was determined as follows for trade receivables and contract assets:

Pt 365 B B 2 (W)

Fob 365 L P D %% (#68)

18 52 BB (4)

EHEEREE)

AR FA RIE E ()

Bt 82T —F+_A=1t—HM_F

T—F+-A=+—8 EREZNELE
& BRI -

Collective impairment

H&nE
31 December 2022 —B_"§+ZR=+-H 0-1year 1-2 years 2-3years  Over 3 years Total
—%£LA —-EmE RE=F =ENE &
N/A
Expected loss rate FHERBAE 9.64% 44.95% 69.82% 100.00% RER
Gross carrying amount - Trads receivables  H5 74258 — FEUER 3
(RMB000) (ANREF) 125,873 19,263 16,437 107,975 269,548
Loss allowance (RMB’000) REBBARSTT) 12,134 8,659 11,476 107,975 140,244
Collective impairment
HakE
31 December 2021 —E2_-5+ZR=+-H 0-1 year 1-2 years 2-3years  Over3years Total
—FLR —EfE ME=F =FYULE CH
N/A
Expected loss rate HEERBAE 10.05% 47.85% 75.41% 100.00% Tafm
Gross carrying amount - Trade receivables BRI 4248 — e YR %
(RMB000) (ANREF) 152,416 23,044 15,194 97,001 287,655
Loss allowance (RMB’000) REBBARSTT) 15,314 11,027 11,458 97,001 134,800

The loss allowances of contract assets were estimated by considering the expected
credit loss rates of the different aging periods of trade receivables. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of
gach class of financial assets.
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3.1

(b)
(i)

134 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

The loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets as at 31 December
reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:

3.1

(b)
(1)

Foh 365 T B I (466)

R ¥ PR % ()

1 5% LB (1)

LEEEWE(E)

FEMBR I R A 7 ()
AEBBERERRANEAEERT - A=+—

A EIkIE K BB R S Ik - AR
o -

Contract assets

Trade receivables

aRAEE FEU AR
2022 2021 2022 2021
—=E-- —E-o—F ZEBZZ B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRE ARBTT ARBTRT AREBTEx
Opening loss allowance at —RB—B&E®
1 January % {E R 57,410 39,149 134,800 131,060
Increase in loss allowance recognised in ANFE T ABZHEFRIEX
profit or loss during the year BRI N 27,179 18,261 62,215 59,020
Receivables written off during the year as AN & 4% 5 #4852 U [a] #9 &
uncollectible sk - - (56,771) (55,280)
Closing loss allowance at +=B=+—H
31 December HASK ik (B 2 i 84,589 57,410 140,244 134,800
Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of EAEE TS IETEH AW E R IER - B

recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the
Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 3
years past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the same line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

3

3.1
(b)
(i)

Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Loans to third parties and other receivables (excluding prepayments)

For loans to third parties and other receivables (excluding prepayments), in order
to minimise the credit risk, the Group has established policies and systems for
monitoring and control of credit risk. The management has delegated different
divisions responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring processes to ensure that follow up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, management reviews the recoverable amounts of loan and
interest collectively at each reporting date to ensure that adequate allowance for

impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The loss allowance for loans to third parties and other receivables (excluding
prepayments) as at 31 December reconciles to the opening loss allowances as

follows:

3.1

(b)
(i)

Foh 365 T B I (466)

RS BUBRE 2% (1)

1 5% LB (1)

LEEEWE(E)

B = E AR AN FERSIN)

FhAR T 5 =75 B UM EL e R (FR A SRR RR
5N REEREEERR - AREDEIBEK
REGEERREHIEERR - ERECHE
TRBFABEREEERSE - FEHEIEM
ESEFARRELESRETSHREARE
%o BE  BEENSERSEABERTER
KM B2 A 85 - HEORE 5L AT U B 8RR
TEHFE D RER R AR -

WtZA=+—H  E=7ERMEMREYK
(BN AR IN B R B RS RETIR R R
SHRAT

Other receivables

(excluding
Loans to third parties prepayments)
ot FE R
BE=ZHER (TR RRIARR L)
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBEFTT AREETFTT

Opening loss allowance as at W-_E2-—%$—HA—H

1 January 2021 3,787 12,260
(Decrease)/increase in the allowance recognised in ZANEifSET AR BiiE s 00 EEH S

profit or loss during the period R /1 m (465) 1,922
Closing loss allowance as at w-Z_—$+-"A=+—8H

31 December 2021 3,322 14,182
Opening loss allowance as at w-—E-_—_%—AF—H

1 January 2022 3,322 14,182
Increase in the allowance recognised in profitor ~ ANERFEIET A & BRI 25 EHE S

loss during the period CRlA),/ 150 25 3,042
Receivables written off during the year as A%

uncollectible - (700)
Closing loss allowance as at R-ZEB-__%F

31 December 2022 +=-B=+—8H 3,347 16,524
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Financial risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Loans to third parties and other receivables (excluding prepayments) (Continued)

Based on historical experience, majority of the other receivables (excluding
prepayments) were settled within 12 months, and had no historical default at
each reporting period end, therefore, most of the other receivables (excluding
prepayments) were categorised in stage 1.

However, certain counterparty failed to make demanded repayment when they fall
due, the Group made 100% provision for these receivables (“Non-performing
Receivables”). As at 31 December 2022, the gross amount of RMB6,830,000
(2021: RMB5,600,000) of other receivable was assessed as Non-performing
Receivables and RMB6,830,000 (2021: RMB5,600,000) of loss allowance was
recognised.

Note receivables

The note receivables are guaranteed by reputable banks in mainland China
and have been classified as stage 1 during the years of 2022 and 2021. The
management assessed that the expected credit losses was immaterial.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group is also exposed to credit risk in relation to debt investments that are
measured at fair value through profit or loss. The maximum exposure at the
end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of these investments (2022:
RMB66,255,000; 2021: RMB747,665,000).

3.1

(b)

(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB mR M

3  Financial risk management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group exercises prudent liquidity risk management by reviewing forecast cash
balances on a quarterly basis to maintain sufficient cash levels and the availability
of an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to ensure the availability of
sufficient cash flows to meet any unexpected and material cash requirements in the
course of ordinary business. The Group has no significant exposure to liquidity
risk.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will be settled on
a gross basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at
the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due
within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not
significant.

3.1

(c)

P 35 B E L (#)
o 55 L PR EE 5 )
HE RS

AEBBNEFEEHNARR SR - AH
TRENADESEELE  #REANRE
ENARAANEEREEARREHRE RN
JESE BB EBELPEMEERTHMER
R EFR - ARELESE ORI IERRE

TRINFAEE R AR SR A ERIRERED
FHAR - RERAEREAOZIHANTIR
BEETAN - ERABRBENSBER/EOER
MENRERE - HRMIRNFETK - BUt
FE12{E A A B R A RE SN ERE(E

Less than
1 year
—ELUA
RMB000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT

Between
1and

2 years
—EmE
RMB000

Between
2and Over
5years 5years Total
MELE EFUE ot
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000

At 31 December 2022 R-BE-"F+ZH=1+-H
Bank borrowings(including interest) EREEFE) 71,262 100,051 301,803 - 473,116
Trade and other payables (excluding VAT and other taxes  FERTBR TR R E M JER (RS IER K

payables and salary and staff welfare payables) HivFie - EBEFHERETEF) 631,635 - = - 631,635
Lease liabilities HEEE 28,932 21,922 22,344 - 73,198
Total non-derivatives FETE R 731,829 121,973 324,147 - 1,177,949
At 31 December 2021 A2 —%+-A=1+—-H
Trade and other payables (excluding VAT and other taxes T BR 2 R B JE 3R (RS 1B 1E R ]2

payables and salary and staff welfare payables) HihBis - ENHERETET) 481,402 - - - 481,402
Lease liabilities HEaE 29,203 23,682 35,021 - 87,906
Total non-derivatives FEfTE R 510,605 23,682 35,021 - 569,308

There were no derivative financial liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

T CFFR
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3  Financial risk management (Continued)
3.2 Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried at fair value as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used
to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair
value hierarchy as follows:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (level 1).

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (level 2).

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

3 HMHERRERGG
3.2 SffREE

TRIBIRETE A BEMMERIN R ATER
BB ANER  SWAEBR T ==

+ZA=t+—BMZ=E=—F+=ZA=+—H
BRARBEABRENSRIA - ELEm AKRBA
A EEEAFEANT=E

IR 2 o (R B 50 3R e
B/E) (F1D -

BRTHIBMBRNREN  ZEEME
BERAEBENEMBA - ] REEZEF
n{ERS) Sk (AR B E48) (F2/E)

BENARYIHREAIBREMZERDN
AR ERBA) (FIE) °

At 31 December 2022 R-E_"F+_-RA=1+-H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
H18 $2RE $3E et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®TT AR®TR AR®TT
Financial assets at fair value through WA EEFEEEZHHA
profit or loss ERfemERE
~ Investments designated at fair valug through ~ —#5E AR A BEHEEEEH
profit or loss FABERRENEREE 47,054 - 950,365 997,419
Financial assets at fair value through other NAREEFEEEEHH ALD
comprehensive income GelmnenEE
~ Investments designated at fair valug through ~ —#5E BAR A BEHEEEEH
other comprehensive income AR KSR SREE - - 4,463 4,463
Total et 47,054 - 954,828 1,001,882
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.2

Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HMERMMEHRE)
Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.2 LDREEMEE
At 31 December 2021 A_EB_—F+-A=1+-H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E FE 2IE 15t
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Financial assets at fair value through WAREBEFEAEZH; AR
profit or loss SRERE
— Investments desigated at fair value —EEANAREBEIEAEE
through profit or loss SABRNRENSRARE 44472 - 1,661,076 1,705,548
— Derivative financial instruments ~fTESRTA - 2,145 - 2,145
Total @t 44,472 2145 1,661,076 1,707,693

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is
determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximize
the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

- Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.

- Discounted cash flow analysis.

BRAEERRMSEENE R T AGISEIMTE
TAMNARBENRMGEERNETE - AERM
BENAABETLERWA)  BEDKRE
TERNFER - WAE-—SRTANAAE
EMFNMEEABARTERER  AZE
RITEZIAZEE -

M—EXZEERBALIFREAVEETEE
¥ BlZem T A AEIE -

R ESRTANSERERMTEE -
- FRETANHEHREXXIERE -

- RRERRESERII -
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SO HmRMET
3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HMERBERE(E)
3.2 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.2 ARMEEMEEE
The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the year ended TRETHEZZE_—_FN_FE=_—F+=A

140 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

31 December 2022 and 2021.

=t HIFEREER T ANED -

Financial assets at
fair value through

Financial assets at
fair value through
other comprehensive

profit or loss income

DREESE

ARBEETE HEHES®HA

BHSEHHA Htiz gk

RenemEE eMEE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETIT

At 1 January 2022 BR-E-__%—H—H 1,661,076 -

Additions N 139,010 4,463

Disposals BE (872,606) -

Gains recognised in profit or loss HEEEERNFE 22,885 -

At 31 December 2022 R-_B-_—#+-A=+—8H 950,365 4,463
Changes in unrealised gains for the year included EZEER PR EEABEFEH

in profit or loss at the end of the year b= 15,937 -

At 1 January 2021 KR-B-—%—A—H 1616,395 -

Additions N 1,394,712 -

Disposals BE (1,466,190) -

Gains recognised in profit or loss FEEERNFE 116,159 -

At 31 December 2021 R-ZB_—%$+-A=+—H 1,661,076 -
Changes in unrealised gains for the year included EzEER PR EE A BEFEH

in profit or loss at the end of the year g 46,549 -

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.
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3  Financial risk management (Continued)

3.2 Fair value estimation (Continued)

3.2

The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant
unobservable inputs used in the major level 3 fair value measurements.

P 365 I B L (#R)
L feRIELEE ()

TRAE T ETBNEIRA L BEE

MEZN T BRENBHANE

A

Range of inputs

Description Fair value at (probability-weighted average)
WE RORREE BAEGE(REMETY)
Relationship of
unobservable inputs to
31 Dec 2022 31Dec 2021 Un-observable inputs 2022 2021 fairvalue
—8-C b LRRERFTHE
+ZAE+-H +ZA=t-8 FUBEMBAE k- oo “EC-F BAEMEE
RIB’000 RMB000
AE®TT ARBFT
Unlisted equity investments 931,164 957,883 Expected volatility 41.02%:-76.53%  45.42%-52.94% The higher the expected
volatlity, the higher the
fair value
¥ rmiRERE 931,164 %7883 BERHE H1.02%76.53%  4542%-5294% BEEBHELS DA
EEdS

Risk-free rate 2.47%-4.68% 1.14%-2.55%  The higher the risk-free rate,
the lower the fair value

e R 2.47%-4.68% 114%-25% EERFEES A%
{BEWE

Business enterprise value/ sales 2.40X 2.60X-8.00X  The higher the multiple, the

multiple higher the fair value

REE/HERY 2.40X 2605800 fEEEE  AnEES
]

Lack of liquidity discount rate 25.00% 25.00-30.00%  The higher the lack of iquidity
discount rate, the lower
the fair value

B REETH 25.00% 500:3000% ERZRBMETRER
B DABEHE

Wealth management products 19,201 703,193 Expected annual refurn rate 1.50%-2.85% 2.50%-5.00%  The higher the expected
annual retumn rate, the
higher the fair value

EEEEEM 19,201 703193 BHFEHE 1.50%-2.85% 250%-5.00% BEFEHEYS 4
HEEES

T CFFR
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3.3

142 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Financial risk management (Continued)
Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for owners and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to owners, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis
of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including “current and non-current
borrowings” as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position) less
cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

3.3

P35 LB E L (#)
ASRRED

AEENESERRR  RRESEESEE
& ARBCRIEH MR A E MR A AR
HHm  ARGRRENEREBUAREER
B

RTHRFRFABENGE  AKEUREHE
SN TRROBRFSE  ARRREER - %
TTHTR SR B B B PARUE BT o

HERNHMAT -5 NEENBAELAEEL
RERHER o b RIRRERFHERALE
R E - EHFERABR(BESHMBAR
TSR MIERBMER D RER S MNIRS
LEY - RERBHER](NE HV AR KR
P IERFRE -

HE-E-_—GR-_FE-_—F+-A=+—8 "

AEENEAREELENAT

2022 2021

—E_—F —E-—%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥®TT AREETTT

Total borrowings (Note 22) B (FFE22) 470,000 -

Total lease liabilities (Note 7) f@fﬁiﬁ% (FF5ET) 63,894 79,786
Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 16) A RE RIBSEEM(HIEE6) (1,942,735) (2,046,815)
Net cash BesH (1,408,841) (1,967,029)

Total equity HER 7,407,583 7,803,139

Total capital wEx 5,998,742 5,836,110
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group was in net cash position. In the BE T+ -_A=+—HN-_ZT-_—%

opinion of the directors, the Group’s capital risk is manageable.
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41

(a)

(b)

(c)

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are addressed below.

Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties is determined by using valuation technique.
Details of the judgments and assumptions have been disclosed in Note 9.

Recognition of ERP and cloud implementation revenue

Revenue from ERP and cloud implementation contracts is recognised over
the period of the contracts by reference to the progress of work performed
and acknowledged by the customers. For the year ended 31 December 2022,
revenue of approximately RMB1,439,746,000 is generated from ERP and cloud
implementation contracts (2021: RMB1,168,556,000). The Group has to estimate
the progress of work performed. If the progress of work performed were to differ by
10% from management’s estimates (for example, 33% instead of 30%), the amount
of revenue recognised in 2022 would have been higher/lower by approximately
RMB143,975,000 (2021: RMB116,856,000).

Estimated useful lives of capitalised development costs

The useful lives of capitalised development costs are estimated based on historical
experience, which include actual useful lives of similar assets and changes in
technology. If the estimated useful lives of capitalised development costs were
to shorter or longer by 10% from management’s estimates, the amortisation
charge for 2022 would have been higher by approximately RMB30,509,000
(2021: RMB36,008,000) or lower by approximately RMB31,566,000 (2021:
RMB31,954,000).

41

(a)

(b)

(c)
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41

(d)

(e)

144 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Critical accounting estimates and judgments
(Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (Continued)
Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.9. For the purpose of
assessing impairment, the Group considered that the evaluated unit is a separate
group of cash-generated-units (the “CGU") and the goodwill is allocated to the
CGU. Management assessed the impairment of goodwill by determining the
recoverable amount of the CGU, representing the higher of its fair value less cost
of disposal and value-in-use which is calculated using cash flow forecasts based
on the financial budgets approved by management. The goodwill impairment
assessment involves significant judgments and estimates which include the
adoption of appropriate valuation method and the use of key assumptions
(mainly revenue growth rate and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (“EBITDA”) margin during the forecast period, terminal growth rate
and pre-tax discount rate). Details of the impairment test are set out in Note 8.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant judgment
is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred tax assets and liabilities in the period in which
such determination is made.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group were each entitled to a preferential enterprise
income tax rate for a specified period subject to certain conditions. Management
generally applies the applicable preferential tax rate to calculate current income
tax and deferred income tax (Note 31) on the assumption that the subsidiaries
will continue to meet the conditions and qualify for the preferential treatment as
evidenced by past records. The consequence of any failure to meet the conditions
and any change in the applicable tax rate is adjusted in the year when the
information becomes known.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

4.2

(a)

(b)

(c)

Critical accounting estimates and judgments
(Continued)

Critical judgment in applying the entity’s accounting policies
Capitalisation of development costs

Development costs incurred are capitalised as intangible assets when recognition
criteria as detailed in Note 2.9(b) are fulfilled. Management has applied its
professional judgment in determining whether the related software products could
generate probable future economic benefits to the Group based on the historical
experience of the existing products and the prospects of the markets. Any severe
change in market performance or technology advancement will have an impact on
the development costs capitalised.

Deferred income tax

As at 31 December 2022, deferred income tax liabilities of approximately
RMB430,708,000 (2021: RMB443,797,000) had not been recognised for the
withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of approximately
RMB4,307,076,000 (2021: RMB4,437,967,000) of certain subsidiaries in the
PRC as these earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC subsidiaries for
reinvestment purposes and would not be remitted to their overseas holding
companies in the foreseeable future based on management’s estimation on the
Group’s overseas funding requirements.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent
that the realisation of the related tax benefits through the future taxable profits is
probable. As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of RMB406,749,000 (2021: RMB272,700,000) in respect of tax losses
amounting to RMB2,861,661,000 (2021: RMB1,677,077,000) of certain Group’s
subsidiaries, which can be carried forward to offset against future taxable income,
all of which will expire in 2023 to 2032, respectively.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk
of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgment in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the
Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used
are disclosed in the tables in Note 3.1(b).

(a)

(b)

(c)
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Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”) has been identified as executive
directors of the Company. The executive directors review the Group’s internal
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The executive directors consider the business from product perspective. The Group
has identified the following operating segments:

Cloud services — Including enterprise cloud services, small & micro

business business finance cloud services and industry cloud
Services
ERP business and — Including sales of software and hardware products,
others provision of software implementation, software
solution consulting, maintenance, upgrade and
other supporting services, and others
Investment properties —  Operation of investment properties

operating business

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments based on the
profit or loss for the year of each segment. There were no segment assets and
segment liabilities information provided to the CODM, as CODM does not use this
information to allocate resources or to evaluate the performance of the operating
segments. Substantially all of the businesses of the Group are carried out in the
PRC.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

5 Segment information (Continued)

The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

5 SWMEMGR

HE T -_—F+_A=+—BHILFEDE

BT

Investment

Cloud ERP properties
services business operating The Group
business and others business total

LERER

THHE RENmE
EREEE XBEREM BEEE KESH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®TT AR®TT AER%TR
Revenue (from external customers) WA CREINBRF) 3,714,003 1,151,676 - 4,865,769
— Products transferred at a point in time —EmEX—FREZES - 286,260 - 286,260
— Services transferred over time — R X EER 3,714,093 865,416 = 4,579,509
Operating (loss)/profit EZ(FR), 87 (561,062) (80,882) 54,600 (587,344)
Finance income B 80,046 27,891 - 107,937
Finance costs BATSRAR (5,399) (2,262) - (7,661)
Finance income — net MR - 88 74,647 25,629 - 100,276
Share of profits of associates ZEMERENAETIROE - 12,850 - 12,850
(Loss)/profit before income tax MEXFR AT (518), 718 (486,415) (42,403) 54,600 (474,218)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrigsihmE,/(BR) 28,401 (1,127) (5,460) 21,814
Segment results DEWER (458,014) (43,530) 49,140 (452,404)
Depreciation and amortisation e K 336,012 71,725 - 413,737

Net impairment losses on financial assets and CRMEEMERAERNFRE

contract assets Bk 3,083 89,378 - 92,461
Fair value losses on investment properties BREUMEN DA BEEX - - (15,587) (15,587)
Share-based payments LR AR = 1+ 96,019 19,121 - 115,140

T CFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SOt ISR MR
5 Segment information (Continued) 5 SHEPEMGE)
The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows: BEZZ-—F+A=1T—RHLEFE»HE
BT
Investment
Cloud ERP properties
Services business operating The Group
business and others business total
TEER
EEE  REMME
EIRBER EBREM BT SEEF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETR
Revenue (from external customers) WACREINBEP) 2,758,422 1,415,725 - 4174147
— Products transferred at a point in time —EmEE—REEER - 472,212 - 472,212
— Services transferred over time — RIS RS 2,758,422 943,513 - 3,701,935
Operating (loss)/profit EEER), 27 (695,099) 152,124 76,075 (466,900)
Finance income ples 52,191 29,339 - 81,530
Finance costs B R AR (3,264) (1,830) - (5,094)
Finance income - net MBBA B8 48,927 27,509 - 76,436
Share of profits of associates FEBEREANEFNTE - 8,319 - 8,319
(Loss)/profit before income tax HIEFSIRAT (F18) #iE (646,172) 187,952 76,075 (382,145)
Income tax credit/(expense) Frisfimm,/ (B ) 91,746 (40,349) (7,607) 43790
Segment results AEBER (554,426) 147603 68,468 (338,355)
Depreciation and amortisation e R 352,632 85,936 - 438 568
Net impairment losses on financial assets and SREENEREENFRME
contract assets (=B 2,468 76,270 - 78,738
Fair value gains on investment properties REUMENR R BERE - - 4,059 4,059
Share-based payments AR A AERER S 82,918 24,495 - 107,413

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands while the Group mainly
operates its business in the PRC. Revenue from external customers from the
PRC and other locations is RMB4,828,350,000 (2021: RMB4,145,077,000) and
RMB37,419,000 (2021: RMB29,070,000), respectively, for the year ended 31

December 2022.

There was no single customer that contributed to over 10% of the Group’s revenue

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YT = B
5 Segment information (Continued) 5 SHEBEM(HE)
(a) Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers (a) HEFSABRNEEMAR
At 31 December
#EZE+=-A=+—H
2022 2021
- ~ k- T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTT AREETFIT
Current contract assets relating to ERP and ERPRZEE A RARERRSE
cloud implementation contracts EREE 431,131 380,384
Loss allowance BRERE (84,589) (57,410
Total st 346,542 322,974
Contract obtaining costs (i) & [RIEVSECA() 393,871 248,263
Contract liabilities — Cloud services business AREE -ERIEES 2,239,473 1,713,355
Contract liabilities — ERP business and others ARAE-EEREE
HEIER R HAD 391,562 451,358
Total 4aEt 2,631,035 2,164,713
(i)  Contract obtaining costs (i) ABEmEEE

Management expects the incremental costs, primarily sale commissions paid/
payable, as a result of obtaining the cloud services contracts are recoverable.
The Group capitalised these incremental costs and amortised them in “Sales
promotion” expenses when the related revenue is recognised. There was no
impairment loss in relation to the costs capitalised.

EEEE - RN ERZRH S RMmEERE
ERA(EBEREN ENOHEMD) AR
Bl - ZEBERHELBEENRANERL - A
ERRAERAR  SEBHEAHEREE
A - EERERAIEL - SRERERSK -
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SOt KM
5 Segment information (Continued) 5 SHEPEMGE)
(a) Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers (a) HEFSRABERMNEEMARE
(Continued)
(i)  Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (i) HEeWARTRSEZHKEA
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current TRETEIRE BN EROHUA P ELEE
reporting period relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. SRAEHEENSE -
Year ended 31 December
g#EXE+_—_A=+—~H
2022 2021
ot ~fofet- TET
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT ARBFT
Cloud services business EARFEET 1,320,693 770,420
ERP business and others EEREIBIT IS L EHAM 451,358 487,107
1,772,051 1,257,527
(iii)  Unsatisfied long-term cloud services contracts (iiiy FKBITHRHMERBEER

150 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations resulting from long-

term fixed-price cloud services contracts.

TRETTRABREBERNERBSR T RE
TTHEHIRTS °

At 31 December

g#EZ+=-BA=+—H

2022 2021

—E_—F T4

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT AREFIT
Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to R+ZA=+—HB2EREHD
long-term cloud services contracts that are partially or K2 FARBEITHRAZ RS

fully unsatisfied as at 31 December A RNBRZEE 922,400 717,180

Management expects that approximately 49.52% of the transaction price allocated
to the unsatisfied contracts as of 31 December 2022 will be recognised as revenue
during the next reporting period (RMB456,786,000). The remaining approximately
50.48% (RMB465,614,000) will be recognised in and after the 2023 financial year.

All other cloud services and ERP business contracts are for periods of one year
or less or are billed based on time incurred. As permitted under IFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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SO R RMIE
Property, plant and equipment 6 ABE -IRREE
Computer
and related Offie Motor Leasehold ~ Construction
Buildings equipment equipment vehicles  improvements in process Total
BT BEREBRE  WLBR B BhhERe ERIE &t
RHBO0D RIBO0D RHABOD RIBO0D RHIB 0D RBO0D RHIBOD
ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTT ARETR
Year ended 31 December 2021 BECBC-FIRST-DLER
Opening et book amount BEAAE 5210 6229 9143 T80 14969 101,79 746,148
Trensfer from invesmentproperis RELRHEEA 10966 - - - - - 109668
Roquistion ofsubsideries WETL - 0 - - - - B}
Otheradtons Efpsgh 330 U8 4.8 516 h 197,99 %2
Disposels KE (69) (6875) (%1) (m) - - (8197)
Depreciaton charge il (18,118) (2.467) (3081) (2686) (368) - (49,994
Closing net book amount BRIETRE 642,056 10973 10467 9409 210 297% 1044880
At 3t December 2021 ~8-%+ZAZt-R
Cost ik 807268 147478 74 31369 69.924 2979 1386576
Accumulated depreciation Zitine (165212) (76.503) 202m) (21.880) (5782 - (341.696)
Net book amount BEsE 642,036 10973 10467 9489 212 29793 1,044,880
Year ended 31 December 2022 BECBCCETIRST-ALEE
Onering netbook amount BEHAE 642,096 10973 10,467 9489 12,102 299,793 1,044,880
Otheradtons G - 2,978 2,609 1,380 16,185 456,337 499,409
Dipusds B - ] (21 (181) . . (810
Transer o nvstment propets RALREHEEL (36,506) = = = = (65,519 (102,025)
Depeion e & @m) (%) (Al 45 (1093) - ()
Closing e ook amun HEEESE O IO 1 O v S £ N L R
At 31 December 2022 REBZZE+ZRZH-A
Cost i 159,653 166,504 073 30,904 86,109 690,611 1,763,520
Accumulted depreciation 2itiE (176,338) (94.935) (19,662) (22,631) (72,760) - (386,826)
Net ook amount FaEsE 562,815 11,569 10,017 8,213 18,349 690,611 1,376,694

Depreciation of approximately RMB7,795,000 (2021: RMB6,019,000),
RMB15,685,000 (2021: RMB12,110,000) and RMB41,272,000 (2021:
RMB31,865,000) has been charged to selling and marketing expenses, research
and development costs and administrative expenses, respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, none of the property, plant and equipment was used as
security for bank borrowings (2021: nil).

T CFFR
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7 Leases

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee.

(a) Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases:

(a)

He

AMFERHEARASEERAEANEEE
Al e

RERARAERHEH

MIEHORKRIR T BHERREN T IIE5E

At 31 December
gE+-HA=+—8H

2022 2021
- ~ et T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREF T

Right-of-use assets EHEEE
Land use rights (i) {5 R () 101,416 139,088
Buildings BE 54,749 69,186
156,165 208,274

Lease liabilities HEARE

Current D 24,648 25,563
Non-current IERB 39,246 54,223
63,894 79,786

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2022 financial year were

RMB16,794,000 (2021: RMB61,323,000).

(i) The Group has land lease arrangement with mainland China government.
The land use rights are located in the PRC and held on leases of between

29 to 40 years, and for self-use.

152 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Annual Report 2022

“EC_UMBEEAN ERREEENAR
#16,794,0007c (ZZE = — % - AR¥61,323,000
o) °

() AEHEEBEANMBTITA L HRL -
T RECRPEARKMBEER -
THERG29F 2405 - HEM -
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SO B HmRMET
7  Leases (Continued) 7 HHE(E)
(b)  Amounts recognised in the income statement (h) HEBRARZHEEH
The income statement shows the following amounts relating to leases: BRERIRH Ty SBEEEEH
2022 2021
—=_— T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TT AREEFTT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FEHESEMTEER
Land use rights b R 4,262 3,944
Buildings BE 27,124 29,913
31,386 33,857
Interest expense (included in finance cost) MEBRAGIAMBER) 3,849 3,083
Expense relating to short-term leases BAREARABAENRIEE
(included in cost of sales and administrative expenses) BEEEHERENERGH
AHERARERER) 12,884 7,675
The total cash outflow for leases in 2022 was RMB45,275,000 (2021: —E-—FREEEENREREATAAR
RMB40,895,000). #:45,275,000C (=2 = —4F : AR¥40,895,000
JT) °
(c) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for (c) FEEWHEEFTHRESHEE
The Group leases various offices. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed REBHBZEHAE - HEARBE2ETE
periods of 1 to 10 years, but may have extension options as described in (d) below. HiRR - 1 210F TS - ERIREE S T ()Pt
R IERE -
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of THEKREEEBNEN FHnN  Be&E
different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants REIBHEZ G - BRI AEENHESE
other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. VR RFERSON - FHE W E M hiE( 224 - 58
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. EBETGIELEIIER -
(d) Extension and termination options (d) EHEBFEMELETHRIFE
Extension and termination options are included in a number of property leases AEBNZERAEZHERSERERBREMR

across the Group. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations. The majority of extension
and termination options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor.
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SOt KM
Intangible assets 8 ®|ERE
Trademarks, Computer Acquired
Development  licensesand  software for customer
Goodwill costs copyrights ownuse relationship Total
i1 M
e MARRF RESEE BREREKRS EFME At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  AREBTT AR®TT ARETT ARETRT ARET:H
Year ended 31 December ~ HE_Z_—F+-R

2021 =+—HLEE
Opening net book amount BREFE 127177 648,647 6,354 2,451 871 785,500
Acquisition of subsidiaries F A RIES (HiEE36)

(Note 36) 77412 - 45,800 194 10,600 134,006
Other additions HApigR - 423913 55,627 5,147 - 484 687
Amortisation charge R - (348,388) (12,685) (4.421) (1333) (366,827)
Closing net hook amount HRIEEPE 204,589 724172 95,096 33N 10,138 1,037,366
At 31 December 2021 RZIBZ-f

+=ZA=+-AH
Cost A 258,657 4,004,883 294 297 50,081 36,749 4 644 667
Accumulated amortisation BEEH - (3,280,711) (199.201) (46,710) (26,611) (3,553,233)
Accumulated Impairment ZERE (54,068) - - - - (54,068)
Net book amount REPE 204,569 724,172 %09 3371 10138 1,037,366
Year ended 31 December ~ HEZEZZ

2022 +ZA=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount HEmFE 204,589 124,172 95,096 3,31 10,138 1,037,366
Other additions HAER - 480,508 64 1,121 - 488,293
Amortisation charge e - (317,738) (11,583) (2,881) (1,082) (333,284)
Closing net book amount ~ HBRAREIR(E 204,589 886,942 83,577 8,211 9,056 1,192,375
At 31 December 2022 R-B-Zf

+=B=+-A
Cost A 258,657 4,485,392 300,362 57,802 36,749 5,138,962
Accumulated amortisation G il - (3,598,450 (216,785) (49,591) (27,693) (3,892,519
Accumulated Impairment ZERE (54,068) - - - - (54,068)
Net book amount IRERE 204,589 886,942 83,577 8,211 9,056 1,192,375

Amortisation charge of RMB15,546,000 (2021: RMB18,439,000) and
RMB317,738,000 (2021: RMB348,388,000) has been charged to administrative

expenses and research and development costs, respectively.
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B O BRI

8

Intangible assets (Continued)
Impairment test for goodwill

The goodwill amounting to RMB181,245,000 arises from the Group's acquisition of
Shanghai Guanyi Cloud Computing Software Co., Ltd. (“Guanyi”) was determined
at the date of acquisition on 29 February 2016, being the difference between the
purchase considerations and the fair value of net identifiable assets of Guanyi.
Goodwill has been allocated to the CGU of Guanyi for impairment testing.

The goodwill amounting to RMB77,412,000 arises from the Group’s acquisition
of Beijing Kingdee Yunji Technology Co., Ltd. (“Yunji”) was determined at the
date of acquisition on 28 July 2021, being the difference between the purchase
considerations and the fair value of net identifiable assets of Yunji. Goodwill has
been allocated to the CGU of Yunji for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on the higher of its fair
value less cost of disposal and value-in-use, which is calculated using discounted
cash flows based on five-year financial projections plus a terminal value related
to cash flows beyond the projection period extrapolated at an estimated terminal
growth rate of 3.00% (2021: 3.00%). Management determined a forecast
period based on expected development trend of Guanyi and Yunji with industry
experience. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to
the relevant industry.

8

T CFFR

ERAE R
o

R AR ¥5181,245,00070 2k B AL B4
ESHEFERMTARAR(ESDHKE - &
E-E-R"E-A-ThRAKBEER - ZH
BERESHUHRBFEEAABEEASNHEDN
ZH -HEZAHELNHECKABRESE
B TTHETT TIRMEAI, ©

B ARMET7,412,00070 R B R AR B H LR
SHREAMBERAR(EEDWKE  HE
T FLASHN\BRERER - ZRE
RERARRFEELABEEAINHENE
B HEEAMHEANBECKBRRSEN
BETEIT T RERR °

ReELABUNARESRREREAREE
BMERBERAMERBERNENRSE EE
0 - EREEEERRRAFOIM B ME
BERIFESENRESRE(EM3.00%( = —
F 0 3.00%) AR RAIE R R ETHR) &L
EBEFE EEERBEZINEENEHMER
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SOt ISR MR
8 Intangible assets (Continued) 8 EEEEGW
Impairment test for goodwill (Continued) 72 R (1)

TR CFN-_T—FFREENEFRN
FE/EEUWT -

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations for 2022 and 2021 are as
follows:

Guanyi:

L E

2022
———

— T ——

Revenue growth rate during the forecast period TERE U AL KR 21.36%-27.59% 28.37%-31.26%
EBITDA margin during the forecast period TERIEAA S BT B S AT ) 8.07%-32.32% -1.27%-25.04%
Terminal growth rate KB RE 3.00% 3.00%
Pre-tax discount rate TATALIR 2 19.56% 19.03%
Yunji: =H
2022 2021
ot fofent - 3 TET
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period TEREA R AIE K2 40.00%-48.94% 41.82%-50.29%
EBITDA margin during the forecast period TERIER BB HT B S AT R B 2 -0.75%-31.69% 0.97%-30.15%
Terminal growth rate KEBIERE 3.00% 3.00%
Pre-tax discount rate TIRTALIR & 20.62% 18.53%

EBITDA margin equals to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and

amortisation divided by total revenue.
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Intangible assets (Continued) 8
Impairment test for goodwill (Continued)
Impact of possible changes in key assumptions

Guanyi:

The recoverable amount of this CGU would equal its carrying amount if the key
assumptions were to change as follows:

ERAE R
o 0 ()

FEmSTRERERLHVE

-

5

TRERTEREHTHEEZE TS -__FM=
- —F+ - A=+ HOSREMEDT

2022
—E-"F
From To
] =

Revenue growth rate (% annual growth rate)
EBITDA margin (%)

Pre-tax discount rate (%) FHRTRLIR (%)

FE R EA AU A B R (FHE R R %)
TR B BT E EE AR AT A R (%)

21.36%—27.59%
8.07%-32.32%
19.56%

20.89%—26.98%
7.61%-30.46%
20.93%

Management has considered and assessed reasonably possible changes for
other key assumptions and have not identified any instances that could cause the
carrying amount of the Guanyi CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

Yunji:

The recoverable amount of this CGU would equal its carrying amount if the key
assumptions were to change as follows:

EREEEARHER B ERRNA BT
B8 - BREREMTLERE HCCUERE
BRHARESEAOER -

INRBERBRIFAEWM TR ZCGUAY AT
SRHEREREEE

2022
—E-F
From To
i £

Revenue growth rate (% annual growth rate)
EBITDA margin (%)

Pre-tax discount rate (%) Tt A REER 2R (%)

FRER M ALE KR (FIEREY)
TERIHRA BT B B S A

40.00%-48.94%
-0.75%-31.69%
20.62%

39.38%-48.18%
-0.12%-30.44%
21.17%

R (%)

Management has considered and assessed reasonably possible changes for
other key assumptions and have not identified any instances that could cause the
carrying amount of the Yunji CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

BEECDERMTHEMTIZMRNEHEAE
BE) o BARFHREMAEEHEECCURTEE
HRBE AT O S B ER
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SOt ISR MR
9 Investment properties 9 BEAMRYE
2022 2021
—EB_F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
At fair value AREE
At 1 January »—A—H 1,538,286 1,650,971
Transfer to property, plant and equipment and right-of- & EUMEEBABFEE R
use assets FEREEE = (116,744)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment B EEEBAREEDE 102,025 -
Transfer from right-of-use assets FRAREEEAREEME 4,794 -
Fair value changes recognised in profit or loss EBRREAPERZHAABEES) (15,587) 4,059
Revaluation gains on properties upon transfer from THIREFREAKREEER 2 E
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use RS
assets to investment properties 104,561 -
At 31 December »+=-A=+—H 1,734,079 1,538,286
(a) Amounts recognised in profit and loss for investment properties (a) BERMEREERZAEEHHAE
2022 2021
=5 T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
Rental income el A 70,295 72,085
Direct operating expenses from property that generates ~ ZE A FA & WA VI E E WD)
rental income HEELEEA (108) (69)
70,187 72,016

An independent valuation of the Group’s investment properties was performed by
the valuer, Avista Group, to determine the fair value of the investment properties
based on highest and best use as at 31 December 2022. The Group’s investment
properties, which comprised office buildings in the PRC, were carried at fair value
and measured using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as at 31 December
2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

(b)

Investment properties (Continued)
Leasing arrangements

The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating leases with rentals
payable monthly. Lease payments for some contracts include CPI increases, but
there are no other variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate. Where
considered necessary to reduce credit risk, the Group required the tenants to
provide deposits for the term of lease contract.

Although the Group is exposed to changes in the residual value at the end of the
current leases, the Group typically enters into new operating leases and therefore
will not immediately realise any reduction in residual value at the end of these
leases. Expectations about the future residual values are reflected in the fair value
of the properties.

For minimum lease payments receivable on leases of investment properties, refer
to Note 37.

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s finance department includes a team that reviews the valuations

performed by the independent valuers for financial reporting purposes. This

team reports directly to the chief financial officer (CFQ). Discussions of valuation

processes and results are held among the CFO, the valuation team and the

valuers at least once every six months, in ling with the Group’s interim and annual

reporting dates.

At the end of each reporting period the finance department:

- Verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report;

- Assesses property valuations movements when compared to the prior year
valuation report;

- Holds discussions with the independent valuer.

As part of this discussion, the team presents a report that explains the reasons for
the fair value movements.

(b)

T CFFR

A R ()
HRRH

REWMENEEMES AL BLEER - B
AXft - —ARNESBIEEBEEYEIER
BE - BRBHEMERBERESSERNATEHE
T ARERRBLEBREERERE - X
HFEFEHEARMARRRES

BARNKEAEE N EERERE - SEEFER
EBEENE(  BEAREBRTSEANNLEH
S8 Ft - EEEEERERE - AEET
G BRI RISREEAERADR D o HARKF
HEENTEHIRRESLENAAEET

REYEAEN AR ENIE S RHIFT3T7

FREMGERE

AREBPBERE —E/NE - BERMBERSE
BB AEMNGEETES - l/MAE
EMEREMEE(CFO)ER - RiLaAEENT
HAEERERR - CFO ~ fh{E/NE MR (ERD
ROBREARE X - AiWEERENES
R

ESEFBFER - BHHEE

- REBIUGBERENAEEZERR
Vil

- TEEAER R ERS LR T
b

- EBVAERETIR
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B Ot B R AR M

9 Investment properties (Continued) 9 REMYEGE
(b) Leasing arrangements (Continued) (h) FEEZRBEE)
Valuation techniques {EERE
For completed office buildings, the valuation was determined using income BIER A KXNEMGHENBREE - BERT
approach based on significant unobservable inputs. These inputs include: AIEER ) AEETE © BB AR -
Range of Relationship of unobservable
Unobservable inputs  Description unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
FURRBAK AAHRBA
FABREHA it #E HORREMRE
Term yields Based on yields extracting from terms of current leases 4.75% (2021: 5.00%) The higher the term yields rate, the lower the
fair value
Gzt I g REZANEHTNEES NN - R ERNKEE AT5%(ZZ2=—4:500% MEANERES  DAEEBE
Reversionary yields Based on expected yields after expiry of any current lease 5.00% (2021: 5.50%) The higher the reversionary yields, the lower
the fair value

THEIM R % REEHNEETNRESOEN - BrmEERRNONEE 0% CT=—F :550%) HEMNERER - AnBEEWE
Fair market rents Based on the actual location, type and quality of the properties and supported ~ RMB50- RMB138 per month per  The higher the rental value, the higher the fair

by the terms of any existing lease, other contracts and external evidence square meter (2021: RMB50- value

such as current market rents for similar properties RMB135 per month per square

meter)

misiEe RENENER NS BENER  ThEMRFAENE ST HREBAARKNT- mhElsds AnEEES

7o EthERMNFER(IEUDENEImsREM  1¥T(CE—F: 87

S3 7RG A ARES07T-135

7o)

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year. R E R ) o
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SOt SR RMEE

10 Investments in associates 10 BRERE
2022 2021
ol St - 3 ZE—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#TT ARETT
At 1 January »—A—AH 393,003 403,032
Additions #hn 17,336 -
Dilution gains of an associate 1B B RER RS 15,216 -
Disposal RE (16,812) (18,348)
Share of profits of associates EEBERENANNEE 12,850 8,319
At 31 December »+=-A=+—H 421,593 393,003

(a)

(b)

Individually immaterial associates

In the opinion of the directors, none of the associates is material to the Group.
Summarised aggregate financial information of the individually immaterial

(a) FEXHBERE

AEBESRAR  AEHEEEANBERE -
ERRAZENIFEABERENPHER

associates that are accounted for using the equity method are as following: FELLMT

2022 2021
ol ot 3 ZT-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTT AREETIT

Aggregate carrying amounts of individually immaterial ~ ZEE RHIBEE R FIH
associates BREBeR 421,593 393,003

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of: REE TR FEARET
Profit for the year FERF 12,850 8,319
Other comprehensive income H AR a s - -
Total comprehensive income Fea=gi k=it 12,850 8,319

All the associates of the Group are unlisted and operate in Mainland China. There
are no significant contingent liabilities relating to liabilities of the associates for
which the Group is severally liable.

(b) AEBEMABMEARH/IFLTAR  AAEP
BIRREZE - AKEREEY 2 QR &G0

MEBRSBRE -
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SOt KM
10 Investments in associates (Continued) 10 BiE®RE(HE)
(c) Unrecognised share of losses of associates (¢) KMEZELEBELTSIR
2022 2021
ol et 3 T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
At 1 January —BA—H 31,960 21,719
Unrecognised share of losses during the year FERNARERNEIEMEE 4,902 10,241
At 31 December +=BR=+—H 36,862 31,960
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B O BRI

11

Financial instruments by category

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

11 EEINSHEMIR

AEBEFAATEHIA

2022 2021
—E__f B
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETFIT
Financial assets SMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost DR FtEnemEE
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments FEWBE T R B R (&SRR
and VAT recoverable) (Note 14) AR B 2~ e ER) (FEE14) 330,300 366,736
Loans to third parties (Note 14) BTBE=FERMEIEED 331,355 328,853
Pledged bank deposits (Note 16) BRRITF R (I 5E16) 2,809 5,558
Short-term bank deposits (Note 16) R ERERT T (M9 3E16) 625,559 370,000
Long-term bank deposits (Note 16) K EAERITIE SR (MI7E16) 1,725,000 1,325,000
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 16) Re RIS EEBY (16 1,942,735 2,046,815
4,957,758 4,442 962
Financial assets at fair value DanREEMAEHERMEE
Financial assets at FVPL (Note 12) AR EEFEAES:TABENS
A& E (fIFE12) 997,419 1,705,548
Financial assets at FVOCI LAA R EER = BB A RS
WSS REE 4,463 -
Derivative financial assets (Note 13) PTHESR T AMIFEI) - 2,145
1,001,882 1,707,693
Financial liabilities SRR
Liabilities at amortised cost D#SEFHENSRAR
Trade and other payables (excluding VAT and FERTBR R R E A B R (T & 18 ER &
other taxes payables and salary and HibBie  ENFeRETER)
staff welfare payables) (Note 24) (P 5E24) 631,635 481,402
Bank borrowings (Note 22) fE R (fT7E22) 470,000 -
Lease liabilities (Note 7) HEBEMED 63,894 79,786
1,165,529 561,188

The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial instruments is
discussed in Note 3.1(b). The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the
reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of financial assets mentioned
above.

AEBEMESAb)F w7 Ee R TABRN
ERER - HEMR T HEERBRNSZAMA
REMEREREENEREER -
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12 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(a) Classification of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group classifies the following financial assets at FVPL:

° Debt investments that do not qualify for measurement at either amortised

cost or FVOCI

° Equity investments that are held for trading, and

° Equity investments for which the entity has not elected to recognise fair

value gains and losses through OCI.

Financial assets measured at FVPL include the following:

12 LIAAREHELRSBMHARR
B & R R E

(@) BAREEHEARSBHARRNSME
ESW

RZFZZF+ZA=+—8 AKEHNUT
TRMEES D RAAREBEFERRZEHTFA
BaNeREE

. THARBRARA A EELBIAK
foir & Wistt BB BRI

o RRHMFANBHERE UK

s ARERBERRBAAEBEEBTA
Hibra st EMBERE

URAREEFEAESFTABRSNEREESR
FEATAR

2022 2021
—E_C ZEZ-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AE®TT ARETFT

Investments designated at fair value through profit or loss EEAAEEEHEARSHRE
Wealth management products (i) BEEEEM() 19,201 703,193
Listed equity securities RS 47,054 44472
Unlisted equity investments (ii) FE LT RRIEIR A i) 931,164 957,883
997,419 1,705,548
Less: non-current partion AIEmEE D (931,164) (957,883)
66,255 747 665
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SO B HmRMET
12 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 12
(Continued)

(a) Classification of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (a)
(Continued)

(i) This represented the Group’s investments in various wealth management
products issued by commercial banks and state-owned financial institutions.
These products have a term ranging from 2 months to 24 months. They have
an expected annual return rate ranging from 1.50% to 2.85%. No single wealth
management product investment accounted for over 5% of the Group’s total
assets. The fair values of these investments were determined based on income
approach, details of which refer to Note 3.2.

(i) This represented the Group’s investments in various unlisted equity investments,
including Dmall Inc. and other companies in software industry.

(b)  Amounts recognised in profit or loss (b)

The gains were recognised in profits or loss are as following:

LaRAREHEARSEARR
B & 5038 & (1)

DanBEREARSBHARSHERMNE
EST )

(i) BERTAEEHFERTIRESEBEESE
THERMEEEEMORE - GLEEMRN
BRI AHEAZE24@EA - bR TFEHE R
HHEN150%22.85% 2 - 88 —THIEMERK
EEEMEEENSDAL - BEREN DR
BESENEEEEEN  FAEA2EW
3.2 e

(i) BRTAKENSEFELTRERE 85
ZEHYEARARREBITENEMAT -

HRBEARNEHN

THIREA R F N R BR

2022 2021
ol - B4
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Fair value gains on investments at FVPL recognised in -~ AR BEFE B HEZ8 7 ABERN

other gains (Note 28) SREEMNANBEZEKE
(Ff15£28) 25,467 50,068
13 Derivative financial instruments 13 $fiEE&MmTHR
Assets
gE

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEFTT

Not qualified for heage accounting T EERI @&
— Foreign exchange forward contracts (a) —INERFRE 4(a) - 2,145

Analysed as: DI

— Current — & - 2,145

(@)  The Group has no derivative financial instruments for hedging purpose at
31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

() BEZZ-__F+ZA=+—HILE =K

EEEAREPRENTESRIACC
T —F )
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14

Trade and other receivables, and loans to third parties 14 MEUKIRFREHLMEW 0 RIETFE

=FHER
2022 2021
=5 ZEZ—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT AREETTT
Trade receivables (a) JEURBR K (a) 269,548 287,655

Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables

L EWCEORE YA (BT RE3.1 (D)

(Note 3.1(b)) (140,244) (134,800)
Trade receivables — net JEURBRFk — F58 129,304 152,855
Other receivables HoAth pE IR
— Notes receivable —EWEE 39,209 57,109
— Advances to employees (b) —[AE BIREEA R (D) 5,414 9,158
— Prepayments — A 48,841 50,618
— VAT recoverable —IBERLRR 17,940 27,768
— Interest receivables — FEUFI & 79,924 47,962
— Receivables from related parties (c) (Note 38(c)) — P BA s 5 7RI () (T #E38) 22,070 19,476
— Receivables from non-controlling shareholders — FEUGEIE I i = 37,619 43619
— Others —HAty 33,284 50,739
— Less: allowance for impairment of other receivables —R HA ORI EEE (RN IR

(excluding prepayments) (Note 3.1(b)) BRHN) (B 5E3.1(b)) (16,524) (14,182)
397,081 445122
Less: non-current portion WE  IERENI D (104,051) (53,156)
Current portion mENER S 293,030 391,966
Loans to third parties (d) HKTE=FERW)
— Current portion —REE D 268,274 305,383
— Non-current portion —IEREN B 63,081 23,470
331,355 328,853
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate their fair value. MRS R Mt R EEY RO ES
The Group’s trade and other receivables are mainly denominated in RMB. BRAREE o ANEE BRI R E b e WK
FEUARKE -
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SO R RMIE
14 Trade and other receivables, and loans to third parties 14 MEEREELMEWRR > RETSE
(Continued) =FERGE)
(a)  Sales are generally made without prescribed credit terms in the sales contracts but ~ (a) ZAEBAEHEE A R P Y EWIR K EREE = H
customers usually take 1 to 3 months to settle the receivables. At 31 December B BERPBEE—E-FEARNIAFE =
2022 and 2021, the aging analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date were = T+ -_A=1+—HEWER
as follows: HEERE DT -
2022 2021
—EB_F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
0—90 days 0—90% 99,724 118,441
91 —180 days 91—180K 11,459 15,620
181 — 360 days 181 —360K 14,690 18,355
Over 360 days R E360K 143,675 135,239
269,548 287,655
(b)  Advances to employees (h) REREHFEHE
The amounts advanced to employees were restricted for business purpose mAEBRENEASERRBEEZ - flmA
only, such as advances for selling expenses. Such advances were interest free, REERE - ZBRATHRE - BEMRAR
unsecured and repayable on demand. During the years ended on 31 December DRIFEE - BUEE T -_—FR-_FT——
2022 and 2021, the Group did not advance any cash to the directors for use on TZA=T—A  AEEWERESETEZEM
business activities. FRIE e
(¢)  Receivables from related parties were unsecured, interest-free, and repayable o~ (€) ~ FEMREAE T BRI AT LRI - RIRERK
demand and denominated in RMB. PERFERIE - AARKERHE -
(d)  Loans to third parties (d) WBFPE=FHER
2022 2021
ol ot 3 —T—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
Loans to third parties MTE=FHER 334,702 332,175
Less: Provision for collective impairment assessment B BERUREERS
of the loans (3,347) (3,322)
Loans to third parties, net of provision BTEZFNER—FE 331,355 328,853
Less: non-current portion B IEmENER Y (63,081) (23,470)
Current portion mEhEE S 268,274 305,383
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14 Trade and other receivables, and loans to third parties 14
(Continued)

(d) Loans to third parties (Continued) (d)

The loans to third parties represented loans made under the micro-credit business,
which bear interest from 4.28% to 24.00% (2021: 4.28% to 24.00%) per annum
and are repayable with fixed terms agreed with the customers, and all denominated
in RMB.

The fair values of the loans to third parties approximated their carrying amounts.
The interest accrued was due within 12 months and presented in interest
receivables.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.

The Group performed expected credit loss assessment of loans to third parties
collectively by grouping loans with similar credit risk characteristics. During the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the majority of the loans were in stage 1
and there was no significant change in credit quality for loans for both years.

FEU AR SRS H M FEU SR - R#GF 58
ZH ARG

B PE=ZFHER ()

RYTE=ZTWERRNEEEXBELNE
B BREFEIEA4.28%5124.00% (ZF = —4 :
4.28%%1124.00%) Z & - 37 B 7 5E B B E HA
BAEE - BUAREEHE -

ZRTE=ZDEFNAABELEAREEER
3T o AREGHEAEUA SE12(E A REE -
Sl BRIOE LR B A o

REEZETEESERRZEEZLN AL
Mo URERERSHHEEZERRESHER
EEm e ATHEERRRIEEEEN - K
EEGEEEERS BB ENNRREYLA
R B AR LR ETTILE

$Elﬁﬂﬁﬂ7ﬁ£ﬁwﬁﬁﬁﬂ 8 BRI B RO

TR HEYHE=FEFET T EANER
%EQE HE EEE-_T-__F+t_HA=1+—H
M-_Z_—F+-A=1T—BWFEF K%
BEFERE—HE  LEEMFHNERER

LEHREERRENL -
15 Inventories 15 #E
2022 2021
—E—-— ZE—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETIT
Software products and related parts B Em RABBRL T 44,871 30,418

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in “cost of sales”
amounted to approximately RMB189,931,000 (2021: RMB185,870,000) (Note 27).
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16 Cash and cash equivalents

16 ReRkieEFRM

2022 2021
- Sl B —4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARET T

Cash at bank and in hand (a) RITREFRE () 4,296,103 3,747,373
Less: Short-term bank deposits (b) R EERSRITIERR(D) (625,559) (370,000)
Long-term bank deposits (c) REPRITIER(C) (1,725,000) (1,325,000)
Pledged bank deposits (d) EHRERITEN(d) (2,809) (5,558)
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 1,942,735 2,046,815

(a) Cash at bank and in hand was denominated in the following

(a) BITREFRSLUTIHIEWEE :

currencies:
2022 2021
—E_—f —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AREFTT
RMB AR 4,208,961 3,636,525
UsD =TT 21,535 18,364
HKD et 64,121 91,128
Others HAib 1,486 1,356
4,296,103 3,747,373

(b)  The weighted-average effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits was 3.10%

(2021: 3.51%) with terms ranging from 3 months to 9 months.

(c)  The weighted-average effective interest rate on long-term bank deposits was 3.58%

(2021: 3.69%) with terms ranging from 28 months to 60 months.

(d)  The bank deposits were pledged to banks as required in certain projects the Group
was tendering. Such pledged deposits will be released upon the closure of the

tendering.

(b) 3ME A=A REHRITIFHRNBEEMNKS
310% (= =—4F : 351%) ©

(c) EHSRITERNBEHUNERILNN(ZF-—
F 1 369%) - HIR A281EZ=601EH -

(d) EARESERERFXEHIMNESOEM -

HEREBEEENARERKIEMINESL
R AEBR IR
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17 Subsidiaries

17

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022:

FiH

UWTAR-_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HFEFRQ

Proportion of ordinary
Proportion of ordinary Proportion of shares held by
Place of incorporation ~ Principal activities and Particulars of ~ shares directly held ~ ordinary shares held ~non-controlling interests
Name and kind of legal entity place of operation issued sharg capital hy parent (%) hy the Group (%) (%)
HREIERE HBARERRS HEREREN  AFENEERRT
2% pyEd b IERBRETHE BETRFEHE R R A %) BHEREBIC) BB (%)
Kingdee Software (China) Co, Lid. The PRC, limited iabilly ~ Development, manufacturing and selling RVIB330,000,000 10 10 -
(‘Kinggeg Ching’) company ofsoftware and hardware products and
provision of software-relaled senvies in the
PR
SRFHREERAR(2FRE]) B AREALE  FE HERBEREREEES ANIB530,000,000 1 1 -
WREER I AERGRS T8
Kingdee International Software Group Hong Kong, limitec iabilty  Sales of software products in Hong Kong JSD1,000,000 10 10 -
(HK,) Co, Lt. company
SRERAAREEEERRT  FR RREALE  HUEREE FF (SD1,000,000 10 0 -
Crotona Assets Limited BV, limited liabilty company  Markefing and promotion of software products USDa0,000 10 10 -
inthe BVI
Crotona Asses Limied EBETHE BRAMF BHELTSHE EBEREE D30 000 10 1 -
A
Kingdee Apusic Cloud Computing Co., Lid. -~ The PRC, limited fiability ~ Sales of software products in the PRC RMB40,000,000 - Q0 60
(‘Kingdee Apusic’) (Note (2) corporation
MIMeFREZHERAERLE T8 RHERLR  FHEREE & RMB0,000,000 - | il
(R ()
Shanghai Kingdee Deeking Cloudcomputing ~ The PRC, limited fibilly ~ Sales of sofware products in the PRC RIB20,000,000 - 10 -
G0, Ltd (*Shanghai Kingdee') company
PaeREeEHERRAR hEERERLE  BEEREE 4E RHB20,000,000 - 0 -
([HEe%)
Kingdes Deeking Cloudcomputing Co, Lt~ The PR, limited liabilly Sl of software products in the PRC RVIB30,000,000 - 100 -
(‘Kingdeg Degking’) company
SRRSEHEARLA(2R%e)) TE FREFLT  FHEREE TE AMB50,000,000 - 11 -
Kingdee Vehicle Nework Technology Co, Ltd. ~ The PR, imited fiabilty ~ Development of interet technology in the RVIB100,000,000 - 5% U
(‘Kingdee Vehicle') company PRC
SREERREARLT REBRERLE  EBERGED . CE RMB100,000,000 - 5 U
E2 aEd)
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BB mR M
17 Subsidiaries (Continued) 17 F2F ()
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022: UWFTAR-_E-_—_F+-_A=+—HBFEFR
(Continued) Al (8)
Proportion of ordinary
Proportion of ordinary Proportion of shares held by
Place of incorporation ~ Principal activities and Particularsof ~ shares directly held ~ ordinary shares held ~non-controlling interests
Name and kind of legal entity  place of operation issued share capital hy parent (%) hy the Group (%) (%)
AT HBLATEERE BAREREN  AFENLEGEE
1 EEEREN IERBRESHE BRITEFER  HEERLAY) HERLOICY)  SEERLACH
Guanyi The PRC, lmited liabiiy el of software products in the PRC RIB16,538,000 - 80 ]
company
£5 hE BREMAT  BEEREE HE RIIB16,536,000 8 0
Hunan Kingdee Softwere Technology Co., Lid. ~ The PRC, imited iability ~Sales ofsoftware products in the PRC RIB20,000,000 - 10 —
company
HReRRARITERAT hE BRELAE  BHEREE PE RHB20,000,000 11 -
Xiamen Kingdee Sofware Co., Lid. The PRC, limited liabiity ~ Sales of software products in the PRC RIB10,000,000 - 10 -
compeny
EFeRRIERAT hE BRELAE  GHEREE PE RHB10,000,000 11 -
Befjing Kingdee Management Software Co, Lic.  The PRC, imitec iability ~Sales of software products in the PRC R1B20,000,000 — 10 —
(‘Beifing Kingdee") company
IReFEERHARAT hEBREMAT  BEEREE HE RHB20,000,000 10 -
([re%)
Kingdee Credt Technology (Shenzhen) Co, Ltd.  The PRC, limited liability ~ Online financial intermedation services in the RIB&7,500,000 - 4 3%
company PRC
SRERMRRIERAT hEERERLT  RLERRIRE - HE RHBST 500,000 b 3
Shanghai Kingdee Infernet Technology Co, Lid. ~ The PRC, limited liabiiy  Sales of software products in the PRC RIB10,000,000 - 10 -
company
HESRERRRARAT hEEREFAT  EHEREE HE RHBI0,000,000 11 -
Kingdee Cloud Technology Co., Lid The PRC, limited liability el of software products in the PRC RIB50,000,000 - 100 -
compeny
SEEHRERLA(SRENR) TE AREAAT  HHEREE TE RMBS0,000,000 1] -
Guangzhou Degking Small-Loan Co.,Lid The PRC, lmited liabiiy ~ Provision of oline financial services n the RVIB200,000,000 - 100 -
company PRC
Bhmee EEFERAR hERREELNT  REEBERE 4E RMB200,000,000 1 -
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CX ek
17 Subsidiaries (Continued) 17 FLFGR)
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022: UWFTAR-_E-_—_F+-_A=+—HBFEFAQ
(Continued) Al (8
Proportion of ordinary
Proportion of ordinary Proportion of shares held by
Place of incorporation ~ Principal activities and Particularsof ~ shares directly held ~ ordinary shares held ~non-controlling interests
Name and kind of legal entity  place of operation issued share capital by parent (%) hy the Group (%) (%)
HRB MR HBLATEERE HEREREN  AFENLERSE
1 ERERRR IERBRESHE BRITEFER  HEEREAY) HERLACY  SEHERLAIC)
Shenzhen Kingdee Jingdou Cloud nfermet~~ The PRC, lmited liabiliy el of software products in the PRC RIB12,000,000 - - -
Technology Co,, Lid. (Note (o)) company
MIEFZRERAERADMY) +8 AREALT  HEGHE +E RHB2,000,000 il
Kingdeg Cregit Co, Lid. (Note (b)) The PRC, imited liability ~ Development and service of oftware in the RB30,000,000 - - -
company PR
SEHERRARMEN) hE - BRELAR  BHRWRE - E RMBS0,000,000 1
Shenzhen Kingdee Pay Technology Co, Lid. ~ The PRC, limited liabiity  Development of onling pay technology n the RIB100,000,000 - - -
(Note () company PRC
MImeGTANEERAR (25X T8 AREALT  REXFERSEORIERE 8 RMB100,000,000 1 -
i) (3 ()
Shenzhen Hongin Investment Co., Ltd. (Note (o)) The PRC, limted libilty ~ Investment holding in the PR RIIB1,000,000 - - -
compeny
MM RERRAD M)  hE AREELT  RABR & RMB1,000,000 1 -
Yunj The PRC, limited liability ~ Development and service of oftware in the RVB70,510,000 - 5% b
company PRC
et hE BRELAR  BHRWRE - PE RMB0,510,000 % #

The directors of the Company considered that the non-controlling interests
in respect of the subsidiaries are not material to the Group, and therefore, no
summarised financial information of the relevant subsidiaries is presented

separately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

17 Subsidiaries (Continued) 17 F2F ()

Note: sk -

(a)  Although the Group owns less than half of the equity interests in Kingdee () BRATEEHEBRINKFLONFEMOEE
Apusic, it is able to gain power over more than one half of the voting rights by BAEEREHREMEENHZE - Gt
virtue of an agreement. Consequently, the Group consolidates Kingdee Apusic MEBBFEIRERE - At - AEBEBZEI
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Beijing Kingdee Middleware Software System KIE - UREHNEEFRARIL RSB RIESE
Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Kingdee Middleware Software Systems Co., Ltd. BREERAFAR ESSHPEHEEGRRES

RARMAM BT A GHE -

(b)  The Group does not have legal ownership in the equity of these operating (b) SEHINBELEERBUELIETMAE - £E
companies. The Group has entered into several contractual arrangements with BELELERER Y BRETMEERRR
them and their equity holders since their incorporation. These contractual YETFHE ZEBETAHBEEESSE
arrangements are irrevocable and enable the Group to: :

- exercise effective financial and operational control over these operating -  HELBEREUTEANNMBERL
companies; R

- exercise more than one half of the equity holders voting rights of these — HELERBAUMTEBAYENLENE
operating companies; REE

- receive substantially all of the economic interest returns generated by — “ﬁ“ﬁi% BT EB I B mESE
these operating companies in consideration for the business support; %Eiﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬁ,ﬁiﬁu/\ ;

- obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase the entire equity — HELCERBOREAGTIHENE
interest in these operating companies from the equity holders; REERE

- obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of these operating — RERFRESEZEEBNREELT
companies from their equity holders as collateral for all the payments TE TR SEBEFIERER o

due to the Group and as security for performance of obligations under
the contractual arrangements.

As a result of such contractual arrangements, the Group has rights to variable REELERENNTE  AEEBZHAE[M
returns from its involvement with them and has the ability to affect those returns H BERNBERHEYELES TR ((4E
through its power over these operating companies (“VIEs”) and is considered EEBDMNENFEELO R EIRE
to control them. Consequently, the Group regards them as controlled structured Hl o @it > REBAHUBRERB MRS
entities in the consolidated financial statements. EhlEECEE -

Nevertheless, the contractual arrangements may not be as effective as direct ZIEW m? % B 7 an AR 52 B @B VA TE T A R
legal ownership in providing the Group with direct control over these VIEs and HEERELEEBCEBER  EERE
uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system could impede the Group’s %E‘JTTJ&IE MR EARAEEHEE LR
beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of these VIES. The Group MEERE EE  BENKREE - ~5E
believes that these contractual arrangements are in compliance with relevant REZHBEERTAPEBREAR AR T A
PRC laws and regulations and are legally binding and enforceable. BERM -
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18 Share capital and share premium

18 BFHEFRR

Number of shares Share capital ~ Share premium Total
BE®E BREEE BFaE At
(thousands) RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(TR AREFT ARET AREFT
At1 January 2021 —E_-5-—-F—A%HK 3,466,598 83,331 5,052,514 5,135,845
Employee share option scheme BT 2
— Exercise of share options (Note 21) —{T{E AR (f 321 5583 153 15,046 15,199
Share award plan B GE ]
—Value of services received —R&EE - - 107,413 107,413
—Transfer shares to the awardess upon vesting  — R S3EES I IRH B ELREN A - - (25,623) (25,623)
At 31 December 2021 2+ A=+—HER 3,472,181 83,484 5,149,350 5,232,834
At1 January 2022 —E_"5—-F—A%H 3,472,181 83,484 5,149,350 5,232,834
Employee share option scheme BT 2
— Exercise of share options (Note 21) —1{T{E A (P 3E21) 8,390 182 24,478 24,660
Share award plan BGE R
—Value of services received -R5EE - - 115,140 115,140
—Transfer shares to the awardees uponvesting  — R B BB R HEBLELERA - - (117,840) (117,840)
Cancellation of shares (Note 19(a)) Rt 3 88 (EE19(2) (6,172) (129) (86,175) (86,304)
At 31 December 2022 ZEE+AS+—AER 3,474,399 83,537 5,084,953 5,168,490

(@) The total authorised share capital as at 31 December 2022 was
4,000,000,000 (2021: 4,000,000,000) shares with a par value of HKD0.025

(2021: HKDO0.025) per share. All issued shares were fully paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO B HmRMET
19 Other reserves 19 HMGEE
Statutory Shares held
Merger Capital surplus Property for share Other
reserve reserve reserve fund  revaluation award plan  Translation eserves Total
EEL iy ]
AR EELR EERBLRS Efy Fishin % R fit
RIBO00 RMB000 RMB000 RMBO00 RMBO00 RIBO00 RMBO00 RIBO0D
AREBIT  ARETR ARBTT  ARETT ARETT  ARETT ARBTT ARETR
Note (b) Note (c) Note (d) Note (3)
fiizH) fiHe) fiH() W)
At1 January 2021 ZSC-5-B-RER 6570 253,468 138,762 476,019 (250,353) 41769 65,717 732002
Currency ransafon diferences IENEER - - - - - 1676 - 1676
Buy-back of hares forthe purpose o share. B9 52 BUETERR
award plan - - - - (35,020) - - (35820)
Transactons vith non-controlling ST ERNRS
inerests Note 35) (FzE30) - - - - - - B B
Transter shaes t e awarcees REBRBRAEHE
uponvesting ERBA - - - - 2040 - - 0802
At31 December 2021 ZEC-5t+ZA=1-H
#i 6570 253,488 138,762 476,049 (265371) 345 91261 74204
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SOt KM
19 Other reserves (Continued) 19 H {6 (#8)
Statutory Shares held
Merger Capital surplus Property for share Other
reserve reserve reserve fund  revaluation awardplan  Translation resenves Total
LA iR
AR EELR EEEBLRS Efy Fishin #i5 -1 ait
RMBI00D RMBI00 RMBI0D RMBIO00 RMBI000 RMBI00D RMBI000 RMBI000
AREBTT  ARETR  ARETT ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Note (b) Note c) Note (d) Note 3
i) M) () M)
At1 January 2022 “ECCE-R-RER 6,570 253,488 138,762 476,049 (265,311) 43,445 91,261 744,204
Curtency tanslation iferences IENEEE - - - - - (8,242) - (8,242)
Buy-back of shares for thepuposeof - SRR R (FfzEa)
cancelation (Note a) - - - - - - (86,304) (86,304)
Cancellaton of heres fRipzis - - - - - - 86,304 86,304
Buy-back of shares forthe pupose o share. A7 22 Bt EISERR 7
award plan (Note ) (Bza) - - - - (81,340) - - (81,340)
Transter shas o e awardees REBERERNERS
upon vesting ERBA - - - - 117,840 - - 117,840
Revaluaton gans on properties pon T REFREARE RN
fransfer from propery, plant and A2 ERETE  MREE
equipment and right-of-use assels fo
investment properies, nef of fax - - - 94,105 - - - 94,105
At31 December 2022 ZBCCETIRET-A
12 6,570 253,488 136,762 570,154 (228,871) 3,208 91,261 866,567
(@) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company bought back a @ BEZZZ_—F+-A=+—HILE
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total of 12,757,800 ordinary shares of the Company from the market at a
total consideration of HKD204,644,000 (equivalent to RMB167,644,000)
of which 6,586,000 ordinary shares (equivalent to RMB81,340,000)
were for the purpose of share award plan under the Company’s employee
share award scheme and 6,171,800 ordinary shares (equivalent to
RMB86,304,000) were for the purpose of cancellation (Note 18).

The merger reserve represented the difference between the carrying
amounts of the capital of the subsidiaries at the date on which they were
acquired by the Company and the nominal amounts of the Company’s
shares issued as consideration for the acquisitions.

The capital reserve arose mainly from the reinvestment of dividends into
the PRC subsidiaries and capitalisation of reserves of certain subsidiaries.

The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to follow the laws and
regulations of the PRC and their articles of association. These subsidiaries
are required to allocate at least 10% of their net profits to the reserve fund
until the balance of such fund has reached 50% of their registered capital.
The reserve fund can only be used, upon approval by the shareholders’
meeting or similar authorities, to offset accumulated losses or increase
capital.
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21

SO R RMIE
20 Retained earnings 20 FHEEE
RMB’000
AR#®TT
At 1 January 2021 w-—E_—$—Hf—H 1,921,784
Loss for the year FEEE (302,330)
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE_—%$+"A=+—H 1,619,454
At 1 January 2022 W-E-—_%—H—H 1,619,454
Loss for the year FEREE (389,158)
At 31 December 2022 R-E_"_F+-A=+—H 1,230,296
Employee share-based arrangements 21 RIRGRHE
Share option scheme (a) FEBRiERTE

(a)

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11 July 2005 (the “2005 Option
Scheme”). At the general meeting of the Company convened on 8 May 2015,
the Company terminated the 2005 Option Scheme and adopted a new share
option scheme (the “2015 Option Scheme”) with the validity period of ten years,
under which the directors may, at their discretion, grant options to any qualifying
participants to subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to the terms and
conditions stipulated therein.

The vesting period of the share options granted is 4 years and the vesting schedule
is 25% after 12 months from the grant date, 25% after 24 months from the grant
date, 25% after 36 months from the grant date, and 25% after 48 months from the
grant date.

E-TTRAFEA+—H  AREHEMT—E
BTSSR FE) - £=ZF—1
FRANBEBAMBFRERS L XARE
RIE BT AR B ERA T —IE 60 RE AR
FE(ZZ=—AFFED - BBHARI0F @ &
It ERARIE ARG ERSEEE T ER
W URBARRRG - WASRRZETE
ol SHNEE SEaE

RENBERENEERANS  BEAAR
i B EAEEH2E A 1£25% ~ R H B BRe 52418 A
1225% ~ % A BIAERET361E A 1225% M 4% Hi A
AEEH481(E A 1£25% °
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21 Employee share-based arrangements (Continued) 21 ATIBRnREEGE)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) FRRRAERTEIGE)
(i)  Movements in share options (i) FRExEEE
Movements in the number of shares under the options outstanding and their MARTTENBRESE REEBOINEEHT
related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: EENEEFHINT :
2005 Option Scheme 2015 Option Scheme
20036 % NokHER
Average No. of shares Average No. of shares ~ Total no. of shares
exercise price  under the options exercise price  under the options  under the options
SRTHTER WRETORE SREYTER WRETORE BRETOR®AH
HKD per share fhousands HKD per share thousands fhousands
i Fit % Fit Fit
At1 January 2021 RZ3--5-B-H 261 B/T 460 17100 0u7
Exercised (Nofe 16) BT (D) 250 (34%) 460 2,088) (5.589)
LapsedForeted Bit/B4E 33 (8700 180 (25%) (1123)
At 31 December 2021 RZSZ-£+ZA=1+-H 212 1652 460 12417 4129
Currently vested and exercisable as at RZBZ-F+R=+-AERTLAE
31 December 2021 21 11652 460 12417 21129
At1 January 2022 RZB-Z%-B-A 212 11,652 4.60 12,411 24,129
Brercised (Note 18) BA7E (H3H0) 23 (4,566) 450 (3,624) (8,390)
Lapsed Forfeted B&%/E4E 181 (3,362) 4,60 (349) (3,711)
At 31 December 2022 RIBZZE+ZAZT-A 2.15 3,14 4.60 8,304 12,028
Currently vested and exercisable as at RISZZETZAST-AERTEAE
31 December 2022 2.15 3,14 4.60 8,304 12,028
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SO R RMIE
21 Employee share-based arrangements (Continued) 21 RIBH=RBEGR)
(a) Share option schemes (Continued) (a) FRBRAERTEIGE)
(ii)  Outstanding share options (i) FITEMRAERE
Details of the expiry dates, exercise prices and the respective number of shares RZE-_—HF+-_A=+—HEKZ-ZT=-—F
under the options which remained outstanding as at 31 December 2022 and 31 +ZA=+—H8 ' BMARTENBEREDEH
December 2021 are as follows: A THEEERSENEBFERAT
Number of shares under options
IEBRE T AR
Range of
exercise price 2022 2021
Expity date within |8 R BT EEEE b %
HKD per share thousands thousands
ok ST Tt F&f
2023 2023 1.31-1.34 1,443 4755
2024 2024 2.66 2,281 6,897
2025 2025 460 8,304 12,477
12,028 24129
Weighted average remaining BAAR AR T O BE IR A /0 0
contractual life of options T RIERA R IR
outstanding at end of period 1.90 2.63
(b)  Share award plan (b) BERipERENRTEY

The board of directors adopted a share award plan (2009 Plan”) on 25 March
2009 for the purpose of recognising and rewarding the contributions of the eligible
persons. The Group adopted a new share award plan on 4 December 2015 (“2015
Plan”) and the shares under 2009 Plan were transferred to 2015 Plan. The share
award plan is valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from the

adoption date.

WEHE T35 -

T CFFR

ARREFEN _ZTZENF=A-_THRREA
Rt 2Rt 8 ((FTE —FFh))
FEEERTEZBARETIELNER - &
BR T —AF+ = A B RO BB
Z(E8 -_Z—n) FE-ZFTTANHBRMNE

30 <)
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SOt KM
21 Employee share-based arrangements (Continued) 21 B IRR{n=REE(E)
(b)  Share award plan (Continued) (b)  BRIPEEENETEI(HR)
No. of shares held for
the share award plan  No. of awarded shares Balance
BRIFEMHEBREE BRORMHNETFHE st
thousands thousands thousands
TFif TFit TFit
At1 January 2021 —E2_—-%-f-H 107,085 (100,168) 6917
Buy-back of shares for the purpose of AR E2 D= EIf R1EB AR (7
share award plan 1,800 - 1,800
Awarded BT - (7.336) (7.336)
Lapsed/Forfeited BEXB/EHE - 3,886 3,886
At 31 December 2021 —2_—-%+-A=+-H 108,885 (103,618) 5,267
Weighted average remaining contractual — ERR i8R 17 HORR 1 12BN 0 ANAE TS5 585
life of the awarded shares outstanding AREHR
atend of period 1.08
At 1 January 2022 ZE-_"%#—-H-H 108,385 (103,618) 5,267
Buy-back of shares for the purpose of AR {7 42BN =T B RIEB AR 17 (PHEE19(2))
share award plan (Note 19(a)) 6,586 - 6,586
Awarded ¥ = (7,408) (7,408)
Lapsed/Forfeited BAH/BURE - 691 691
At 31 December 2022 2%+ A=1+-H 115,471 (110,335) 5,136
Weighted average remaining contractual — HBR M AR T R (A SR ED O MDA 29 I8
life of the awarded shares outstanding SRR
atend of period 1.20
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, 7,408,000 shares (2021: 7,336,000
shares) were awarded to certain directors, senior management and key employees
of the Company.

As at 31 December 2022, the expected retention rate was assessed to be 100%
(2021:100%).

Annual Report 2022

HIE—F2-_—#+—-_A=+—H8 AREZE "
SMEEA BRI A BERT 408,0000% (==
——%F : 7,336,000) A% ZEEHAS (7 °

R-TB-—F+-A=+—08  BtEITIRZ
KAE100%(ZFE=—F : 100%) °
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SO R RMIE
21 Employee share-based arrangements (Continued) 21 RIBRBRIEGE
(b)  Share award plan (Continued) (b) BRIDEEEIEEI(4E)

The fair value of the awarded shares was calculated based on the market price of
the Company’s shares at the respective grant date. The expected dividends during
the vesting period have been taken into account when assessing the fair value of
these awarded shares. The weighted average fair value of shares awarded during
the year 31 December 2022 was HKD16.24 per share (equivalent to approximately

RMB13.96 per share).

Details of the awarded shares awarded during 2022

BRI DA EBEASEER B A FRN S
MmHEEE - G ERRON AL EER
EEETREFHNAMRE - BT =
R ERAZBOROMETFORAEBERS
P B #16. 247 (K R B ARE13.967T) -

B ERPIEEEAM

Number of awarded Average fair
Date of award shares awarded value per share  Vesting dates
®mAH B EmARETFHE - SETFYLREE THEA
(thousands) (HK$)
Fit B
21 March 2022 6,808 16.34 30 April 2023 - 30 April 2026
—E-—#=A-1+—H 6,808 16.3 —E-=FEMA=+HE-ZE-XFMA=1+A
21 March 2022 100 16.34 30 April 2023
“E--f=ZA=+—H 100 16.34 —ZE-=£MA=+H
28 March 2022 300 16.34 30 April 2023 - 30 April 2026
—Z--—F=ZA-+)N\H 300 16.3 —E_=FMA=+HE-Z-XFMA=H
28 November 2022 200 16.72 30 April 2023 - 30 April 2026
- _F+—A=+/NH 200 16.72 —B-_=FMNA=+AE_T-_AEMA=+1H
22 Bank horrowings 22 E&®
2022 2021
ot ~Jonfot- TET
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT AREBFT
Non-current JERE
Bank borrowings—unsecured ROHRIRTTiE N — AR 400,000 -
Less: current portion of non-current bank borrowings REMRITIE RO E B S (15,000) -
385,000 -
Current TEN
Bank borrowings—unsecured RITRER — | 70,000 -
Current portion of non-current bank borrowings BB E KRR EN TS 15,000 -
85,000 -
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22 Bank borrowings (Continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank borrowings were repayable as follows:

22

f& = (1)

BT —F+-A=+—8  FAEENHEK

EBEBEIOT :

2022 2021

—=__ ZE—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%TT AREETTT

Within 1 year —F R 85,000 -
Between 1 and 2 years —FEWMF 85,000 -
Between 2 and 5 years MEERF 300,000 -
470,000 -

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies:

AEERERNEASENTIEEREN

2022 2021

—=E——f —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TTT AREFTT

RMB AR 470,000 -

The Group’s bank borrowings bear average interest rate of 2.82% per annum.

Bank borrowings are at floating rates and the exposure of the Group’s bank
borrowings to interest-rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at the
balance sheet dates are within 1-5 year (2021: the bank borrowings of the Group
amounted to nil).

The carrying amount of the current bank borrowings approximate their fair value, as
the impact of discounting using a current borrowing rate is not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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23 Deferred income tax

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities is as

follows:

23 BIEFRTSIR

BIEFTSHEEMERMSRAEI T

2022 2021
ol - - St —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#TT AREFTT
Deferred income tax assets: BB EE
— Deferred income tax assets to be recovered after more  — B :@121E A 12 Ug Bl R EEFT1S R
than 12 months BE 38,700 37521
— Deferred income tax assets to be recovered within 12 —7E121& A UL [ 49 3E IE Fr 1575 B B
months 39,265 34,952
Total deferred tax assets BIEFRBREESE 77,965 72,473
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off IR AR R IR AE
provisions (39,139) (37,846)
Net deferred tax assets BIEFRINEESRH 38,826 34,627
Deferred income tax liabilities: BIEFBHAE
— Deferred income tax liability to be recovered after more  — #8:@121E A 1 U B 49 R IEFR 1S 74
than 12 months af& (165,899) (175,905)
— Deferred income tax liability to be recovered within 12 —7E1218 A AU B E R IEFF ST B &
months (7,165) (8,028)
Total deferred tax liabilities BIEFRBRARSH (173,064) (183,933)
Set-off of deferred tax assets pursuant to set-off provisions {2k BB #5458 TR S IR AT IS L B B 39,139 37,846
Net deferred tax liabilities BIEFRFRARRE (133,925) (146,087)
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23 Deferred income tax (Continued)

23

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, without
taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction,

is as follows:

R IE P 118 ()

FRRELEREREENRBCLEZRERAE
Rl — ARt [ ) RO N T -

At January Recognised in Recognisedin ~ At31December ~ Recognisedin  Recognisedin  At31 December
021 income tax equiy A1 income tax equity 2022
WZEI-F EREHT sy RZE--F 0 ERBRG R W3-

—-A-H B B2 t-A=1-8 ] ®2 +-A=t-H
RMB000 RMBO000 RMBO0D RMBO0D RNB'000 RNB'000 RNB'000
ARBTT  ARETR  ARETRT AR ARRTR  AERTT  ABRTR

Defrted noome taxassels EREHEHAE
~[mpiment loss on firancial asses -~ SREENERL 1265 592 - 18553 3,301 - 21,854
— Amorisaion of computer software -ElEnEH 461 (136) - 3 114 - 43
~Uniealised gains on nt-group bransactions  —EERHRFAER MR 11,380 B - U 4,199 - 38,626
- Deferred qovernment rants ~ERRFRERERA 13,380 (%3) - 12397 (1,25) - 11,122
- Lease liabilties -HEaE 2949 362 - 6,571 (847) - 5,124
40,7% 31678 - 12473 5,492 - 11,965

Defered incoms ta liles EIEHERAR
- Defered developmen oosts ~ERRENA (40882) 191 - (40691) 17,066 - (23,625)
~Fair value srplus of ntangble assels -BAENE (299 730 (8.460) (8028) 863 - (7,165)
~Fairvalue gans on nvesment propeties —REUMEL L EELE (128,329) (1380) - (129.708) 2,754 (10,456) (137,407)
- Right-f-use asses -FREE (260 (2906) - (5509) 642 - (4,867)
(172,108) (3,365) (8.460) (183,933) 21,325 (10,456) (173,064)
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SO R RMIE
24 Trade and other payables 24 EMFERREMERSR
2022 2021
—EB_F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTT AREETTT
Trade payables (a) and (b) JFETBR R (a)FN(b) 19,500 19,447
Note payables FEEE 23,805 -
Salary and staff welfare payables ENFHERE TR 267,861 248,966
Deposits payable B RES 169,407 162,862
Accrual for expenses THIREA 209,492 145,189
Value-added tax (“VAT”) and other taxes payables JETIBER REMFE - 28,880
Unpaid consideration for acquisition of subsidiaries WEFREINARIZTEE 18,112 18,112
Construction payables JERT AR R 127,071 37,115
Others Hib 64,248 98,677
899,496 759,248
(@) The fair values of trade and other payables approximate their carrying @ REAEFREMESRZAAEBEER

amounts. The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables are

mainly denominated in RMB.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the aging analysis of the trade payables

based on invoice date is as follows:

BEREMEE - AR R 2N REER
R R S 4 0% 2 R (R B X
AR -

)y RZZZ=ZFM=ZFT=_—F+=A
=+—H AEHEMNRZBREZEER
B BRER AT T

2022 2021

=% ZE—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR#®TT AREETFIT

0—180 days 0—180K 18,721 13,599
181 - 360 days 181 —360K 42 810
Over 360 days B iE360K 737 5,038
19,500 19,447

T CFFR

SHERRAEEEERAT 185



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SOt KM
25 Deferred income 25 SEREWA
2022 2021
AR®TTT ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTT ARBFT
Deferred government grants (a) IEIE BRI R FT M A (a) 106,500 116,180
(@ Movement of deferred government grants is as follows: () EEBUTREHFTRAGEZ T
2022 2021
—EBE__—F —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

At 1 January »—RA—H 116,180 131,660
Additions #hn 26,453 17,485
Recognised in the income statement R RER (36,133) (32,965)
At 31 December »+=-A=+—H 106,500 116,180

It mainly represents cash received from government for financing various
research and development projects conducted by the Group. The cash
received will be recognised as income when the research and development
costs are amortised in expense and certain stipulated conditions required
by government are met (usually when the related development project is
completed).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SOt SR RMEE
26 Revenue from contracts with customers 260 HEFRZHMSEAEENKA
The Group’s revenue includes revenues from cloud services business and ERP SENPABDEERBEBARSEERE R
business. Revenue is stated net of applicable VAT in the PRC and comprises the FHEIER - WMAEBREARFEIGER - I
following: ABRBUATEE :
2022 2021
—E_F —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREFTT
Cloud business ERBGE R 3,714,093 2,758,422
— Enterprise cloud services —EERE 2,576,130 1,901,575
— Small & micro business finance cloud services — NI TS = RS 861,046 527,969
— Industry cloud services —{TEER®E 276,917 328,878
ERP business and others EBERERBIES REM 1,151,676 1,415,725
— Sales of software and hardware products — HEB M MR E R 286,260 472,212
— Software implementation services — 8BRS 402,391 422,624
— Software solution consulting, maintenance, upgrade and — #RTIEE + FAE - B~ FHARRHE
other supporting services i 37 1% AR 7S 463,025 520,889
4,865,769 4174147
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B Ot B R AR M

21 EHHESENEA

SIRIRIHERAN - HEREREER - 15 R
BERA - THERREREERAREERE
BRFEANBRAOMOT

27 Expenses by nature

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and marketing expenses, research and
development costs, administrative expenses and net impairment losses on financial
assets and contract assets are analysed as follows:

2022 2021
—=E-= B4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREETTT
Research and development costs ff 7% S A B
Amounts incurred BEY &R 1,458,246 1,260,069
Less: development costs capitalised BT BA b2 FEERAR (480,508) (423,913)
Add: amortisation n s BAME Z B A 8 317,738 348,388
1,295,476 1,184,544
Employee benefit expenses (Note 29) B T A5 2 (M1 E29) 3,985,770 3,390,081
Less: amount included in development costs B BRERMERARKAZ &8 (1,399,174) (1,199,676)
2,586,596 2,190,405
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 6)  #7 & (Ff}5%6) 64,752 49,994
Less: amount included in development costs o BERMREEAZEKN A2 25 (15,685) (12,110)
49,067 37,884
QOutsourcing services INBRRTGE 707,894 587,312
Sales promotion and advertising SHEHEER AR 532,613 411,524
Cost of inventories consumed (Note 15) TERETF &R (P 5E15) 189,931 185,870
Rental and utilities e RIEEER 47,255 39,060
Traveling expenses EIRE 77,808 78,165
Office expenses /N =4 40,907 36,841
Other taxes and surcharges E e KK 41,983 47,492
Training costs HIIE 12,754 13,920
Professional service fees EXRBER 46,217 47 340
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 7) FAEEENTTE (MED 31,386 33,857
Amortisation of trademarks, licenses and copyrights IR - B E R 6E (T E8)

(Note 8) 11,583 12,685
Amortisation of computer software for own use (Note 8) 5 F3 S8 s & {4 6 (B4 38) 2,881 4,421
Amortisation of customer relationship (Note 8) B P RAFEE (M) 1,082 1,333
Auditors’ remuneration 2 BREMEN & 4,044 3,400

— Audit services — TR 3,670 3,400

— Non-audit services —IEEE AR 374 -
Net impairment losses on financial assets and contract & B EEMA R EEREBLF58

assets 92,461 78,738
Others Hitb 14,576 16,146
Total @t 5,786,514 5,010,937
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28 Other income and gains — net

28 HARFIE B8

2022 2021
—E__F TEC
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETFIT
Other income Htu A
VAT refund (a) BERRE ) 115,570 148,210
VAT input tax surplus deduction RERHEIBTINET kR 14,099 10,559
Government program research income BT R a It A 94,268 79,798
Rental income — net (Note 9) AW A —F58 (9 70,187 72,016
Interest income from loans to related parties (Note 38(a) B3 5 A S Uk A (B 5E38(a)) - 5,056
294,124 315,639
Other gains/(losses) HtFE - (ER)
Realised and unrealised net gains on financial assets at AR BEFE A HEZ8 T ABERN
FVPL (b) SREEDBERFRELAREBRF
3% (b) 25,467 50,068
Realised and unrealised net (losses)/gains on derivative $T4 £ R T A BEF(ER) Wi
financial instruments (Note 13) M ARE IR FW S (HI7E13) (2,827) 27,211
Gains/(losses) on disposal of associates BREHE ARG (58 2,470 (3,966)
Dilution gains of an associate IR A R IR IE RIS 15,216 -
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) HNEES T RIS (FBR) 4,132 (24,761)
Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipmentand 3 - EF AR BHEN EERE
right-of-use assets B (343) (6,773)
Others Hith 10,749 8,413
54,864 50,192
348,988 365,831
(a)  According to the current tax regulations in the PRC, the development and (a) REPFEARLMBIDITHBOESE - 51
sales of computer software products are subject to VAT with an applicable BB AR MEEEA16%0EER
rate of 16%. From 1 April 2019, according to the circular “2019 No. 39 Ko gZTE—NFMUA—HE - RIBEH
Notice of Ministry of Finance, the General Administration of Taxation and Bl TR, 8RR E N E2019F 5
The General Administration of Customs”, the applicable rate for software 958D MU EEEANERIO%HER
industry has been changed from 16% to 13%. 13%
In 2011, the State Council issued a circular regarding the “Taxation Policy E-ZE—%F  HERERERCE—F
for Encouraging the Development of Software and Integrated Circuits BERGEENEEERELEREST
Industry” (Guo Fa [2011] No.4) (the “Circular”). Pursuant to the Circular, RS E3B AN) (BB [2011] 55 457 30 14F) » K
software enterprises engaged in the sales of self-developed software in the BZAA  EPEARKFMBESEANHEE
PRC are entitled to VAT refund to the extent that the effective VAT rate of the ERTHEBELESHERNDE &
sales of the software in the PRC exceeds 3% of the sales amounts. FEAREMBBEANEEERGERD
BRI ER B EERH HEREA3%E
AIRTRT -
(b) It mainly represented investment return from unlisted equity investment that (b) BEXERTUAAEESF=Z=BEEZD
are measured at FVPL. FFAERMIE ETREN AR NEERD)
Uz o
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SOt KM
29 Employee benefit expenses 29 WIiEFIFAZ
2022 2021
ol et 3 T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
Wages, salaries and bonus T&  EERES 3,384,183 2,816,665
Staff welfare BTEF 50,875 49,583
Pension scheme contributions (a) RIRGET I (a) 435,572 416,420
Share-based compensation LARRAD BB RE AR EN 5T 3 115,140 107,413
3,985,770 3,390,081
(a) Pensions - defined contribution plans (a) EH&-mERFHE

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes organised
by the relevant local government authorities in the PRC. The Group is required
to make monthly contributions to the retirement schemes at rates ranging from
12% to 20%, depending on the location of the subsidiaries, based on the basic
salaries of eligible employees. The local government authorities are responsible
for the pension liabilities to retired employees. Forfeited contributions made by
the Group on behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to full vesting of
the contributions cannot be used by the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO R RMIE
29 Employee benefit expenses (Continued) 29 Wk LisFIFAZ (18
(b)  Five highest paid individuals (b) AuUR=FHEHAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year AEEREERUERFHHOATBERML(Z
include two (2021: two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis T—F  MEDEF - FINFHEESE K
presented under “Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive officer” TTERABER FO T s A 25 ) (FfT 7E40) 2D ITR
(Note 40). The emoluments payable to the remaining three (2021: three) individuals Mo RFEIN=ZNAT(CZZT=—F: =f1)
during the year are as follows: ATHE BT -

2022 2021

—=_— T —F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARET T

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other allowances

EAFE - BERR - HARREAM

and benefits in kind BEYH = 8,279 6,991
Share-based compensation A B 2 A 8,390 6,791
Bonuses #e 3,948 4,434
Contribution to pension scheme RIRGET IR 224 183

20,841 18,399

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

I EFHMAE TP AESEEN

Number of individuals

A8
2022 2021
—E_—f —E-—F

Emolument bands (in HK dollar)
HKD4,500,001 — HKD5,000,000
HKD5,000,001 — HKD5,500,000
HKD5,500,001 — HKD6,000,000
HKD6,000,001 — HKD6,500,000
HKD6,500,001 — HKD7,000,000
HKD7,000,001 — HKD7,500,000
HKD7,500,001 — HKD8,000,000
HKD8,000,001 — HKD8,500,000
HKD8,500,001 — HKD9,000,000
HKD9,000,001 — HKD9,500,000
HKD9,500,001 — HKD10,000,000

HKD10,000,001 — HKD10,500,000

HEE (ABET2)

HKD4,500,001-HKD5,000,000 = -
HKD5,000,001-HKD5,500,000 = -
HKD5,500,001-HKD6,000,000 = -
HKD6,000,001-HKD6,500,000 =
HKD6,500,001-HKD7,000,000 1 -
HKD7,000,001-HKD7,500,000 1
HKD7,500,001-HKD8,000,000 = -
HKD8,000,001-HKD8,500,000 = -
HKD8,500,001-HKD9,000,000 =
HKD9,000,001-HKD9,500,000 = -
HKD9,500,001 —HKD10,000,000 = -
HKD10,000,001 —HKD10,500,000 1 -

During the financial year, no fee was paid or receivable by any of the said three EZUMBERRN - Fit =67 AT IASKENE A AR
individuals as an inducement to join or upon join the Company. AR AL MRWEEMER -
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30 Finance income — net

30 HMBUA B8

2022 2021
—E-—F B4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREFTT
Finance income s A
— Interest income — derived from cash and cash —FBRA-KERSRAESE
equivalents BYIELERNFE 17,534 13,245
— Interest income — derived from short-term and —FLEBUA — R B 5 B R R EAER
long-term bank deposits TTFREERFLE 90,403 68,285
107,937 81,530
Finance costs BTG RR 7R
— Interest on borrowings —fERF B (3,812) (2,041)
— Interest on lease liabilities —HEBENE (3,849) (3,053)
(7,661) (5,094)
100,276 76,436

31 Income tax credit

Taxation on the PRC profits is calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the

year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the PRC.

31 FrigiRAmE

AEMBHRERRBETEARKMBENE

FH AR E - WAERFEE A BB A E

B T B -

2022 2021
—E__f —EB-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREETFTT

Current income tax & HIFTS R
— Current tax on profits for the year — R EAF R B PSR 6,188 6,076
— Qver-provision in prior year — ABIF EiBRERT IR (1,185) (21,553)
Deferred income tax EIEFTSHL (26,817) (28,313)
(21,814) (43,790)
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31

Income tax credit (Continued)

()

No provision for profits tax in the Cayman Islands and Hong Kong has
been made as the Group has no assessable profits for the years in those
jurisdictions.

Based on management’s assessment, it is highly probable that Kingdee
China will meet the requirements of the National Important Software
Enterprise (“NISE”) in tax bureau with a tax rate of 10%. Therefore, Kingdee
China used a preferential corporate income tax rate of 10% for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 10%). The application of preferential tax
rate stated above is subject to critical estimates of the management of the
Group.

Kingdee Deeking was qualified as a High-tech Enterprise from 2019 to
2022 and was entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in
2022 (2021: 15%).

Kingdee Apusic was consistently qualified as a High-tech Enterprise from
2020 to 2023 and was entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of
15% in 2022 (2021: 15%).

Beijing Kingdee Middleware Software System Co., Ltd. was consistently
qualified as a High-tech Enterprise from 2020 to 2023 and was entitled to a
preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in 2022 (2021: 15%).

Beijing Kingdee was consistently qualified as High-tech Enterprise from
2020 to 2023 and were entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate
of 15% in 2022 (2021: 15%).

Guanyi was consistently qualified as High-tech Enterprise from 2019 to
2022 and were entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in
2022 (2021: 15%).

Zhangwuyou was qualified as High-tech Enterprise from 2020 to 2023 and
was entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in 2022
(2021: 15%).

Yunji was qualified as High-tech Enterprise from 2019 to 2022 and was
entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in 2022.

31 FRiGIRHE ()

(@)

T CFFR

HRARERZEFENERERS X
FREY EERTWA - SR ZFH R
BAEHZE AR STER -

REEEENNE  SHRTPERRES
mE BT R IRT - FR10%E
BHRE At @RPEEAERE=
T _F+-_A=+—BLFENRIE
FrERERAI0%MEERE(ZFE - —
F:10%) - ERAEEREZBORNEEE
BEMNEEME -

SRBESEN T -—NFE-T ==

BRERERAMEMEE  BEER
F15% (Z T = —4F : 15%) HEER Rt
HEEMEH -

SRRBRNR T _TFE_T_=FH
RERBERSHHEMEE  EBERR
15% (CZE=—F : 15%)NEBEMRKRTHE
TREEFISHL

EREHREESREBERAAR T
ZEE_T_-FRRERBERIHEK
o - BRERMAI%D (T —F:
15%) BB K H RS -

RSB R T —_TFEF T - F4
RERBERSHHEMEE  EBERA
15% (CEB-—45F : 5% NEEHRXTE
EMBH -

EHN_ZE—NFEZT__FHERTE
AEREMENEE  EEERA15%
(ZZZ—F  15%) N EER KA E
FTiSHi o

R REEEBEHMEAERAAL =
E_TEE_T_=FHERERARS
e BEERA% (—F——
F o 15%) O EEREFEDRAEN o

EER T -NFE_ZT-__FHRAT

RBEFREHFRMEE - EEEHRM15%
MEER KRG ELEMEHR
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31
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Income tax credit (Continued)

(©)

(Continued)

Shanghai Kingdee Internet Technology Co., Ltd. was consistently qualified
as a High-tech Enterprise from 2020 to 2023 and was entitled to a
preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in 2022 (2021: 15%).

Shenzhen Kingdee Wisdom Technology Co., Ltd. was consistently
qualified as a High-tech Enterprise from 2021 to 2024 and was entitled to a
preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in 2022 (2021: 15%).

According to the regulation issued by the Shenzhen Municipal Finance
Bureau, the State Administration of Taxation and the Shenzhen Municipal
Taxation Bureau, the qualified entities located in the Qianhai Shenzhen-
Hong Kong Modern Service Industry Cooperation Zone are entitled to a tax
rate of 15% in from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2025. Kingdee Vehicle
met the requirements and was entitled to a preferential corporate income
tax rate of 15% in 2022 (2021: 15%).

Shenzhen Kingdee Pay Technology Co., Ltd., Shenzhen Kingdee Youli
Technology Co., Ltd., and Kingdee E-commerce Technology (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. were qualified as a Small and Low-profit Enterprise and were
entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 20% in 2022 (2021:
20%) .

According to the relevant requirements of the “Notice of the State Council
on Printing and Distributing Several Policies for Promoting the High-
quality Development of the Integrated Circuit Industry and Software Industry
in the New Era” (Guo Fa [2020] No. 8), Kingdee Cloud Technology met the
requirements and was entitled to a tax exemption in 2022 (2021: 0%).

Other PRC subsidiaries of the Group applied the tax rate of 25%.

The taxation on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would have arisen using the principal rate of the
PRC corporate income tax due to the following:

31

FRiS#R %o (#)
(c &
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SR (ZZ=—4F : 0%) °
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AEBEBATMEERE LT E RSN
AR EARAMBELEMRSHE
EREXFEOBBEEMTR - ABFS
RT&:

EA25% R BT ER

2022 2021
—E_—F —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFIT
Loss hefore income tax BRIRAIEE (474,218) (382,145)
Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate of 25% AR R %TE TR
(2021: 25%) (ZF=—F : 25%) (118,555) (95,536)
Tax effects of: %%
Preferential tax rates RBERE 13,731 46,584
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset /xﬁ RIS A EN
was recognised MisEE 143,589 87,177
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes DA E R 7,755 2,358
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised in FFERERNELAERE
previous years AENEE (2,836) (210)
Additional deductible allowance for research and AT 32 ANF03 2 T34 &
development expenses (64,313) (62,610)
Over-provision in prior year AT B R TE (1,185) (21,553)
(21,814) (43,790)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

32

33
(a)

(b)

Dividends 32 Ka
The board of directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the % FETERRBBE_T —— #+=H
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021 nil). ST AT -EANKREEE-F=—F
TZA=tT—HIE+Z@EA &) -
Losses per share 33 BEREBR
Basic (a) E=X
Basic losses per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to owners of EXRGREEREFBNAQRENIFE AN
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during B8 - RAF AR BT S BReNE 988
the year, excluding ordinary shares purchased and held for share award plan. FE - BENREARMDEEEMBE RIFE
B mAR o
2022 2021
—=_— T —F
Loss attributable to owners of the Company BEBERELTENBEA
(RMB’000) (AR®TIT) (389,158) (302,330)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue BET T AR I8 (T
(thousands) 3,439,700 3,276,466
Basic losses per share (RMB cents per share) EXEHRER (BRARES) (11.31) (9.23)
Diluted () w8

Diluted (losses)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company has two categories of dilutive potential
ordinary shares: share options and share awards. For the share options and share
awards, the number of shares that could have been issued upon the exercise of all
dilutive share options and share awards less the number of shares that could have
been issued at fair value (determined as the average annual market price of the
Company'’s shares) for the same total proceeds is added to the denominator as the
number of ordinary shares issued for no consideration.

As the Group incurred losses for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the dilutive potential ordinary shares were not included in the calculation of diluted
losses per share as the effect of their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. Accordingly,
diluted losses per share for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 was the
same as basic losses per share of the respective period.

T CFFR

mEESREBER/BNBRRAAEIHENEL
BB ARG REBECETEBRMMNE
FHRBEE - ARRBEHIRENEEE
AL - B 2REIET 8 o HRREREM
Bfn BBENET &) RIBRTTEAMBRONEEE
B BEERAABEEEASRARRNHFH
FEMBE)AIBANKNEE - LU LTAGHE
MR EE - BERERETEMEDEITH
BIBEEHLLER - BAEZRSINEDE - 1F
REFREMRITZLERE -

HRAEEEBE S _—_F+_-_A=+—H
MR- —F+ A=+ —HNEEBLE
B ALBEENBETBRTRIEERER
BREBENTETR  AABEETEARR%
BUum -Eilt - BE2—Z-_-t+-A=+—H”
F_E -+ - A=+ BIFENTRE
SEE B EEE N SR EREEER -
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34 Cash flow information

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

3 BEEEMNHSE

Cash generated from operations BEELENRS
2022 2021
—E-_F TEC
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTT AREFIT
Loss before income tax BRSBTS 1B (474,218) (382,145)
Adjustments for: FHEIER -
— Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 6) — T BHE « T LR EHITE
(F5E6) 49,067 37,884
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 7) —(FREEEMNITE () 31,386 33,857
— Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment  —ERIBE R ENAE - TR RELEE
and right-of-use assets (Note 28) 1B (K17528) 343 6,773
— Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 8) — BB ER I (ES) 333,284 366,827
— Finance income — net (Note 30) — B IS IR A SHE (F13E30) (100,276) (76,436)
— Share-based compensation (Note 29) — R A (ME29) 115,140 107,413
— Share of profits of associates (Note 10) —DEBE RN EN(EF), B
BN EEFEFE10) (12,850) (8,319)
— Fair value losses/(gains) on investment properties —REBEUEMEARBELBRE
(Note 9) (P 5£9) 15,587 (4,059)
— Realised and unrealised losses/(gains) on derivative ~ —f$TESRI T B BIREE, (K
financial instruments (Note 28) ) AR B B (I 3E28) 2,827 (27,211)
— Realised and unrealised gains on financial assets at —UAARBEFEEEEH AR
FVPL (Note 28) @S RE E R BB W kR
B IR M Es (P 3E28) (25,467) (50,068)
— Interest income from loans to related parties (Note 28)  — R 77 12 =k F1 B U A (B 5128) - (5,056)
— Net impairment losses on financial assets and contract — & EVEEMA R EEREERLF
assets Lo 92,461 78,738
— (Gains)/losses on disposal of associates (Note 28) -EEBENRGFNR),EiE
(B$7%28) (2,470) 3,966
— Dilution gains of an associate (Note 28) — B E N AR RERIERIE
(P 5E28) (15,216) -
9,598 82,164
Changes in working capital, net of effects from net of KEESEE - JIREE T ARINTE
effects from disposal of a subsidiary (excluding loans ~ FEM S/ BEEERRE=ZTE
to third parties from the micro-credit business): MEDFEHE ML) -
— Inventories —F& (14,828) (11,496)
— Trade and other receivables — FEBR R S H A FE U R 40,672 (1,705)
— Contract assets and contract obtaining costs —&REBEREREEKA (196,355) (90,560)
— Contract liabilities —&RaE 466,322 680,770
— Deferred income —IBIEW A (9,680) (15,480)
—Trade and other payables — TR R E A FE TR 42,110 (1,237)
Cash generated from operations excluding net cash inflow 4% & ZE A IR & (TS /N NEEE XA
in loans to third parties from the micro-credit business ~ SE=FEKEFR LR A (i) 337,839 642,456
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO R RMIE
34 Cash flow information (Continued) 34 FEEELENHRE ()
(@) Inthe consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds from disposal (a) ERSRERA  HETDHE - TEREMF
of property, plant and equipment comprise: HaHals
2022 2021
—=_— T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#TT ARETIT
Net book amount (Note 6) AR S 58 (I 526) 29,423 8,197
Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment HERHE THESEREREE
and right-of-use assets EREE (343) (6,773)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  HETRBIE « TR RENEREE
and right-of-use assets ERFTER 29,080 1,424
(b) Non-cash transactions (b) IEREXH
Significant non-cash investing and financing activities include the following: FEANRSRAMEEHEIE
2022 2021
ot ot 3 T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTT ARETIT
Additions to the right-of-use assets (Note 7) AR E I AN (M ET) 16,794 61,323
Transfer from investment properties to property, plant RIEEMYEERETHE « THE
and equipment and right-of-use assets (Note 9) RABEAE A E (FE9) - 116,744
Transfer from property, plant and equipment and right-of- &R BIE « T X ZEME AL E
use assets to investment properties (Note 9) R E Y (I EE9) 106,819 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

34 Cash flow information (Continued)

(c) Net cash reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net cash and the movements in net cash for

gach of the periods presented.

3 EEELENHRSGE)

(c) BHRLEMD

AERE G| & E B AT SIREF IR S B A

£ -

Net cash 2022 2021
B&PRHE -~ oot - 3 B
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%TT AREETIT

Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 1,942,735 -
Less: bank borrowings &3 (470,000) (79,786)
Lease liabilities HEAaE (63,894) 2,046,815
Net cash R FRE 1,408,841 1,967,029
Gross debt — fixed interest rates ERS4ARE — & F % (63,894) (79,786)
Gross debt — variable interest rates EIS AR — ¥ B F % (470,000) -
Less: cash and cash equivalents W BReRREEED 1,942,735 2,046,815
Net cash REFEE 1,408,841 1,967,029
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34 Cash flow information (Continued)

(c) Net cash reconciliation (Continued)

EEEENES )

BH & A ()

Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
At EE BEAEHNAE
Cash  Borrowing due within 1 year Leases Total
B —FR3EER HE E5)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NS AREFT NS AREFT
Net cash as at 1 January 2021 p_B_—-5-F—-HB5& 2,753,631 (120,000) (51,032) 2,582,599
Cash flows Reng (688,020) 120,000 33220 (534.800)
Acquisition - leases Wig-HE - - (61974) (61.974)
Foreign exchange adjustments ExiAR (18,796) - - (18,79)
Net cash as at 31 December 2021 R=B-—%+-BF=+—-HEBH& 2046815 - (79,786) 1,967,029
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
RtigE MEFDHARK
Cash Borrowings Leases Total
Re —FRIMER HE it
RVB'000 RIMB’000 RVB’000 RIMB’000
N v ARBTT N v ARBTT
Netcashasatlanuary 2022~ W=B=%—-R—RABAE 2,046,815 - (79,786) 1,967,029
Cash lows R4enE (112,069) (472,800) 32,301 (552,478)
Acquisition - leases Uik —E - - (16,499) (16,499)
Disposal of a subsidiary RETFARF - 2,800 - 2,800
Foreign exchange adjustments ExEE 7,989 - - 7,989
Netcash as at 31 December 2022 RZB-ZF+-A=+—A3H¢ 1,042,735 (470,000) (63,894) 1,408,841
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEME
B Ot B R AR M

35 Transactions with non-controlling interests
Disposal of interest in subsidiaries without loss of control

In November 2021, Shenzhen Wojiacloud Network Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Wojiacloud”), a subsidiary of the Group, received a capital injection of
RMB30,000,000 from a third party. The Group’s equity interest in Wojiacloud was
diluted from 80% to 68% after the above capital injection and the Group continues
to retain control over Wojiacloud as the Group still has more than 50% of its voting
rights. The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Wojiacloud on the equity
attributable to owners of the Company during the year is summarised as follows:

NTS

35 EJFEFIEEINES
FREAZHAEMEEFATERG

RZF-_—%+—HF AKENHERRR
NHEREFEREAERRAB(HRRENRE=
77 R RESEE ARY30,000,0007T o EilEE
% AEERERREHRHEHRB0%MHIEE68% -
MR A EEN A BB0% IR EE - FibAR
SEEBRDHRREOZHIE - FR - HK
EMERERESHARREA ARGES
R ERMT -

2021

—E-—F

RMB’000

AR#TT

Capital injection from non-controlling interests for the 12% equity interest BN ERA TSR TE 30,000
Carrying amount of non-controlling interests being deemed disposed of R B M IEE R S R E(E A (4,456)
Gains on disposal recognised within equity i e PR H E TS 25,544

36 Business combinations

In July 2021, the Group acquired 55.29% of the share capital of Yunji for a total
cash consideration of RMB163,200,000 and obtained the control of Yunji. The
principal activities of Yunji are the developing, manufacturing and selling of
software and hardware products in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

36 Business combinations (Continued) 36 DESHGER
(a) Summary of acquisition (a) MxAg#Et=

TREZAZEINOYE  UREBEAS
BANBENAREREEIFEFERREEE

The following table summarises the consideration paid for Yunji, the fair value
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the non-controlling interest’s

proportionate share of Yunji's net identifiable assets at the acquisition date:

AHRFEEMELPIN R EE -

Yunji
£5
RMB’000
AR®TT
Purchase consideration: BEYE:
Cash consideration paid during the year ended 31 December 2021 HE-_Z-—F+=-A=+—AH1
FEXNNHESEE 153,088
Cash consideration payable REFTHEER 10,112
Total consideration 1BEHE 163,200
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and AHRNEREEIRIEAGAMER
liabilities assumed B
Cash and cash equivalents B MIREEEY 102,784
Trade and other receivables JFE Uk B R ERLHL b E LS R 7,615
Inventories 7E8 60
Property, plant and equipment TEE  IHMERE 328
Intangible assets BLAE 194
Acquired trademark, customer relationship and license (Note 8) ESHEER - BPBEMZ ] (H7E8) 56,400
Trade and other payables JEAS BR AR B L th 15 3R (3,763)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 23) RIEFTIS R B & (P 5E23) (8,460)
Total identifiable net assets AIHRFEERTE 155,158
Less: Non-controlling interests A FEE R (69,370)
Goodwill (Note 8) EESCIED) 77,412
163,200

The goodwill of approximately RMB77,412,000 arising from the acquisition is R EEEENEEL A AREET?,412,0007T
attributable to the expected synergies arising from the acquired customer base and F 53 AP P U HE & 5 B 1 TR HA 173 [R) U DA S
economies of scale from combining the operations of the Group and Yunji. The AREBEHERZERS G RAGRELEBE -
goodwill was attributable to the workforce and the high profitability of the acquired EEBEREB IMEREETEH BTG

business. It will not be deductible for tax purposes. 71 - DERERBIU B R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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36 Business combinations (Continued) 36 fRSHF R
(a)  Summary of acquisition (Continued) (a) UeEBEIE (]
(i)  Accounting policy choice for non-controlling interests (i) DEBEBEEOTEBEEE
The Group recognised non-controlling interests in an acquired entity either at fair AKEBUARARBESFEHERESEW KRBT
value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity's B A PR FEERATEA L DI R R B g
net identifiable assets. This decision was made on an acquisition-by-acquisition BFEIE SRR o RT REX EUR A Ei
basis. For the non-controlling interests in Yuniji, the Group elected to recognise i o HREEMIEERER - NEEE
the non-controlling interests at its proportionate share of the acquired net BIRREERSO A HRFEET TG LA
identifiable assets. See Note 2.3 for the Group’s accounting policies for busingss PRI T - AEBENEAHNSETEER
combinations. R 23
(i)  Revenue and loss contribution (i) BKAFMBREIR
The acquired business contributed revenues of RMB2,840,000 and net loss of WKBEFKEBWNEHIE T - —F+ A
RMB12,240,000 to the Group for the period from acquisition date to 31 December Tt HHMEALTEEEMBEAAR
2021. 2,840,0007T K257 A R 512,240,0007T ©
If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2021, consolidated pro-forma MBEWEXEF "S- —F—A—8 - B#ZE
revenue and loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 would have been —E-—F+ A=+ BULFENEHES
RMB4,197,813,000 and RMB338,138,000 respectively. These amounts have been WARESIE 12 Bl A AR #4,197,813,000 F1 AR
calculated using the subsidiary’s results and adjusting them for: 338,138,000 - B EHEEFAFRAINER
FTER  WESE AT SIE#ET T HE
. differences in the accounting policies between the Group and the ° REEEFNINEHBREEZR UK
subsidiary, and
o the additional depreciation and amortisation that would have been charged o RZE 2021 F1H 1HESTEE - &
assuming the fair value adjustments to property, plant and equipment ENREANBEEEETALBER
and intangible assets had applied from 1 January 2021, together with the B AREEOTRUYEE - AEWERS
consequential tax effects. RESMTE R -
(b) Purchase consideration — cash outflow () HEEHE-R&EKH
Yunji
£
RMB’000
AR#®TT
Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, net of cash acquired WHEF AR RE - BRBEER
Re
Cash consideration REHE 153,088
Less: Cash balances acquired B BUSHIR S 8458 (102,784)
Net outflow of cash — investing activities WeFnd —REEFD 50,304
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37 Commitments

(a)

(b)

38

Capital commitments

Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the years but not

37 i
(a) HWHEEE

RERBITNERERRAENERELER

recognised as liabilities were as follows: mr
2022 2021
= B —4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREFTT
Assets under construction FEEE 332,061 460,955

Operating lease commitments

The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating leases with rentals
payable monthly. For details of the leasing arrangements, refer to Note 9.

(b) BEHRXE

BREUMENLERESALBAER  HeRAX
o BRABE LTS - F2EMEEI -

2022 2021
ot ~Jofet- —T-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT AREFT

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases of HEMEMNNEERESOT

investment properties are as follows:

Within 1 year BB —F 68,925 63,554
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years Be—FETHRBRT 42,791 71,896
111,716 135,450

The Group leases various offices under non-cancellable operating leases expiring
within 1 to 6 years. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal
rights. Upon renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated.

Related party transactions

Mr. Xu Shao Chun, who owned 20.25% of the Company’s shares as at 31
December 2022, is the Company’s single largest shareholder.

AREBUNATHHENELHE T AHBEMER - &
SHETEVEAAZ6FEIE - OB TR - 7t
ARIGRIERRRE - EHIR - MABRBEIAH -

38 RESFXH
BE-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—H8 %I EFERE

BAAREE2025%0EE - RARFNE—&K
RIR ©
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38
(a)

Related party transactions (Continued)

Transactions with related parties

The Group had following transactions with related parties for the year ended

31 December 2022 as follows:

38 RMEHXEH(E)
(a) HWEHXBLH

RBHIRIT

HE_Z-_—_F+_-_A=+—H8 KAEERHE

2022 2021
—=—= ZE—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREFTT

Sales of products EmiEE
— Associates — B 4,986 4,093
— Companies controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun —HBRLELEMESINEEE 567 704
5,553 4,797

Sales of services AR5 HE
— Associates — B 2,487 22,152
— Companies controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun —HRLFELEMESIA TS 192 246
2,679 22,398

Rental income el A
— Associates ik 2,976 2,785
— Companies controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun —HBGRLELAEITEHNERE 7,154 4,877
10,130 7,662

Interest income FIBWA
— Associates — B - 5,056

Products and services are sold based on terms agreed with the counterparties
in the ordinary course of business, and the rental rates and interest rates are

determined in the same way.

VAR 73 URERE A ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SOt SR RMEE
38 Related party transactions (Continued) 38 FREHFXH(HH)
(b)  Purchases of products and services () ERREHEE
2022 2021
—E__F B
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTT ARETIT
Purchases of products EnEE
— Associates — B 5,204 10,628
— Companies controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun —BIRDELEFESIREE 873 244
6,077 10,872
Purchases of services RSB E
— Associates — B 59,985 50,207

Products and services purchased from associates and companies controlled by EYTREERES AT MBGROELERRIZESHE
Mr. Xu Shao Chun are carried out on terms agreed with the counterparties in the BEEE Ay WIRERE A ¥ B R T E IR

ordinary course of business. HEFT o
(c) Balances with related parties (c) HEAESFXHELENHERESR
2022 2021
—E-C ZE=—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEFTT
Receivables from related parties (Note 14) FEUR B & 7 A (M RE14)
— Associates —BtE A 11,526 14,319
— Companies controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun —HRLFELEMESIAEEE 10,544 5,157
22,070 19,476
Payable to related parties recorded in “Contract R E R aE IR M ENEE S
liabilities” TRIA
— Associates — BN T 409 750
— Companies controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun —HRLELEMESIAEEE 195 -
604 750
Payable to related parties recorded in “Trade payables”  RCEEFE[ FE T BR AR A FE (< BE RS 77
FIE
— Associates — BN T] 2,653 2,208
— Companies controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun —BIRDETREFTERIREE 74 17
2,727 2,225

The above balances with related parties were interest free, unsecured and repayable it Eﬁ@?ﬁx FEENEHEES - BERNIES

i
3

on demand. B3

T CFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

38 Related party transactions (Continued)

(d) Key management compensation

Key management comprise the Company’s directors and senior management. The
compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown

38 RESXEH(HE)
(1) MREFIARHS

BREBASBEARNEENGNERAS -
FAREEAS X NEARBRBENC HRE

below. BEESES
2022 2021
—=__ ZE—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT AREETTT
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits FeREMEHES R 22,824 22,314
Share-based payments LARRAD BERER S 16,058 17,340
38,882 39,654
(e) Loans to related parties (e) HMTFREAFHER
2022 2021
ol oot 3 T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREETTT
Loans to an associate KPHELERR
At1 January w—A—H - -
Loans advanced during the year FREDHER - 200,000
Repayments received from related parties EElsyspesi - (200,000)
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H - -
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39

Statement of financial position and reserve movement

39 EAFMMBRARE FEWEE

of the Company
As at 31 December
»+=-B=+—H
2022 2021
ol St - B4
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
ihEEs AR#TT AREFT
Assets HE
Non-current assets ERENEE
Financial assets at fair value through AR EETE B EZEHTA
profit or loss BanlerREE 692,476 672,663
Interests in subsidiaries HTRARINEE 4,729,009 4,491,002
5,421,485 5,163,665
Current assets mEEE
Other receivables H A UK - 40,158
Derivative financial instruments TEERmI A - 2,145
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 71,384 128,006
71,384 170,309
Total assets HEE 5,492,869 5,333,974
Liabilities afE
Non-current liabilities ERBDAERE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEfF TR ] 456,344 452,500
Current liabilities mENAE
Other payables E A FER R 41,767 18,313
Total liabilities b =R 498,111 470,813
Net assets BREE 4,994,758 4,863,161
Equity a2
Share capital %N 83,537 83,484
Share premium RE A B 5,084,953 5,149,350
Other reserves GG (a) (116,316) (234,156)
Accumulated losses STEE (a) (57,416) (135,517)
Total equity HiEs 4,994,758 4863,161

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the Board of
Directors on 15 March 2023 and was signed on its behalf.

Xu Shaochan
wOE
Director

EF

T CFFR

ERARNPBRARCHETER T _=F=H
THA#MEZ  URKREFEHET -

Lin Bo

LY

Director

EF
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39 Statement of financial position and reserve movement

of the Company (Continued)

39 FATFRIMBIKR R G 0S5 ()

(a) Reserve movement of the Company (a) XAFIREREE

Accumulated losses Other reserves

BB R 4]

RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFIT AREFIT

At 1 January 2021 —E2_—%—H—H (118,964) (254,958)
Loss for the year FEEE (16,553) -
Transfers shares to the awardees upon vesting RERBE AR (D B L ESRE) A - 20,802
At 31 December 2021 —E-—%+"H=+—H (135,517) (234,156)
At 1 January 2022 —E-——%—F—H (135,517) (234,156)
Profit for the year FREAEF 78,101 -
Transfers shares to the awardees upon vesting REFBIF AR D ER A EREIA - 117,840
At 31 December 2022 —=_—%+=-HA=+—H (57,416) (116,316)
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officer

40 Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2022:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

40 EFRTERESDHIZMNEDS

BUESRITRASNFMIT:

HE-_Z-—_F+-A=+—HLHFE:

Employer's
Allowances and contributionto
Discretionary henefits in retirement
Fees Salaries honuses kind (a) (i) benefit scheme Total
HAiRF EHREF
BEHRE R
Name ix] e fig RiEke fEfE(a) (i) BEHR #it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TT AERTR AR®TT ARWTRT AE®TRT AERTR
Chairman 1E
Mr. Xu Shao Chun BOBRE 150 3,042 2,122 4,284 13 10,571
Executive diectors HITEE
Mr. Lin Bo WREE 150 1,980 1,067 3,384 13 6,654
Non-executive directors FHTEE
M. Dong Ming Zhw BT 150 - - - - 150
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddlest & 172 - - - - 172
Indkgpencin non-executive diectors BUHHTEE
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang REREE 150 - - - - 150
M. Liu Chia-Yung (a) (i) BIRFEEE () (i) 172 - - - - 172
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong XinZ £ 172 - - - - 172
Mr. Bo Lian Ming (a) (i) SEEREE (2 (i) - - - - - -
Total ait 1,116 5,022 3,189 7,668 146 18,041
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

40 Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive 40
officer (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021:

ESRITRARHT 2D ()

BEZZ-—F+A=1T—HLHFE:

Employer's
Allowances and  contribution fo
Discretionary benefitsin ~ a retirement
Fees Salaries honuses kind (a) (i) benefit scheme Total
HiRF BHREF
HEHRE IR
Name ix ] g e Pigge {RfE(a) (i) BEHR @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TR AE®TR ARRTR ARRTT AER%TR AERTR
Chairman 1E
Mr. Xu Shao Chun BOBEE 150 3756 243% 6,124 62 12520
Executive diectors HITEE
Mr. Lin Bo R 150 1,884 1,21 442 62 7,748
Non-executive directors FHTEE
M. Dong Ming Zw ER%RL 150 - - - - 150
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddlest & 280 - - - - 280
M. Zhou Bo Wen RiEXEE 200 - - - - 0
Indpendent non-executive diectors BUHHTEE
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang Bl Sed - - - _ _ _
M. Liu Chia-Yung (a) (i) BIRFERE (3) (i) 200 - - - - 0
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong XinZz - - - - - - -
Mr.Ni Zhieng Dong RER%EE 150 - - - - 150
Mr. Cao Yang Feng S - - - - - -
Total ast 1,80 5640 3662 10549 124 2029
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O BRI

40 Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive
officer (Continued)

(@)

Directors’ emoluments
(i) Includes share options and share award plan, estimated monetary

value was based on the annual charge of the share-based payment in
accordance with IFRS 2.

(ii) Mr. Liu Chia Yung resigned as an independent non-executive Director
from 30 December 2022.

Mr. Bo Lian Ming has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director from 30 December 2022.

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any termination benefits for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Inducement to join the Company

During the financial year, no amount was paid or receivable by any Directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Company.

Waiver

During the financial year, no Director had waived or agreed to waive any of his/
her emoluments.

Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’ services
For the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not pay

consideration to any third parties for making available directors’ services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, there are no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors.

40

—F— —

=

ESRITHRARHT 2 MED ()

(@)

FEH

B

() ERBERENRREBDS  REE
BRET IR A 25 - AT EE
BEERUBRRERERNINNFEE
e

(i) BREEER-ZZT-__F+=-A=+
ABE AR REN IR TERBAL ©

SHEREANR -_E-_—F+-_A=+
AREZTABIIFNTES -

EENRIEEF

BHE-Z - FR-_T-_—F+=-A=+-—
HIEFE  BREGEFEEESRIT MG
EHELEEF -

MARRRRFEA

EZVBREENRN  RETREEL SRR
FARBEBMAKBEEMALXARNF
o

L

EZMBREEA
EATAIHB -

BREEENERRBNE

FIRBEERB M AE =T IRENEE

HE_ T _—FH_ZT_—_F+_A=+—
HIEFE  SELBRIEEESEREMAE
A= FiREEE -

MEBEREE AESZHEARRN
LEEEERHNEROENR  EEFME
X HEER

BEZZ-_—FR_T-_—_F+=-A=+-—
BLEFEE TEEEREE  mHESEHY
AAEEURREEAEBNEENER
EEFMEMZ S o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Ot B R AR M

40 Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive

41

212 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

officer (Continued)
(9) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

The Group's transactions with the companies controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun,
the chairman and executive director of the Company, are set out in Note 38.

Save for the afore mentioned transactions, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

Contingencies
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have material contingent liabilities,

guarantees or litigations or claims of material importance, pending or threatened
against any member of the Group (2021: Nil).

40

41
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